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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT 

 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 

The preceding year happened to be not the easiest 
one for Avialeasing Company. The progressing 
economic crisis and consequent failures of financing 
vehicles as well as the rapid increase of aviation fuel 
prices could not but affect the operating activity of 
investment financial company that focuses on the 
aircraft leasing. 

However, we proceeded with the fleet optimization 
we had started in 2007 and kept owning just the 
youngest and most efficient planes. 

Thoroughly knowing the market from the inside and 
pursuing the chosen mission which consists in providing the domestic airlines with 
reliable, most comfortable and cost-effective aircraft we have decided to develop the 
regional segment of air transportation the increasing demand for which nowadays 
faces rather a poor supply. 

Avialeasing sees its prospects in implementing the projects of reequipping the domestic 
airlines with the new Russian regional aircraft Sukhoi Superjet 100 which we consider the 
only viable competitor to the foreign-made products at the Russian aviation market. 
The first move towards the goal was made at Farnborough Airshow, Great Britain, 
where in July of the last year we signed the Heads of Agreement with Sukhoi Civil 
Aircraft, CJSC for acquisition of 24 Sukhoi Superjet 100 planes. Realizing that the aircraft 
cannot be promoted at the Russian market without the high-technology maintenance 
support the Company has initiated and integrated the project of establishing the 
service center to maintain Sukhoi Superjet 100 aircraft in Perm region. 

The goals that have been set are decent and ambitious enough. On behalf of the 
Board of Directors I would like to thank the management and all the members of 
Avialeasing’s team for their contribution to the work of the Company. Let me also 
express the hope that everyone of us will exert the utmost efforts to conquer the 
targeted peaks. 

 

 

Sergey A. Sopov 

President 
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MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL DIRECTOR 
 

Dear customers, partners and colleagues! 

The last year has become an important stage in the 
life of Avialeasing Company. Amid the global 
financial crisis the Company optimized its fleet having 
cut the number of aircraft down to seven and kept 
the youngest and most ecofriendly planes which 
underwent modernization and met the up-to-date 
safety requirements to be provided for passengers 
and environment. 

By consistently implementing the strategy of 
development the Company launched a number of 
projects in the segment of regional aircraft leasing. 

This activity resulted in signing the Heads of Agreement with Sukhoi Civil Aircraft 
Company for the delivery of 24 Sukhoi Superjet 100 planes with the option for 16 aircraft; 
the event occurred at Farnborough Airshow in July 2008. 

On the basis of the conducted research the Expert RA rating agency evaluated the 
operating results of the Company’s activity and awarded the reliability B+ rating 
(sufficient level of reliability) to Avialeasing. 

During the year 2008 Avialeasing Company further improved its relations with 
manufacturers and suppliers of aviation equipment, promoted its collaboration with 
financial institutions and invested in education of its employees to let them upgrade 
their professional skills and therefore the quality of services rendered. 

I would like to thank all the employees together for their conscientious work and every 
specialist personally for the contribution to the development of the Company. 

On behalf of the personnel of Avialeasing Company, let me express gratitude to our 
partners and clients for their confidence and support as well as my hopes for further 
mutually beneficial cooperation. We will be pleased to render assistance to all the 
potential customers, i.e. airlines, in raising the efficiency of their businesses by updating 
and expanding their carrying capacities. 

 

Oleg L. Kislukhin 

General Director  

  

http://www.multitran.ru/c/m.exe?t=4529163_1_2�
http://www.multitran.ru/c/m.exe?t=4529163_1_2�
http://www.multitran.ru/c/m.exe?t=4529163_1_2�
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 2008 
February 

In order to provide continuous operation of the aircraft owned by the Investment 
Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC (hereinafter referred to as ‘Avialeasing’, 
‘Avialeasing Company’ or ‘Company’) on the one hand and to develop business 
relationships with one of the leading Russian engine manufacturers – the Scientific 
Production Association ‘Saturn’, JSC (NPO Saturn) on the other hand there was made a 
long-term contract for the delivery and repair of D-30KU-154 aircraft engines. 

April 

There was held the annual General Meeting of Avialeasing Company shareholders. The 
Meeting approved of the Annual Report, Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement 
for the year 2008 and took the decision to pay dividends due for the year 2007. The 
General Meeting elected the Company’s Board of Directors to comprise the same 
members. 

May 

Within the frames of the approved development program the Company launched a 
new business line devoted to the business aviation. The first negotiations were carried 
on with the business-jet operators as well as with the business-jet manufacturers such as 
Hawker Beechcraft. In pursuance of its plans to implement the projects in the segment 
of regional aircraft leasing the Company initiated cooperation with Embraer – the 
Brazilian manufacturer of the aircraft of the mentioned type. 

June 

The Company’s Board of Directors made a decision to establish the closed joint-stock 
company ‘Avialeasing – Regional Jet Express’ for the subsidiary to focus on selling 
business-jets in Russia as well as arranging charter transportation of VIP-clients by this 
type of aircraft. Thus the sphere of the Company’s interests additionally included 
Hawker 800/900, Gulfstream III/IV/IVSP, Bombardier Challenger 601/604 and Cessna 
Citation Sovereign. 

The share of corporate stock belonging to the Investment Financial Company 
‘Avialeasing’, CJSC is 100 per cent. The location of the new enterprise is the city of 
Sochi. 

July 

At the British international airshow in Farnborough Sukhoi Civil Aircraft Company and 
Avialeasing Company made the Heads of Agreement for the delivery of the Russian 
regional aircraft Sukhoi Superjet 100. 

According to the Agreement signed by the President of Sukhoi Civil Aircraft Mr. Viktor 
Soubbotin and the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Avialeasing Company 
Mr. Viktor Novikov the leasing company acquires 24 Sukhoi Superjet 100 planes. The 
Agreement provides the option for 16 planes more. The total value of the contract 
exceeds 630 mln USA dollars. 

August 
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The first negotiations with the representatives of Gulfstream Aerospace Corporation 
took place. The possibility to acquire the aircraft of the named manufacturer was 
discussed. 

The Company’s employees participated in the Latin-American conference and 
exhibition LABACE 2008 devoted to business aviation. They visited the production 
capacities of Embraer – Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. in Sao Jose dos 
Campos (Brazil).  

September 

In the course of Agreement made between Avialeasing Company and UTair Aviation 
Airline, JSC for the delivery of aircraft to the latter from 2007 till 2009 the Tu-154B aircraft, 
registration number RA-85557, was put out of operation with the subsequent sell of the 
airframe. This deed corresponded to the plans of the Company to optimize the fleet by 
taking the aircraft of the preceding generation out of service.  

 

October  

The Expert RA rating agency awarded the reliability B+ rating (sufficient level of 
reliability) to the Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’, CJSC following the results 
of the conducted research of the financial status, market positioning and other 
performance indicators of the Company.  

In order to perform the Agreement made between Avialeasing Company and UTair 
Aviation for the delivery of aircraft during the period from 2007 till 2009 the Tu-154B 
aircraft, registration number RA-85550 was put out of operation with the airframe to be 
subsequently sold.  

To optimize the debt portfolio the Company prepaid a part of the credit obtained from 
the Zapadno-Uralsky Bank of Sberbank of Russian Federation in the course of financing 
the acquisition of Tu-154M, registration number RA-85789. 

December 

Avialeasing Company launched the Sukhoi Superjet 100 project in the Perm region. To 
make the first step in this direction the Company applied to the Government of Perm 
region with the legislative initiative to provide the competitive (if to compare with the 
other RF constituents) economic conditions to implement projects of aviation leasing. 
Besides, there were the works started to set up the aviation equipment MRO center at 
the area adjacent to the international airport complex ‘Bolshoye Savino’ in Perm. 
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THE AIRCRAFT MARKET OVERVIEW 2008 

Economic Environment. Key Trends 
In 2008 the situation at the market of air transportation suffered considerable changes 
as compared with the previous periods.  

Over the preceding years since 2001 the air transportation market exhibited rapid 
growth. Thus, according to the Transport Clearing House (hereinafter – TCH) the growth 
in 2007 on year-earlier comparisons reached 18.6% and the growth for 2006 as 
compared with the 2005 results equaled to 91%. The given dynamics afforded the 
market players and analysts to forecast the intensive growth of traffic volume all over 
the world especially in BRIC countries where Russia belongs as well. However the global 
financial crisis could not but affect the industry as a whole. 

The tendency of air transportation development in 2008 was quite contradictory. 
Following the TCH data the total number of passengers transported by the civil aircraft 
of Russian airlines for the reported year increased by 10.4% as compared with 2007 and 
reached 49.8 million persons, including the international airlines, having transported 23.6 
million passengers (+13.2% as compared to 2007), and the domestic airlines, having 
transported 26.2 million passengers (+8.1%). 
 

 
 

Thus, the civil aviation has achieved the best results ever since 1993. 

At the same time the reported period was characterized by the considerable decrease 
of passenger traffic during the second half of the year 2008 what was caused by the 
slowdown of effective demand for air transportation, decline of business activity and 
reduction of sales at the Russian and foreign tourism market. In the first half of the 
reported year the dynamics of passenger traffic growth exceeded 20%, in the third 
quarter it got down to 7.5% and in the fourth quarter the volume of air transportation 
shrank by almost 4% as compared with the same period in 20071

                                                           
1 Transportation Market Survey for 2008 issued by the Executive Body of the Russian Association of Air Transport Operators. 
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The overall passenger turnover of the domestic airlines increased by 10.4% and 
comprised 122.6 billion passenger/kilometers. This number includes the passenger 
turnover on the international airlines, which increased by 13.1% within the reported 
period, as compared to the previous years, and reached 69.9 billion 
passenger/kilometers. On the domestic airlines the passenger turnover increased by 
7.1% to comprise 52.7 billion passenger/kilometers. 

 
 

The passenger load factor (seat occupancy rate) in 2008 equaled to 74.0% having 
exceeded the results of the previous year by 0.9%. This includes the international airlines, 
which alone exhibited the growth of 1.0% in passenger load factor, and the domestic 
airlines having shown the increase of 0.6%. 

The payload capacity comprised 62.8% in the reported year, which is 1.2% higher as 
compared with the 2007 indicators. For the international airlines the payload capacity 
in 2008 equaled to 61.9% (+2.0% as compared to the previous period), and for the 
domestic lines it amounted to 64.4% (+0% as compared with the 2007 data). 
 

Key performance indicators of 
Russian civil aviation in 2004-2008 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 +/- 2008 

to 2007, % 

Passenger turnover (passenger / 
kilometers performed), billion 
PAX/km 

83.0 85.8 93.9 111.0 122.6 +10.4 

Passenger traffic, (million persons) 33.8 35.1 38.0 45.1 49.8 +10.4 
Cargo turnover (ton / kilometers 
performed), billion ton/km 3.00 2.8 2.9 3.4 3.7 +7.8 

Cargo and mail traffic, 
thousands of tons 654.9 628.9 640.3 732.2 779.4 +6.4 
 

Despite the recessionary tendencies in the global economy and, as a consequence, in 
the air transport operation in 2008 the airlines managed to considerably increase the 
volume of cargo transportation. During the last decade the cargo segment has 
developed wave-like: since 2006 the positive dynamics of cargo transportation 
development has been observed. In the reported year the cargo turnover comprised 
3.7 billion ton/km having exceeded the 2007 indicators by 7.8%. All in all, in 2008 there 
were over 779.4 thousand tons of cargo and mail carried. 
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It should be noted that in 2008 the recession of domestic traffic ratio slowed down: 
since 1990 throughout 2007 the passenger turnover at the domestic airlines fell from 71% 
down to 44%. During the year 2008 the ratio of domestic traffic descended just to 43% 
given to the decrease in international transportation volume in the second half of 2008. 
The most intensive ones were the passenger flows between the airports of the Central 
Federal District. The density of passenger traffic in the Moscow aviation node kept 
growing. 

Based on the data of Rosaviatsiya by the end of 2008 there were 175 commercial civil 
aviation operators registered in the Russian Federation. They transported over 49.8 
million passengers within the reported period. 

The top ten of the leading Russian airlines by the passenger traffic underwent some 
changes in 2008 as compared with the previous period. 
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Rating of air carriers based on 
passenger traffic (international air 
lines and domestic air lines) 

Passenger traffic in 2007; 
million persons 

Passenger traffic in 2008; 
million persons 

IAL DAL Total IAL DAL Total 

1. Aeroflot-RA 5.356 2.810 8.166 5.696 3.575 9.271 
2. Sibir (S7 Airlines) 2.099 3.599 5.698 1.790 4.103 5.893 
3. Transaero 2.770 0.472 3.242 4.227 0.626 4.853 
4. GTK Rossiya 1.608 1.637 3.245 1.927 1.588 3.514 
5. UTair Aviation 0.353 2.572 2.925 0.305 2.920 3.225 
6. VIM-Avia 1.569 0.512 2.081 1.308 0.290 1.598 
7. Ural Airlines 0.491 0.726 1.217 0.740 0.710 1 450 
8. Atlant-Soyuz 1.555 0.117 1.672 1.389 0.039 1.428 
9. KD Avia 0.319 0.334 0.653 0.578 0.790 1.368 
10. Aeroflot-Don 0.525 0.432 0.957 0.759 0.555 1.314 

 

The leaders of the top five maintained their 2007 positions with the only difference that 
Transaero surpassed GTK Rossiya having squeezed it from the third position down to the 
fourth one due to the increase in traffic volume on the international routes. Ural Airlines 
stepped two lines up to take the seventh position which had earlier belonged to KrasAir 
that left the ranks of the leaders. Having first entered the top ten in 2006 Atlant-Soyuz 
tightly held the eighth position in the rating. KD Avia reached the ninth line thanks to the 
purposeful development of hub technologies. The tenth position was taken by Aeroflot-
Don as in 2008 the number of passengers transported by the carrier exceeded 1 million 
for the first time over the company’s history. 

It is noteworthy that the top five air carriers in the rating (Aeroflot, Sibir, Transaero, GTK 
Rossiya and UTair Aviation) made 54.0% of the total volume of passenger transportation. 
They altogether carried over 26.8 million persons: the growth rate for the reported 
period comprised 15.0% what is higher than the industry average rate. 

The rating of Russian airlines by passenger turnover as of 2008 looks different as 
evidenced by the data in the table below: 
 

Rating of airlines by 
passenger turnover in 
2008 (IAL and DAL) 

Passenger turnover in 2007; 
million PAX/km 

Passenger turnover in 2008; 
million PAX/km 

IAL DAL Total IAL DAL Total 

1. Aeroflot-RA 18 003.0 6 672.3 24 675.3 18 745.4 8 502.0 27 247.4 
2. Transaero 9 766.6 1 992.2 11 758.8 14 662.2 2 886.6 17 548.8 
3. Sibir (S7 Airlines) 5 855.9 8 059.6 13 915.5 4 942.9 9 407.8 14 350.7 
4. GTK Rossiya  4 432.6 2 359.6 6 792.2 5 524.3 2 284.4 7 808.7 
5. UTair Aviation  720.1 3 789.5 4 509.6 548.0 4 515.1 5 063.1 
6. VIM-Avia 1 115.4 4 179.4 5 294.8 3 677.8 777.4 4 455.2 
7. Ural Airlines 1 583.6 1 414.4 2 998.0 2 518.4 1 429.2 3 947.6 
8. KrasAir 2 224.0 2 914.5 5 138.5 1 700.0 2 043.6 3 743.6 
9. Atlant-Soyuz 4 146.2 208.5 4 354.7 3 579.3 73.5 3 652.8 
10. Orenair 1 201.4 454.6 1 656.0 2 588.0 443.4 3 031.4 

 

Analyzing the situation at the civil aviation market, it should be noted that the prevailing share 
keeps falling onto the major air carriers: the aggregate share of Aeroflot-RA, Transaero, Sibir, GTK 
Rossiya and UTair has increased to 52.7% of the total passenger turnover at the Russian market of 
air transportation. The share of the 10 above-enumerated companies constitutes around 74% of 
passenger turnover and 35 airlines actually provide the overall passenger turnover of the Russian 
air carriers.  
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Aeroflot – Russian Airlines 

Over the twelve months of the year 2008 Aeroflot transported 9.3 million passengers 
including 5.7 million persons on the international routes and 3.6 million persons on the 
domestic lines. The percentage of passenger load factor (the seat occupancy rate) 
reached 70.9%, the payload – 56.2%. 

In comparison with 2007 all the performance indicator increased: the passenger 
turnover grew by 10.4% and the passenger traffic – by 13.5% what looks better than the 
industry average indicators. 

The analysis of Aeroflot JSC financial result showed the growth of income by 26.2% with 
the simultaneous containment of costs despite the considerable swing in oil prices and 
other price components. Such positive results were achieved by timely applying the 
measures of crisis management and thanks to the well-coordinated and highly-
professional work of the Board of Directors and top-managers of the company. 

The primary shareholder of Aeroflot JSC is the state represented by the Federal Agency 
for Federal Property Management: its share in the authorized capital constitutes 51.2%. 
The National Reserve Corporation controls around 30% of the company's shares through 
its affiliate structures. The aggregate share of the legal entities comprises 41.2%; the 
physical persons own 7.7% of the shares of Aeroflot, JSC. 

Aeroflot performs flights to 94 destinations in 47 countries of the world. The company’s 
fleet development strategy is based of the optimization of the fleet by aircraft type and 
capacity to meet the route network requirements. Aeroflot operates one of the 
youngest fleets in Europe. By the end of the reported period the number of aircraft 
amounted to 97. In 2008 thirteen new airliners (eleven A320 and two A330-200) were 
added to the fleet. 

Aeroflot is the first Russian company that joined the SkyTeam alliance. To comply with 
the requirements for the alliance members, Aeroflot considerably improved its 
standards of operation, service and flight safety. It is also at the top of the list of Russian 
air carriers, which successfully underwent the operational safety audit (IOSA) by the 
International Air Transport Association (IATA). In March 2008 Aeroflot was granted the 
unified QMS certificate of compliance to ISO 9001:2000. 

At the end of 2008 Aeroflot approved of the plan of operating, financial and economic 
activity and approbated the budget for the year 2009. According to the plan the air 
carrier is to transport 9.5 million passengers, to make the net profit to be higher than the 
one gained in 2008 and to proceed with the fleet renewal. 

Sibir (S7 Airlines) 

Sibir takes up the second line in the rating of air carriers by passenger traffic. For the last 
several years the company has enjoyed the persistent leadership on the domestic 
routes. In 2008 5.9 million passengers made use of Sibir’s services. The total volume of 
passenger transportation increased by 3.4% as compared to 2007. 

In 2008 Sibir transported 4.1 million passengers on the routes within Russia (domestic 
airlines) what surpassed the corresponding results of the previous year by 14.0%. The 
passenger traffic on the international airlines was reduced by 14.8% to total 1.8 million 
persons. The seat occupancy rate decreased to 79.1% what is 1.8% less than the 
indicators of the year 2007; the commercial payload was 73.1% (–2.2% as compared to 
the previous period). In 2008 the company’s planes performed 51 422 flights in Russia 
and abroad to surpass the results of the previous year by 7%. 

Sibir is one of the largest companies among the domestic Russian airlines and belongs 
to the world’s top 50 air carriers in this segment. The company disposes of the largest 
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domestic route network arranged on the basis of three aviation nodes in Moscow 
(Domodedovo), Novosibirsk (Tolmachevo) and Irkutsk as well as base airports in 
Chelyabinsk, Perm, Sochi and Khabarovsk. Sibir performs scheduled flights to Europe, 
Middle East, South-East Asia and Asia-Pacific countries. 

Yet in 2004 the company started implementing the program of the fleet replacement. 
Within the frames of the mentioned program all the aircraft produced in the soviet 
times (Tu-154M and IL-86) were taken out of service in November 2008. 

By the end of the year 2008 Sibir operated one of the newest fleet among the Russian 
airlines. It comprised 40 aircraft manufactured by Boeing and Airbus; seven of them, 
namely three A320-200, two B737-800NG and two B767-300ER, were added to the fleet 
in the reported year. 

In November of the reported period Sibir was granted the annual professional Sales 
Business Award for the year 2008. 

In the last year Sibir successfully completed the procedure of audit to comply with IATA 
operational safety standards. It resulted in extending the IOSA certificate obtained in 
September 2007 to the year 2010. 

Transaero 

Over the twelve months of the year 2008 Transaero increased the key performance 
indicators almost 1.5 times having again become the leader of the Russian civil aviation 
in gaining the volumes of passenger transportation. For the reported period Transaero 
transported 4.9 million passengers to surpass the 2007 results by 50.0%. The airline’s 
passenger turnover grew by 49.0% as compared to the same period of the reported 
year to comprise 17.6 billion PAX/km. Transaero remains the sector leader by the rates 
of long-term stable development. During the last six years the passenger turnover of this 
air carrier grew more than 12 times. 

Transaero chose to optimize its route network as the key measure to overcome the 
economic crisis. For the purpose the airline cut the flight time on some routes by means 
of the route 'straightening and temporarily cancelled a number of previously active 
flights. In 2008 the airline’s network comprised over 70 routes in Russia as well as in 
Europe, Asia, America and Africa. In 2008 Transaero launched 7 new domestic and 
international routes from Moscow and St.-Petersburg. 

In 2008 the company established the reputation of the possessor of the biggest long-
haul fleet having added twelve new aircraft to it including one Tu-214, two B777, four 
B747, four B767 and one B737. By the end of the reported year Transaero operated the 
fleet of 42 airplanes. Overall in January – December 2008 the airline performed 27 689 
flights what is 26.0% more as compared to the results of 2007. 

In 2008 Transaero was granted the IOSA certificate valid until February 2011. 

GTK ‘Rossiya’ 

The fourth position in the rating by the traffic volume belongs to the Federal State 
Unitary Enterprise GTK ‘Rossiya’ formed by the merger of Federal State Unitary Aviation 
Enterprise ‘Pulkovo’ and the State Transport Company ‘Rossiya’. 

For the twelve months of the year 2008 the company’s own fleet transported 3.5 million 
passengers, it is 7.4% more than in the previous year. The considerable growth of the 
passenger traffic was observed on the international routes where 1.9 million persons 
were transported for the reported period to surpass the 2007 results by 18.8%. On the 
domestic routes 1.6 million passengers were transported what is 3.8% less than the 
indicators of the previous year. 
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The passenger turnover of the air carrier for the reported period increased by 15.2% to 
total 7.8 billion PAX/km. The total number of flight hours in 2008 grew by 5.6% as 
compared to 2007 to amount to 92 825 flight hours. All in all the aircraft of the Federal 
State Unitary Enterprise GTK ‘Rossiya’ performed 37 602 flights in the reported year. 

Alongside with the flight schedule optimization the positive dynamics of the company’s 
development was supported by the entry of long-haul high-capacity aircraft into 
service. The year 2008 became a period of the fleet mass replacement for GTK 
‘Rossiya’. By the end of the reported year the air carrier operated fourteen planes 
manufactured by Airbus and Boeing including six A319/320, five B737-500 and three 
B767-300. The acquisitions of the aircraft by the company will continue in 2009 
according to the approved program. By the end of 2009 GTK ‘Rossiya’ is expected to 
operate 28 foreign-made airliners. 

In October 2008 the Federal State Unitary Enterprise GTK ‘Rossiya’ confirmed its status of 
the safe and highly efficient company having obtained the IOSA certificate. The 
International Air Transport Association (IATA) enrolled the air carrier into the Register of 
IOSA operators after the company successfully underwent the procedure of 
international audit to meet the operational safety standards. 

In 2008 the company’s route map comprised 70 destinations in the Russian Federation, 
22 destinations in 9 CIS countries and 36 destinations in 20 countries far abroad. 

 

UTair Aviation 

According to the results of the year 2008 UTair Aviation takes the fifth position in the 
rating by passenger traffic and passenger turnover. As for the domestic routes, the 
airline is among the top three companies. 

In 2008 the company demonstrated the high growth rates in the passenger 
transportation segment: the company’s passenger turnover grew by 12.3% to comprise 
5.1 billion PAX/km, whereas the passenger traffic increased by 10.3% to reach 3.2 million 
persons. For the reported period a considerable gain in other spheres of operation 
activities was observed: from January till December of 2008 the aircraft of the company 
performed 143 100 flight hours to surpass the results of the previous year by 11.0%. UTair 
helicopters spent 79 280 hours in the air, what is 10.9% more than in 2007. 

UTair Aviation is the most diversified airline in Russia: it performs passenger and cargo 
transportations operating the considerable fleet of 155 airplanes (Tu-154, B737-500, Tu-
134, ATR-72, ATR-42, Gulfstream, An-26, An-24, Yak-40 and An-2), as per the last year, on 
over 200 directions. Besides, the company manages 10 airports including the 
international ones and 15 helicopter assigned pads. UTair operates the largest 
helicopter fleet in Russia comprising over 200 machines. 

The growth of UTair Aviation performance indicators is based on the competent 
business structure, considerable investments in continuing airworthiness of the fleet, its 
retrofitting and upgrading, extension of the route network. 

In the reported year UTair Aviation carried on implementing a large-scale program of 
the fleet modernization. During the year 2008 the company’s fleet was completed by 
sixteen aircraft including eight B737-500, three ATR-72 and five ATR-42; moreover the first 
two enumerated aircraft types were added to UTair fleet for the first time ever. Besides, 
UTair Aviation proceeded with the earlier announced open tender for the delivery of 
commercial civil jet aircraft to replace 35 Tu-134 planes. Among the bidders there have 
been the world major manufactures of aviation equipment. 
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In 2008 UTair Aviation JSC and Eurocopter Company signed the firm agreement for the 
delivery of 15 new helicopters EC 175 type with the option for 15 machines more. 
Besides, there was made the unprecedented contract for the delivery of 40 new 
helicopters Mi-171 type with Ulan-Ude Aviation Plant JSC. 

In December of the reported year UTair Aviation JSC received the official notification 
that the company was enrolled into the International Air Transport Association. UTair 
entry into IATA was made possible after the successful completion of IOSA procedure. 

The managing board of the company approved of the production program for the 
year 2009. To fulfill the program 107 airplanes and 155 helicopters of different types are 
expected to be in service. UTair aircraft and helicopters are to perform 257.8 thousand 
flight hours. It is planned to transport 3.7 million passengers. The helicopter operations 
are to be carried out in Russia and ten foreign countries. 

In 2009 UTair Aviation intends to increase the substantive activities revenue up to 40 
billion rubles to surpass the 2007 level by 21.0%. 

VIM-Avia 

During the twelve months of 2008 VIM-Avia – the leader of the Russian charter market –
transported 1.6 million passengers having decreased this indicator by 17.7% as 
compared with the same period of 2007. The volume of transported cargo got reduced 
by 11.0% to total 4.6 thousand tons. 

The passenger turnover of the air carrier in the reported period fell down to 4.5 billion 
PAX/km: the given indicator decreased by 15.8% as compared to the previous year 
results, whereas the ton/kilometers ratio comprised 408.2 million ton/km (-17.5% in 
comparison with 2007). VIM-Avia also suffered a decrease (-17%) in the performed flight 
hours, the total number of which amounted to 38 479. Thereby, in comparison with the 
previous period all the performance indicators of the company in 2008 suffered 
considerable recession. 

During the year 2008 VIM-Avia operated twelve B757-200, four Yak-42 and Tu-154M. For 
the reported period the air carrier performed 11 225 flights. 

In 2008 the basic activity of the company consisted in international charter flights from 
Moscow and other Russian regional centers to the cities of Spain, Romania, Egypt, 
Turkey, UAE, Norway, Finland, Italy, Austria, France, Czech Republic and Thailand. The 
scheduled flights to the cities of Russia and CIS were performed as well. 

Ural Airlines 

From January to December 2008 Ural Airlines transported 1.5 million passengers to 
surpass the results of the previous period by 19.0%. The passenger turnover grew by 
31.7% as compared to 2007 to reach 3.9 billion PAX/km. The percentage of passenger 
load factor (the seat occupancy rate) in 2008 was 76.4% (+1.5% to the 2007 results), the 
commercial payload comprised 69.8% (+0.5% to the previous period). All in all the 
company’s aircraft performed 12 275 flights what is 12% more than in 2007. Such a 
growth of performance indicators in 2008 was contributed to by adding four A320 
airplanes to the company’s fleet what enabled the air carrier to increase the number of 
flights and destinations. 

In 2009 Ural Airlines intend to add six A320 planes more to its fleet, to develop the base 
airport ‘Koltsovo’ (Yekaterinburg) into a hub and to expand the route map towards 
Siberia and Far East. 

Despite the crisis in the industry and the forecasts of 10% reduction in the volumes of air 
transportations all over Russia Ural Airlines plan to increase the passenger traffic by 10%.   
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Atlant-Soyuz 

Having first appeared in the nation’s top ten in 2006 Atlant-Soyuz in the reported period 
maintained the positions achieved in 2007. Herewith, according to the results of the 
year 2008 the passenger traffic of the air carrier decreased by 14.7% (-245 thousand 
persons) and the passenger turnover dropped by 16.1% (-703 thousand PAX/km). 

In the reported year the company performed the scheduled and charter flights to 
transport passengers and cargo in Russia and abroad. The Atlant-Soyuz fleet consisted 
of 19 airplanes, including two B737-300, one B737-800, six Tu-154М, seven IL-86 and three 
Embraer-120. 

In 2008 Atlant-Soyuz kept on implementing the program of the fleet radical retrofit. The 
company ordered ten aircraft Boeing 737-800 type including four new planes and six 
pre-owned ones. The first of the six mentioned aircraft was delivered to the air carrier in 
December 2008. The ultimate purpose of the retrofit program is to form a monofleet of 
twelve-fifteen Boeing 737-800 until 2011. 

In 2008 Atlant-Soyuz took several Tu-154M planes on lease to perform flights on the 
routes which had been conveyed to the company by some AiRUnion airlines (KrasAir, 
Samara).  

The Aviation Company ‘Atlant-Soyuz’ JSC is the official carrier of the Government of 
Moscow that owns the airline’s controlling interest.  The base airport of the air carrier is 
Vnukovo (Moscow). Atlant-Soyuz is expected to become the basis to found the new 
large air carrier ‘Rosavia’. 

KD Avia 

KD Avia operations in 2008 were characterized by high growth rates of technical and 
economic indicators. For the reported period the company transported 1.4 million 
passengers (+109.5% to the 2007 results). Therefore the air carrier became the ninth one 
in Russia by the volume of transportation (passenger traffic) and got the chance to 
claim for the State financial support. 

The passenger turnover comprised 2.3 billion PAX/km what is 90.0% more as compared 
to the 2007 results. In 2008 the aircraft of the company performed 17 238 flights to 
surpass the same indicator of the previous period by over 67%. KD Avia fleet was 
completed by two aircraft B737-300 type and by the end of the reported year it 
consisted of 17 planes of the same type. 

KD Avia has become an air bridge to connect the geographically remote Kaliningrad 
region with a considerable number of other Russian regions. 

KD Avia owes its grandiose success to the development of hub technologies. Since 
June 15, 2007 when for the first time in Russia the cross-mainline aviation node was 
entered into service on the basis of international airport ‘Khrabrovo’ (Kaliningrad) and 
the Hub & Spoke system started functioning, until December 31, 2008 the number of 
departed and arrived passengers amounted to 2.6 million persons.    

The contribution of KD Avia to the total passenger traffic of the airport grew from 45.0% 
in 2007 up to 70.0% in 2008 

The air carrier provides the passengers with 150 – 250 different variants of routes from 
Russia to the European cities via Kaliningrad transit terminal. Neither Russian, nor foreign 
airlines currently provide such a grate variety of transport connections between Russia 
and Europe. 

To further develop the project KD Avia carries out the construction of the second line of 
the passenger transit terminal. It would afford launching new flight directions, increasing 
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the flight frequency on the active routes and servicing up to 7 million passengers a 
year. 

In 2009 KD Avia intends to transport 1.3 million passengers. The company has worked 
out a complex of anti-crisis measures to considerably reduce operating costs and more 
efficiently use the carrying capacities. 

Aeroflot-Don 

Aeroflot-Don closes the top ten of the leading Russian airlines in the rating by the 
passenger traffic volume, though the company takes just the thirteenth position in the 
rating by passenger turnover. 

For the twelve months of 2008 Aeroflot-Don transported 1.3 million passengers to surpass 
the results of the previous period by 37.4%. For the first time in the company’s history the 
number of transported passengers exceeded 1 million persons. The passenger turnover 
for the reported year grew by 52.5% as compared with 2007 to reach 2.5 billion PAX/km. 
In 2008 the planes of the air carrier performed 13 122 flights. 

The considerable growth of all the indicators in the reported year as compared to 2007 
was caused by the increase in the number of flights to Moscow and Turkey as well as by 
the execution of flight program from Sheremetyevo airport (Moscow) and Adler airport 
(Sochi). 

To keep the growth rates higher than the industry average is the target of the 
company’s development strategy for 2008-2010. For the next year it is planned the air 
carrier should increase the passenger traffic and turnover by 18-20% as compared to 
2008. To hit the target Aeroflot-Don intends to expand the route map and upgrade the 
fleet. 

By the end of the reported year the company’s fleet consisted of 20 aircraft including 
one B737-400 and two B737-500 delivered to the air carrier in 2008. Starting from 2010 
the company’s management plans to gradually enter the short-haul Russian aircraft 
Sukhoi Superjet 100 into service. The projects to replace the currently operated B737-500 
with В737NG and A320 are under consideration as well. 

In December 2008 Aeroflot-Don became the first airline of the south of Russia and the 
seventh Russian company to join the International Air Transport Association. The 
successful completion of IOSA procedure enabled the air carrier to enter IATA. In 
November 2008 Aeroflot-Don was included in the IOSA Registry.  

Besides the passenger transportation another integral part of airlines activity is the 
cargo transportation. By the volume of cargo transportation on the domestic and 
international routes the air carriers form the following hierarchy: 
 

Rating of air carriers based on cargo 
traffic (international air lines and 
domestic air lines) 

Cargo and mail transported 
for 2007; thousand tons 

Cargo and mail transported 
for 2008, thousand tons 

IAL DAL Total IAL DAL Total 

1. Volga-Dnepr Airlines 124.8 2.3 127.1 135.8 0.9 136.7 
2. AirBridgeCargo - - - 131 0.1 131.1 
3. Aeroflot-RA 67.4 28.5 95.9 57.5 30.4 87.9 
4. Aeroflot-Cargo - - - - - 64 
5. Sibir 3.6 29.7 33.3 4.8 36.8 41.6 
6. Polyot 24.4 4.8 29.2 26.2 0.7 26.9 
7. Transaero 6.7 11.2 17.9 8.3 16 24.3 
8. Alrosa 0 21.4 21.4 0 21.4 21.4 
9. TESIS 18.2 1.1 19.3 17.6 0 17.6 
10. Aviastar-TU - - - - - - 



 

 

16 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

 

Rating of air carriers based on cargo 
turnover (international air lines and 
domestic air lines) 

Cargo and mail transported 
for 2007; million ton/km 

Cargo and mail transported 
for 2007; million ton/km 

IAL DAL Total IAL DAL Total 

1. AirBridgeCargo - - - 101.3 0.5 1 101.8 
2. Volga-Dnepr Airlines 650.7 11.1 661.8 615.5 3.3 618.8 
3. Aeroflot-Cargo - - - - - - 
4. Aeroflot-RA 339.5 130.7 470.2 261.1 128.9 391 
5. Polyot 176.3 2.8 179.1 158.8 3.1 161.7 
6. Transaero 24.8 68.2 93 33.2 96.8 130 
7. Sibir 8.9 83.5 92.4 11.9 108.1 120.2 
8. TESIS 104.9 4.3 109.2 95.1 0 95.1 
9. Alrosa 0 56.8 56.8 0 56.2 56.2 
10. Aviacon Citotrans - - - 53.3 2.2 55.5 

Notes: ‘-’ – the data are not published. 

Thus, the top ten of the leaders by the volume of cargo transportation includes both the 
airlines specializing in transportation of cargo (e.g. AirBridgeCargo, Volga-Dnepr 
Airlines, Aeroflot-Cargo) and the air carries, which simultaneously hold the leading 
positions at the market of passenger transportation (e.g. Aeroflot – Russian Airlines, Sibir). 

The bulk (65%) of cargo transportation in 2008 was performed by seven air carriers, i.e. 
Volga-Dnepr Airlines, AirBridgeCargo, Aeroflot – Russian Airlines, Aeroflot-Cargo, Sibir, 
Polyot and Transaero. 

In 2008 almost all the previously formed air carrier groups (except AiRUnion) survived.  
The tendency of airlines' consolidation was still observed as well as the one of 
discontinuance of smaller operators’ activity. In the reported year the following unions 
and companies formed by amalgamation operated at the Russian aviation market. 

Aeroflot-RA is a classical vertically integrated holding (Aeroflot-RA, Aeroflot-Don and 
Aeroflot-Nord). Currently, all the enumerated operators maintain complete 
independence. The cargo operations were separated as an independent business; for 
this purpose the subsidiary Aeroflot-Cargo was established. Aeroflot failed to set up a 
subsidiary at the Far East. After the crash of Aeroflot-Nord’s Boeing 737-500 in Perm the 
management of Aeroflot-RA happened to announce withdrawal of the brand name 
from its subsidiaries to mitigate the reputation risks.  

In the reported year Aeroflot applied for placing in its management the stake of Sibir’s 
equity capital belonging to the State (25.5%). Aeroflot also intended to acquire those 
Sibir’s shares that belonged to private investors. According to the representatives of 
Aeroflot these plans were not executed because of Sibir’s poor financial condition. 

The Federal State Unitary Enterprise ‘GTK ‘Rossiya’ selected consolidation in the form of 
merger of the State Transport Company ‘Rossiya’ and Federal State Unitary Aviation 
Enterprise ‘Pulkovo’. Since October 29, 2006, when the procedures of separation of the 
airport capacities from Pulkovo Airlines and detachment of carrier capacities from the 
State Transport Company ‘Rossiya’ were over, the consolidated carrier started flying the 
unified flag of the Federal State Unitary Enterprise ‘GTK ‘Rossiya. It is planned, GTK 
‘Rossiya’ should merge into the new airline ‘Rosavia’. 

Sibir, having in due time taken over such airlines as Vnukovo Airlines, Chelyabinsk Air 
Enterprise and Perm Airlines (fleet and flight performance), continues its current 
operation within the frames of S7 Holding, which includes a number of specialized 
businesses: S7 Cargo, S7 Engineering, S7 Training, Sibir-Technik, S7 Service, S7 Tour and S7 
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Ticket. All the enumerated specialized businesses are controlled by the managing 
company. 

In March 2008 there was formed another S7 subsidiary – Globus Airlines. The newly 
established company performs charter flights. Globus received a number of airplanes 
from the fleet of the parent company ‘Sibir’. 

UTair Aviation transferred a part of its flight performance business to the subsidiaries. 
There are UTair-Express formed by means of reorganizing Komiinteravia JSC and UTair-
Cargo among them; these two affiliate companies carry out passenger charter and 
cargo transportation. Besides, UTair Aviation incorporates UT Project Services (India), 
UTair South Africa (Republic of South Africa), UTair Sierra Leone (Sierra-Leone) and UTair 
Europe (Slovakia) set up to perform helicopter operations abroad.  

In September 2008 it became known about the collapse of AiRUnion aviation alliance, 
which in pursuance of RF Presidential Edict dated May 02, 2007 should have 
consolidated KrasAir, Domodedovo Airlines, Samara, Omskavia, Sibaviatrans and 
AiRUnion RRJ; the latter was intended to operate the new regional aircraft Sukhoi 
Superjet 100. All the mentioned airlines maintained legal independence; only the route 
network was coordinated within the alliance competence. According to the experts 
the collapse was caused by deterioration in the financial status of the companies 
drawn by both, the external factors and inefficient financial management. 

 Initially the state stakes of the former alliance members should have been invested in 
the newly formed aviation holding ‘Rosavia’. The state-owned corporation 
‘Rostechnologii’ and the Government of Moscow were expected to become the 
stockholders of the holding to invest 51% and 49% of shares respectively. Later on there 
was taken a decision not to transfer the collapsed alliance’s assets to the new air 
carrier as the most valuable of them – KrasAir – was on the brink of bankruptcy; in 
regard to Domodedovo Airlines two claims were filed to declare the company 
bankrupt. 

The new air carrier is expected to be developing on the basis of seven airlines: on the 
part of the state-owned corporation the new company will include GTK ‘Rossiya’, 
Kavminvodyavia, Vladivostok Avia, Sakhalinskiye Aviatrassy and Orenair; the 
Government of Moscow will transfer Atlant-Soyuz and the objects of immovable 
property to the company. At the stage of formation the ‘variegated’ fleet of the new 
airline consists of 52 aircraft types (201 planes all in all). It is planned, by the year 2015 
the unified air carrier should operate 223 new domestic and foreign-made aircraft. 

The Russian air carriers keep on trying to get amalgamated and integrated into the 
European market by way of acquiring foreign companies. 

In the reported year Aeroflot negotiated for acquisition of Serbian JAT Airlines but 
eventually it withdrew its bid as considered the requested price for the airline’s shares 
too high. It was the second try of Aeroflot to acquire a European airline after it 
participated in the tender for purchasing the shares of Alitalia in 2007. 

The only Russian airline that succeeded in acquiring a European air carrier was 
AiRUnion: in 2007 it became the owner of Hungarian national airline Malev. Because of 
the alliance’s collapse the Hungarian air carrier may pass into the ownership or 
management of one of the major Russian airlines. 

The consolidation of air carriers represents a worldwide trend. Since aviation – by nature 
– is a global economy sector, the leading Russian air carriers are striving to join 
international alliances, getting thereby access to the global air route network and 
developing partnerships with the world’s major air carriers. 
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Currently there are three largest international aviation alliances in the world, responsible 
overall for 57% of the world passenger traffic. 
 

General Indicators Star Alliance Sky Team Oneworld 

Passenger traffic per year, million persons 499.9 46 328.6 
Share of the international air transportation market, % 22.2 20.5 14.6 

 

Presently Aeroflot is the only Russian airline to have joined the global aviation alliance. 
After becoming a full member of Sky Team international alliance in April 2006 Aeroflot 
secured for its customers the access to the route network comprising 905 destination 
points in 169 countries. Under the codeshare agreements Aeroflot cooperates with 33 
foreign and domestic air carriers. 

Both, Sibir and GTK ‘Rossiya’ pursued negotiations for joining Oneworld. The 
international aviation alliance Oneworld is the world’s third largest aviation alliance 
after Sky Team and Star Alliance. 10 air carriers – the alliance members – service around 
670 directions in 134 countries worldwide performing over 8 400 flights a day. Oneworld 
is the only global alliance which encompasses Australia (Qantas) and incorporates a 
South American member (LAN Airlines). 

AiRUnion JSC also started the procedure of joining Star Alliance. This alliance headed 
by the American air carrier United Airlines and the German Lufthansa unites 24 airlines 
completing over 16.5 thousand flights to 912 airports daily. 

In the meantime none of the Russian airlines but for Aeroflot has entered the global 
aviation alliances. However, the air carriers practice making code-sharing agreements 
as a way of cooperation with foreign companies.   

Thus, considering the tendency of air carriers’ agglomeration in 2008 and the previous 
years, the ratings of aviation groups to be formed, aviation holdings and alliances look 
as follows: 
 

Rating of aviation groups by 
passenger traffic in 2008   

Number of passengers 
transported in 2007,        

million persons 

Number of passengers 
transported in 2008,             

million persons 

1. Aeroflot Group 10.205 11.599 
Aeroflot-RA 8.166 9.271 
Aeroflot-Don 0.957 1.314 
Aeroflot-Nord 1.082 1.014 

2. Sibir Group 5.698 6.490 
Sibir 5.698 5.893 
Globus 0 0.597 

3. Transaero 3.242 4.853 
4. GTK ‘Rossiya’ 3.272 3.514 
5. UTair Group 3.043 3.450 

UTair 2.925 3.225 
UTair-Express 0.118 0.225 

6. VIM-Avia 1.942 1.598 
7. Ural Airlines 1.217 1.450 
8. Atlant-Soyuz 1.671 1.428 
9. KD Avia 0.660 1.368 
10. KrasAir 1.676 1.218 
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Rating of aviation groups by 
passenger turnover in 2008  

Passenger turnover in 2007, 
million PAX/km 

Passenger turnover in 2008, 
million PAX/km 

1. Aeroflot Group 27 879.3 31 162.1 
Aeroflot-RA 24 675.3 27 247.5 
Aeroflot-Don 1 665.0 2 539.8 
Aeroflot-Nord 1 539.0 1 374.8 

2. Transaero 11 758.8 17 548.9 
3. Sibir Group 13 915.5 15 869.0 

Sibir 13 915.5 14 350.7 
Globus 0.0 1 518.3 

4. GTK ‘Rossiya’ 6 792.2 7 808.7 
5. UTair Group 4 595.6 5 218.7 

UTair 4 510.0 5 063.0 
UTair-Express 85.6 155.7 

6. VIM-Avia 5 293.9 4 455.2 
7. Ural Airlines 2 998.0 3 947.5 
8. KrasAir 5 147.5 3 743.6 
9. Atlant-Soyuz 4 354.7 3 652.7 
10. Orenair 1 656.0 3 031.5 

 

Analyzing the above given data according to Pareto distribution method one may 
assume that the enumerated above leaders (except KrasAir) will retain and fortify the 
dominant positions by ousting the smaller air carriers from the market; as a result the 
total number of operators will reduce. According to the industry experts in the coming 
2009 year a good number of airlines may go into liquidation, get merged by the bigger 
companies or just disappear without a trace. 

For a new operator, who would intend to enter the market and claim for a substantial 
share, the high barrier to entry makes the market access possible only in case such a 
prospective operator represents a state-supported projects (e.g. Rosavia) or appears to 
be a foreign air carrier. 

This tendency is becoming more and more evident: for the reported year the foreign air 
carriers increased their presence at the Russian market by 17.1%; the number of 
passengers transported by those airlines exceeded 13.7 million persons. By the end of 
2008 the share of foreign operators on the international airlines (IAL) in Russia went 
beyond 58%. 

For comparison: in 2007 all the foreign air carriers together held 52% of this market. The 
growth rate of outbound flights operated by foreign companies at the Russian airports 
during the last seven years considerably exceeded the respective transportation 
indicators of the Russian air carriers, what confirms the lowered competitive ability of 
the domestic market players. At the same time, none of the foreign airlines is 
represented at the Russian domestic aviation market. 

The expansion of foreign air carriers is restrained by the so-called Trans-Siberian royalty 
for flights over Russia, which cost foreign operators over $500 million per year. The only 
way for foreign companies to avoid paying these charges is to fly outside the Russian 
sky limits; however, the fuel costs and other additional expenses exclude this alternative. 
The European Union currently proceeds with making a number of Open Skies 
agreements with several countries including Russia. The statistics show that the Open 
Skies policy is pursued by two types of countries: the third world countries, which have 
no aviation of their own (that is the way India acts, for instance, as it does not possess 
cargo aviation) or highly developed countries (the USA, the European Union states) 
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assured that they would win the competition on equal terms. According to the expert 
evaluation, the domestic companies need about 10 years to reach the competitive 
level: to renew the fleet, bring it in compliance with the international requirements, 
solve human resource issues and unify the legal basis. 

However, as Russia approaches the WTO membership, the issue of liberalization of 
Russian aviation services market will be raised more and more often. 

Another negative tendency in the development of domestic civil aviation, which lowers 
the competitive ability and diminishes the economic efficiency, is the increase of air 
transportation costs. It is caused mostly by the swing in aviation fuel prices. The 
maximum uplift occurred in summer 2008 when the price grew by over 35% as 
compared to January of the same year2

 
 

The fuel factor of operating costs born by the Russian airlines reaches 40-70% 
(according to the Non-Commercial Partnership ‘Self-Regulatory Organization of 
Aviation Business’), which does not correlate to the world practice of aviation transport 
where the respective index for 2008 according to IATA equals to 32%. There are several 
reasons for the increase in fuel expenses: insufficient rates of replacing the fleet with the 
new fuel-efficient aircraft, monopolized refueling complexes, dependence of jet fuel 
price at the domestic market on the global oil prices, deficit of jet fuel at the Russian 
market due to attractive terms and conditions for the export of oil products. This 
problem, thereby, is a complex one and it requires joint efforts to find the solution, both 
at the government and intra-industry level. 

The increase in costs born by air carriers was caused by the rise in borrowings value, 
enhancement of air navigation and airport service value and rise of prices for the 
domestic aircraft components. 

. The second half of the year was 
characterized by the price reduction: in December 2008 the fuel price totaled 113% 
against the indicators of the year beginning: 
 

The increase in airlines expenditures could not but affect the airfares. Based on the 
Rosaviatsiya data, the annual growth of economy class airfares comprised 27.3%, 
exceeding the inflation rate (13.3%) in Russia 2.1 fold. 
                                                           
2 FAVT report 2008 and plans for 2009 
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It should be noted that during the year 2008 the character of airfare changes was not 
even: by the end of the reported period some air carriers cancelled the fuel taxes 
imposed in summer 2008. However, the demand for air transportation services was not 
flexible by the price: in the course of airfare intensive growth the traffic volume 
remained unchanged, at the same time when the airfares went down the traffic 
volume kept descending.   

Taking the aforesaid into consideration the air carriers focused on making and 
implementing the programs of operation, which provided the anti-crisis measures for 
the airlines to survive and develop in the circumstances concerned. The fleet 
optimization by means of acquiring fuel-efficient aircraft and taking the less-efficient 
ones out of service, fuel risks hedging, route network optimization, cuts in total 
expenditure, consolidation of airlines and establishment of alliances in order to reduce 
expenses and attract more passengers by the expanded route map were considered 
to be such measures. The destiny of single air carriers and of the industry as a whole 
depends on whether the selected measures prove to be efficient and helpful.  
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Legal Environment. Key Trends 

In the reported period some certain changes occurred in the sphere of legal control of 
civil aviation. 

The Government adopted Resolution №90 dated February 16, 2008 ‘On Validation of 
Regulations of Granting Subsidies to the Russian Leasing Companies to Partly Reimburse 
for the Interests on Credits Obtained from the Russian Lending Institutions in 2008-2010 
for the Purchase of Domestic Aircraft to be Subsequently Transferred to the Russian Air 
Carriers under the Lease Contracts’. The additional source of subsidization is expected 
to compensate for high interest payments made by leasing companies for credits. 

Federal Law №331-FZ ‘Concerning the Introduction of Amendments to the Aviation 
Code of Russian Federation’ entered into force on June 06, 2008. In particular, the 
amendments were introduced in Articles 117, 119 and 133 concerning respectively the 
air carrier liability for damage caused to life or health of the passenger, his baggage 
and the obligatory insurance of the carrier liability to the passenger. The amounts of 
compensation and insurance indemnity to be paid by the carrier for causing damage 
to life or health of the passenger, his baggage and luggage considerably increased. 
Besides, according to the new introduction the air carrier shall insure its liability to the 
passenger by making the relevant agreement with the insurer for the period of at least 
one year. 

Pursuant to Article 133 of the Aviation Coode of Russian Federation the Standard 
Procedures of obligatory insurance of the carrier liability to the passenger were 
approved by the Governmental Resolution dated October 27, 2008. The Procedures 
provide the order of payments and set the amount of insurance indemnity to be paid 
out in case of causing damage to life or health of the passenger, his baggage and 
luggage. 

The current updating of the aviation insurance system is aimed to bring the Russian 
procedures in compliance with the international practice. However, the issue of 
responsibility for causing moral harm has not been solved up to the moment and the 
procedure of pre-payments has not yet been established. 

In December 2007Article 105 of the Aviation Code of Russian Federation introduced, at 
the level of codifying statute, the electronic form of carriage documents used when 
transporting passengers by air (viz. passenger tickets and baggage claim tickets). In 
pursuance of the above-mentioned article the form of electronic passenger tickets and 
baggage claim tickets issued by computer-aided systems was approved by the Oder 
of the RF Ministry of Transport dated January 29, 2008. 

In the sphere of civil aviation the electronic passenger tickets and baggage claim 
tickets issued by computer-aided systems represent carriage documents used to verify 
the contract of passenger and baggage transportation. The passenger, who has 
bought such an electronic ticket, receives a document attesting the effected payment 
for air transportation; this document to be issued on the registered high-security form or 
by means of cash-registering equipment. 

The foregoing amendments are appropriate and logical, since the electronic 
document processing complies with the international practice and allows the air 
carriers to considerably cut their expenses. 

The long-expected and significant draft law ‘On the State Registration of Titles to and 
Transactions with Aircraft’ was worked upon during the year 2008. The main purpose of 
the law is to create the legal base to effect transactions with aircraft by means of 
getting them registered. Besides, the draft law is aimed to realize the priority tasks to 
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protect property rights, develop mortgage lending and leasing as well as to bring the 
Russian legislation in compliance with the norms of World Trade Organization (WTO). 

The law specifies the procedure of the state registration of title and other proprietary 
rights for aircraft and transactions with them and stipulates the reasons of refusal to 
register an aircraft. Pursuant to the law the state registration of title for aircraft is carried 
out by the federal executive body authorized by the Government of the Russian 
Federation. 

In the reported year the draft laws on entering amendments to the RF Code of 
Administrative Violations were processed. They provided the increase of responsibility 
for breaking the rules of air transportation. The draft law ‘On Compulsory Insurance of 
Air Carriers for Causing Harm to the Passengers’ was also discussed. 

For the Russian Federation to duly perform its obligations arising from the Convention on 
International Civil Aviation the State Program of Flight Safety Control was approved; the 
Program is to be implemented within 2008-2015. The Program sets the strategic goals of 
improving the flight safety and applying the level of flight safety acceptable for the 
State to the newly-built aviation equipment and currently operated aircraft. 

The Program provides a number of measures such as improvement of aeronautical 
personnel training, entry of updated aviation equipment and airborne safety systems 
into service, upgrading and development of ground service infrastructure, creation of 
scientific-theoretical and methodical basis to prevent flight accidents and analyze the 
efficiency of taken preventive measures, etc. 

Federal Special-Purpose Program №652 ‘The Modernization of Unified Air Traffic Control 
System of the Russian Federation for 2009-2015’ was approved by the Governmental 
Resolution dated September 01, 2008. The Program has targeted to improve the safety 
of flights and efficiency of air space use by updating the RF Unified Air Traffic Control 
System and developing the Air Navigation System on the basis of innovative 
technologies in compliance with the ICAO standards and recommended practice. 

Besides, the RF Government adopted a number of resolutions regarding the 
improvement of state control in the sphere of civil aviation, development of aerodrome 
network and changes of import duty rates in relation to certain types of aircraft. 

According to the plan of economic recovery adopted by the Russian Government in 
respect of financial and real sectors of economy it is assumed that the Russian airlines 
should be granted six-month delay in payment of customs fee for the imported aviation 
equipment and spare parts and exempted from paying in the respective security; these 
measures to be also applied to the aviation simulators imported in the Russian 
Federation. The air carriers have for a long time been standing for total abolition of 
import duties imposed on the foreign-made aircraft, as due to the customs payments 
the purchase price for the airliner get raised by approximately 20%. However, when 
imposing the duties the Government pursued the patriotic aim to protect the domestic 
aircraft manufacturers. As for the air carriers, the six-month delay in duty payments may 
lend substantial aid to them. 

Currently the import duties are not effective only in respect of those aircraft types, 
which are not manufactured in Russia and cannot compete with the domestic 
products. In the past year the duty rate for business airplanes with the passenger 
capacity of less than 19 persons was brought down from 20% to 10%; the duties for the 
airliners comprising over 300 seats were exempted. At the end of 2008 the Customs 
Tariff of the Russian Federation was amended in respect of certain aircraft types. 
According to the document the zero rate of import duty was determined for the 
airplanes with up to 50 passenger seats inclusively and with the operational empty 
weight from 2 to 15 tons; this amendment was adopted for the period of 9 months. 
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The possibility to abolish the import duty for the aircraft comprising over 150 passenger 
seats is presently under discussion. The western competitors of Sukhoi Superjet 100 do 
not fall within the stipulated capacity. 

The Ministry of Transport of the Russian Federation issued Order №108 dated July 2008 to 
approve the Federal Aviation Regulations ‘Preparation and Execution of Flights in the 
Civil Aviation of the Russian Federation’. The Regulations establish the procedures of 
preparing the aircraft and crew for the flight as well as ensuring and executing the flight 
itself. The mentioned Regulations are the fundamental document that prescribes the 
general rules of performing aviation works for the civil aviation operators and governs 
all the aviation activities in the Russian Federation. 

The major provisions of the Regulations comply with the RF aviation legislation and 
ICAO requirements. To improve the aviation law the Regulations are supplemented with 
the chapters devoted to the peculiarities of preparing and performing flights by the 
general aviation operators as well as to the common rules governing the aviation 
activity. 

Despite the amendments made, there remain a lot of unresolved issues in the sphere of 
aviation. In particular, the question of small aircraft's use has not been settled; Russia 
has not yet taken any decision as regards the Cape Town Convention, which should 
contribute to the development of aviation leasing at the international level. 

The Cape Town Convention (‘Convention on International Interests in Mobile 
Equipment’ was adopted on November 16, 2001) is effective in respect of airframes, 
aircraft engines and helicopters, railway rolling-stock and space vehicles. The 
particulars of aviation equipment are provided in the Protocol thereto on Matters 
Specific to Aircraft Equipment. 

The Convention grants various remedies to the pledgee, lessor and seller of the aircraft 
in case the debtor fails to fulfill its obligations under the agreement of advance sale 
with the title reservation. 

For instance, the pledgee, in the event of failure by the pledgor to fulfill its obligations, is 
entitled, with the pledgor’s approval or by court decree, to acquire ownership of the 
pledged aircraft or establish control over it, lease, sell or encash it or receive any 
income or profit resulted from managing such an object or using it; receive the title to 
the object in the event, if the volume of secured obligations is comparable to the value 
of the object, and require from the authority, which registered this aircraft, to de-register 
it. The seller and lessor are entitled in this situation to acquire the ownership of the 
aircraft transferred to the subcontractor, or control it, or require from the authority, 
which registered the aircraft, to de-register it. 

Additionally, the creditor (pledgee, seller and lessor) for the period of considering the 
case of their rights protection is entitled to receive the court decree on the transfer of 
the object for safekeeping, on prohibition to change the location of the object and on 
a number of other temporary title protection measures. 

For the purposes of the creditors' protection the Convention provides the establishment 
of the International Registry to register all the titles in respect of aircraft (referred to in 
the Convention text as ‘interests’) and reflects the subordination and priority of these 
interests. Currently, the maintenance of the Registry is conducted by the Irish company 
Aviareto. 

The identifying signs of an aviation object in the Registry are the name of its 
manufacturer, its serial number and the designation of the model. The priority is taken 
by the interests, which were registered at an earlier date, regardless of the actual date 
of the interest's origin. Any person is entitled to get information from the Registry 
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regarding the titles to an aviation object via the Internet by means of getting a special 
document - Certificate3

Nevertheless, there remain the unresolved problems including the ones of preparation 
of documents. Some certain provisions of the adopted rules essentially differ from the 
recognized standards of international practice and do not meet the needs and abilities 
of air carriers. There come the remarks and comments pertaining to the content of the 
adopted aviation norms.  The foregoing confirms the exigence of creating the 

. The International Registry functions 24 hours a day. 

Therefore, the Cape Town Convention provides a significant number of legal and 
financial instruments, designed to protect the interests of investors, who invests in 
production or acquisition of aviation objects, and thereby mitigates the risks and 
creates the basis to finance transactions with the lower interest rates for longer terms. 

It should be noted that the Cape Town Convention handles jet engines as an 
independent object. It is specified that the ownership title or any other title or interest 
for the aircraft engine are not affected by its installation on or removal off the aircraft. 
Today there exists a global tendency to push up leasing of engines. The engines are 
very convenient objects for a pledge: their value is high and they preserve this value for 
a long time. 

Thereby the Cape Town Convention, introducing a separate regulation in respect of 
engines, establishes favorable conditions for financing their production and acquisition. 

The Convention is applicable, if at the moment of making the agreement which serves 
the basis for an international interest to emerge, the debtor (pledgor, buyer, lessee) is 
present in the country, which has ratified the Convention or if the aircraft is registered in 
such a country. 

Up to now the Convention has been signed by over 20 countries including Great Britain, 
Germany, Italy, China, USA, Turkey, Switzerland and RSA. Neither Russia, nor any of the 
CIS countries has ratified the Cape Town Convention. Therefore the Convention does 
not apply to the Russian customers. 

In respect of Russian lessees the Cape Town Convention may be applicable only in 
case if the aircraft is registered in the country, which has ratified the Convention. 

On the one hand, the ratification of Cape Town Convention is extremely advantageous 
for Russia. This document is a ready-made legal basis for the legislators. If Russia 
expresses its consent to be bound by the Cape Town Convention it will allow to raise 
funds, influence the development of international regulations, speed up the integration 
into the world market. Dozens of Russian helicopters are leased by many countries and 
by the UN; the Convention will protect the property rights of Russian owners to the 
maximum. This issue is of high importance for RosAviaCosmos, because the domestic 
rockets and satellites, as per existing plans, will be launched from the foreign 
spaceports. Additionally, the ratification of Cape Town Convention will facilitate the 
reduction of credit interest rates and expenses for production and acquisition of 
aircraft. 

However, to join the Convention Russia needs to amend its legislative framework 
(including the procedures of certification) so that it would comply with the standards of 
international law. 

Therefore, the state is making serious efforts to develop the sector of aviation 
particularly by means of financial investments, enhancement and improvement of 
regulatory system. 

                                                           
3 the Registry site address www.internationalregistry.aero  

http://www.internationalregistry.aero/�
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mechanism of smooth coordination between the law makers and users at the stage of 
prospective status. 
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Technical Overview. Key Trends 
The Federal Special-Purpose Program called ‘Transport System Modernization for 2002-
2010’ considers the development of new generation fleet and upgrading of active 
mainline fleet the top-priority task for the year 2008. 

According to Rosaviatsiya by the end of 2008 the State Registry of Civil Aviation of 
Russian Federation comprised over 6500 machines. However, only 2991 aircraft were 
registered in the Air Operator Certificates. 

Based on the data of official sources as of December 2008 the fleet of commercial civil 
aircraft included 1526 planes. Actually just half of them were in service. 

The diagram represents the structure of civil aircraft fleet in 2008: 
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The most numerous families remain the ones of Tu-154, Тu-134, An-24, Yak-40: they form 
around 61.5% of the civil fleet. 

The part falling onto the modern aircraft (Tu-204, IL-96) is still insignificant – just 3.3% of 
the fleet. It is evident that the aviation industry is not capable of boosting the aircraft 
production.  

During the year 2008 there was observed a growing trend of writing off the aircraft of 
the most numerous types: Tu-154, Tu-134 and IL-86. One can expect that in 2009 this 
tendency will progress as a number of major air carriers declared the intention to take 
the above-named aircraft types out of service because of their low fuel efficiency. 
Thus, during the reported period Aeroflot took eight Tu-154M planes out of operation; 
since November 2008 Sibir stopped using Tu-154 and IL-86 on its routes; in October 2008 
Vladivostok Avia announced  surrender of Tu-154s; GTK ‘Rossiya’ in 2009 intends to 
operate only ten of the twenty five airliners Tu-154 type and to completely refuse using 
Tu-134s and IL-86s; Atlant-Soyuz being the major Russian operator of IL-86 aircraft 
declared the intention to replace all the planes of the mentioned type with Boeing 737-
800; Ural Airlines took seven Tu-154Bs and one IL-86 out of service in the reported year; 
since October 2008 Aeroflot-Nord completely refused operating Tu-154; UTair Aviation 
went on considering the bids filed for the tender announced by the air carrier to 
replace the active fleet of Tu-134s comprising 35 planes. 

 

In spite of the year-earlier forecasts there occurred no avalanching write-off of the 
regional aircraft An-24 and Yak-40 types: during 2008 the total number of these planes 
reduced insignificantly. It is evident that the regional air carriers possess poorer financial 
abilities to renew the fleet than the bigger airlines, that is why in conditions of economic 
crisis they keep operating the existing aircraft they have at disposal. However, one can 
expect that since March 2009 after the Decree on elimination of import duties on the 
aircraft of the capacity not exceeding 50 seats comes into force, the domestic regional 
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planes will be replaced with the foreign-made ones. The major companies operating in 
the regional segment have already laid the foundation to develop this trend. Thus, UTair 
Aviation added five aircraft ATR-42 type to its fleet in the reported year; the operator 
plans to bring the total number of such planes to twenty. Aeroflot-Nord announced the 
intention to enter Embraer-145 into service; this type of aircraft is new for the Russian air 
carriers. 

The mass retirement of domestic planes as well as the tendency to replace them with 
the foreign-made analogues is enhanced by the fact that a good portion of the 
previous generation fleet (IL-62, Tu-154B, Tu-134, An-24 and Yak-40) has reached the 
critical age of 20 to 30 years. The elapsed lifetime of the enumerated above aircraft 
types constitutes 70% and over. IL-86, IL-62М, Tu-154М and Yak-42 can still be operated 
for extended period of time considering the individual continuing airworthiness 
programs. 

Proceeding from the aircraft retirement based on the assigned life remainings as well 
on a number of non-resource factors they forecast the carrying capacities of the 
existing domestic fleet in different aviation sectors to be reduced by 40-70% by the year 
2015. 

  

 

 

Nowadays the practice of extending the aircraft lifespan is widely applied. For this 
reason the actual data on the technical state of the fleet as well as the dynamics of 
the aircraft retirement may essentially differ from the ones forecasted. 
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airliners and respectively from 4% up to 21% of the entire fleet of the Russian civil 
aviation. 

 

 

 

The foreign-made civil planes are operated by 21 Russian airlines; at least 13 of these 
companies are included in the top twenty leading air carriers. The most of foreign-
made airliners belong to the fleets of Aeroflot, Sibir and Transaero. These three major air 
carriers jointly operate 46% of all the foreign aircraft in Russia. 

In the reported year the number of foreign-made aircraft in the mainline and regional 
fleets comprised 323 planes, 65% of them were 15 and more years old. The portion of 
aircraft of 5 year-old age and younger was rather little – it made around 10%. In the 
past year the air carriers tended to acquire young airliners: for instance, the foreign fleet 
operated by Aeroflot comprised 30% of the aircraft which were younger than 5 years 
old; in Sibir this indicator in 2008 equaled to 24%. 

The trend of increasing the volume of passenger transportation by the aircraft of foreign 
manufacture in 2008 developed accordingly: during the reported period 46% of 
passenger traffic was performed by foreign planes (in the past year this indicator 
equaled to 35%). For comparison: the share of passenger transportation volume 
performed by new domestic airliners in 2008 constituted mere 8% against 10% in 2007. 

Over one third of the Russian fleet in the reported year was formed by the aircraft of Tu-
154 and Tu-134 types. By the estimation of Federal Agency of Air Transport the Tu-134 
elapsed lifetime exceeds 70%, what allows expecting the mass retirement of these 
planes in the nearest future due to the short remaining lives. By the year 2015 there will 
not be a single airplane of this type in this country. 

To analyze the Tu-154 fleet structure we referred to the data obtained from the official 
sources for 2008. The research involved all the aircraft represented in the State Registry 
including the ones that were not actually operated in 2008 but still had some 
remainings as well as the planes the airworthiness of which could be restored.  
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General Indicators 2004 2005  2006  2007 2008  

Tu-154 of all modifications 327 353 345 321 314 

Tu-154A 2 2 2 2 2 

Tu-154B 23 24 24 14 13 

Tu-154-B-1 6 5 4 4 4 

Tu-154-B-2 95 117 109 93 88 

Tu-154M 201 205 206 208 207 

Operators 61 55 53 53 52 

Owners 75 83 80 76 81 

Lessors 40 52 46 35 40 

Lessees 26 28 26 20 21 

Leased aircraft  56 85 80 62 68 

Pledged aircraft 76 94 102 92 83 

Arrested aircraft 4 5 9 4 7 

Aircraft operated by co-operators 25 42 29 6 32 

Aircraft purchase transactions 44 39 50 32 0 

New aircraft 7 16 4 1 0 

Retired aircraft 4 20 20 21 10 

 

In the course of the analysis of Tu-154 technical condition the data on the validity of 
airworthiness certificates, dates of the aircraft manufacture and re-registration were 
used. We also considered the regulations on the terms and conditions of assigning 30 
years service life to the aircraft as well as the decrees on the extension of service life for 
the airplanes, which are older than 30 years and over, due to their technical condition. 
 

Tu-154 Aircraft with the ‘Problem’ 
Remainings 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008  

Suspended 18 14 4 1 9 

Not operated for 5-6 years 32 30 14 15 22 

Of which, leased 10 6 3 2 4 

Total 50 44 18 16 31 
 

By the end of 2008 the Sate Registry of Civil Aircraft of Russian Federation included the 
total of 213 Tu-134 aircraft, of which only 139 planes were actually operated. 

The situation of regional aircraft deficiency at the market is further aggravated by the 
fact that the potential for the individual extension of Tu-134 service life is actually fully 
exhausted, which, along with the low competitive ability of the aircraft, promises their 
prompt retirement due to economical inexpediency of further operation. 
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The upgrading of regional fleet is a very complicated task for the Russian airlines. The 
domestic production of regional aircraft is just starting to gather pace after a long-
lasting recession. The import of foreign-made planes is blocked by the absence of 
Russian type certification. 

As an option for replacing the outdated Tu-134 one could see a turboprop Ilyushin-114 
(IL-114) – a regional aircraft in its classical concepts, which accommodates 60-64 seats 
in the economy class passenger cabin depending on the layout. The aircraft has been 
manufactured since 1992. In April 1997 it was granted the certificate issued by the 
Interstate Aviation Committee. 

According to the experts, the turboprop IL-114 could be a very promising aircraft for the 
development of regional traffic due to its good performance characteristics, high fuel 
efficiency and low maintenance costs. The latest modification of IL-114-100 aircraft, in 
addition to safe and efficient Pratt & Whitney (Canada) engines, is equipped with 
avionic components made by Rockwell Collins. However, the plane cannot gain top 
speeds and consequently may be of interest for small regional airlines. The larger air 
carriers give preference to jet airliners. 

IL-114 is manufactured by the Tashkent Aircraft Production Association named after V.P. 
Chkalov (hereinafter – TAPO) located in the Republic of Uzbekistan. The TAPO’s 
cooperation with the Russian aviation industry enterprises is realized under the Russian-
Uzbek inter-governmental agreement made in February 2008. According to the terms 
of agreement the TAPO gets integrated into the United Aircraft Corporation (known as 
UAC or OAK) that consolidates the assets of Russian aviation industry. The TAPO’s 
capacities are meant to produce twelve-fourteen IL-114 aircraft per year, however, the 
operating companies – Uzbekiston Khavo Yullari (the Republic of Uzbekistan) and 
Vyborg – have yet received only five ‘marketable’ planes, two and three respectively.  

Along with IL-114 one may assign such aircraft types as Tupolev-334 (Tu-334), Antonov-
148 (An-148) and Sukhoi Superjet 100 (SSJ100) to the regional ones. Actually they 
represent a new generation planes. By the aggregate characteristics and the level of 
comfort they conform to the mainline aircraft; the fact allows singling these planes out 
into a separate group. The aircraft capacity (64-99 passengers) and flight range (up to 
5 000 km) are comparably high for the regional jets in the classical concept. The highest 
transport efficiency of Tu-334, An-148 and SSJ100 falls on the routes with the range of 2 
000 – 4 000 km. To specify the characteristics of such aircraft the western experts single 
them out into the group of ‘hundred-seaters’. In the best way the hundred-seaters are 
operated on those routes where the passenger traffic is not dense enough to efficiently 
use the more capacious narrow-bodied Tu-154M, Tu-204, Airbus 320 and Boeing 737. 

Developed since 1985 and long-awaited at the market, the short-haul turbojet TU-334 
performed its maiden flight in February 1999. Up to now a number of Tu-334 prototypes 
have been manufactured, all the required tests passed and the type certificate 
obtained. 

Tu-334 is marketed as the aircraft for the Russian government customers. It is made only 
of domestic parts and components except the Russian-Ukrainian engine. Tu-334 aircraft 
has the widest in its class fuselage that gives advantages to the plane to be operated 
as a business-jet. 

The serial production of Tu-334 aircraft by the Kazan Aircraft Production Association 
named after S.P. Gorbunov (hereinafter – KAPO) can only be financed, should the 
government customers place the initial order for no less than fifty airliners. Currently the 
Russian ministries and departments possess around one hundred and fifty Tu-134 planes 
to be replaced by Tu-334. Despite the fact that the Government of Russian Federation 
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made a decision to purchase six Tu-334 aircraft to transport the statesmen, the firm 
orders for this aircraft have not yet been made. 

In 2008 they started to aggressively put the short-haul jet An-148 aircraft into mass 
production. The mentioned plane is of the Ukrainian design. The first An-148 prototype 
performed its maiden flight in December 2004. In February 2007 there was issued the 
certificate of Interstate Aviation Committee approving the commercial operation of 
these airliners. 

The considerable increase in demand for An-148 observed in 2008 was caused by the 
decision of the Russian-Ukrainian interstate committee on cooperation in the sphere of 
An-148 aircraft manufacture. The decision was based on the agreement between the 
United Aircraft Corporation JSC and the State Aircraft Concern ‘Aviation of the Ukraine’ 
on collaboration in the sphere of joint design of promising aviation equipment as well as 
of production, certification and operation of An-148 aircraft. Within the frames of 
agreement they approved of the Russian-Ukrainian program of An-148 production until 
the year 2015 and took the decision that the designer, Antonov Aeronautical Scientific 
/ Technical Complex (hereinafter – Antonov ASTC), would transfer the complete set of 
technical and design documentation to the manufacturer, the Voronezh Aircraft 
Manufacturing Company (hereinafter – VASO). 

In June 2008 the UAC and Ilyushin Finance Co JSC (hereinafter – IFC) made the 
agreement for acquisition of thirty four An-148 planes with the option for thirty more 
aircraft to be delivered through 2008-2011 for the subsequent lease to the Russian 
airlines. The large order for this type of aircraft allows UAC to launch the full-scale serial 
production of An-148 airliners at VASO. 

The An-148 obvious advantage is that it can be operated at the poorly-equipped and 
unpaved aerodromes: the aircraft does not require the investments into the runway 
upgrading. However, due to the low performance characteristics of the engine this 
aircraft has the prospects of being sold only in Russia, CIS and, probably, developing 
countries. The chances for An-148 to enter the global market are not too high. 

The major Russian air carriers take interest in adding the new aircraft Sukhoi Superjet 100 
(lineup: RRJ) to their fleets. 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 (SSJ-100) is a family of regional aircraft with the capacity of 70-100 
passenger seats. The aircraft is equipped with two SaM 146 engines, designed by Power 
Jet joint venture on the basis of CFM56 – the most reliable and fuel-efficient jet engine. 

One of the strong points of Sukhoi Superjet 100 project is its dedication to the 
international market. The aircraft of this family have the characteristics providing a 
number of competitive advantages. The plane is 8-10% more efficient due to the new 
power units and modern aerodynamics; it can boast the high level of comfort, 
convenient passenger accommodation, improved take-off and landing characteristics, 
possibility of all-weather service and extended range capabilities. 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 aircraft family enjoys 95% commonality in airframe, wing, propulsion 
system, cockpit and main systems. The high level of commonality causes the 
maintenance and repair cost reduction when operating different types of the SSJ100 
aircraft as a unified fleet. 

One of the features that distinguishes Sukhoi Superjet 100 from all the previously made 
Russian aircraft is the after-sale support system based on the global aviation 
manufacturers’ experience. It includes all the stages of customer support – from 
personnel training up to heavy maintenance and servicing. 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 is supported and advanced by the Government as the priority 
project of regional aircraft. They place the stakes on the aircraft to replace the retired 
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domestic regional planes. SSJ 100 represents the promising export potential and from 
this point of view can count on the further governmental support in order to be 
promoted to the domestic and international markets. 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 is an international project: the aircraft engines are supplied by 
PowerJet – the joint venture established by Snecma (France) and NPO ‘Saturn’, 
avionics – by Thales (France), life-support and environmental control systems – by the 
Swiss company Liebherr, oxygen system – by B/E Aerospace (USA), fuel supply system – 
by InterTechnique (France), hydraulic and power supply system – by the American 
companies Parker and Hamilton Sundstrand; the project consultancy services when 
designing the aircraft were rendered by Boeing. Such a wide cooperation with the 
suppliers including the foreign ones can contribute to the quickest and simplest 
certification of the aircraft as well as to its sales abroad. 

The financial security of Aviation Holding Company ‘Sukhoi’ contributes to the stable 
financing of Sukhoi Superjet 100 aircraft design and production. 

The measures of customs protection for the internal Russian market and the obligation 
to pay import taxes and duties provide the price advantage to the Russian aircraft 
versus the foreign ones. 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 performed its maiden flight on May 19, 2008. By the end of the 
reported period four SSJ100 prototypes actively participated in the certification tests: 
two of them were involved in the flight tests, one underwent the fatigue tests and 
another one – the endurance tests. The issuance of Interstate Aviation Committee 
certificate as well as the first delivery to the launch customer is scheduled for the 2009 
year-end. EASA certification is planned for the second quarter of the year 2010. 

The SSJ100 aircraft assembly is carried out by the Komsomolsk-on-Amur Aircraft 
Production Association named after Yu.A. Gagarin (hereinafter – KnAAPO). The 
manufacture of the first serial airliners goes in parallel with the certification tests: except 
the six planes meant to be tested there have been five more serial aircraft put into 
production. Although the mass production of this type of aircraft has been recently 
launched and found at its initial stage, Sukhoi Superjet 100 surpasses its Russian 
competitors in the number of firm orders: by the end of the reported period it has got 98 
firm orders for the basic modification of RRJ95 aircraft. 

The foreign competitors for the domestic aircraft and the acknowledged leaders of the 
global market of regional jets are the Canadian Bombardier CRJ-700/900 and the 
Brazilian Embraer ERJ-170/190. However, these aircraft are not granted the Russian 
certification to perform commercial flights. The problem of certification is caused by 
and closely connected with the national protection and support of Sukhoi Superjet 100 
project. 

In the reported year the trend of aggravation of competition was observed in the 
segment of hundred-seaters. The most extensive Asia-Pacific market hosted two new 
players: the Advanced Regional Jet for 21 Century (ARJ21) or Xiangfeng – Flying 
Phoenix – the first regional aircraft designed and manufactured solely by the Shanghai 
Aircraft Corporation of People’s Republic of China and Mitsubishi Regional Jet (MRJ) – 
also the first national regional airliner being designed and produced by the Japanese 
Aircraft Corporation of Mitsubishi. 

The ARJ21 project involves eight Chinese enterprises of aviation industry headed by the 
First Chinese Aircraft Corporation (AVIC 1). They cooperate with nineteen foreign 
suppliers of components and systems including General Electric to supply the engines 
for the airliner. 
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On November 28, 2008 ARJ21 performed its maiden flight. By the end of the reported 
year the number of orders for the aircraft reached 208 planes. The customers expect 
the airliner to be delivered since September 2009. By 2010 the Chinese manufacturers 
intend to have built 11 ARJ21 aircraft. Further on, until 2015, they plan to produce 50 
planes per year. The high level of the project is proved by the order for 5 ARJ21 aircraft 
with an option for 20 more planes made by the reputable leasing company GECAS; the 
deliveries are scheduled for 2013.  

MRJ is designed and built by the leading Japanese industrial corporation ‘Mitsubishi 
Heavy Industries’ in cooperation with Toyota Motor Corporation. The full-scale mock-up 
of MRJ cabin was presented in June 2007 at the Paris Airshow in Le Bourget. The launch 
of Mitsubishi Regional Jet program was officially announced in March 2008. 

MRJ is marketed as the lightest and efficient aircraft of low-annoyance. It is expected 
the carbon fiber composites should be widely used when constructing the plane to 
reduce its weight. MRJ is equipped with the new generation Pure Power 1000 GTF 
engine by Pratt & Whitney. According to the manufacturer’s statement this engine 
burns 12% less fuel than the similar competitive engines, whereas the level of sound 
attenuation is two times higher. 

The serial production of the aircraft is scheduled for 2012. The MRJ launch customer is 
the Japanese low-cost carrier All Nippon Airways that has placed the order for 15 MRJ 
airliners with an option for 10 planes more. The deliveries are expected at the end of 
2013 – beginning of 2014. 
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Market Overview. Key Trends 
The market development forecast is based on the correlation of two factors – the 
growth of the gross domestic product (hereinafter – GDP) and the transportation 
volume. As the global statistics shows, the GDP growth by 1% in the countries with 
developing economies is accompanied by the increase in the volume of passenger 
transportation by 1.6%. 
 

Changes in GDP and volume of 
passenger transportation in the RF 2003 2004 2005  2006  2007  2008  

GDP growth,% 7.3 7.2 6.4 7.4 8.1 5.6 

Increase in passenger 
transportation volume, % 9.9 16.7 3.3 9.0 18.6 10.4 

 

Thus, the average annual GDP growth rate in the Russian Federation is around 7%, while 
the increase in the passenger transportation volume constitutes 11.3%. Therefore, the 
growth of GDP by 1% leads to the increase in passenger transportation volume by 1.6%, 
i.e. the average annual rates of air transportation development in Russia, according to 
the six-year data, generally corresponds to those forecasted4

                                                           
4 Federal State Statistics Service, 

. 

As statistics shows, the increase in volume of transportation in the Russian Federation has 
been continuing for the last nine years. According to the 2008 results the civil aviation of 
Russian Federation transported 49.8 mln passengers. For the reported year the 
passenger turnover grew by 10.4% to reach 122.6 billion PAX/km. It should be noted that 
amid the global financial crisis the situation was developing unevenly: in the first half of 
the year the growth dynamics exceeded 20%, in the third quarter it went down to 7.5% 
and in the fourth quarter the transportations decreased by almost 4% as compared to 
the same period of the year 2007. 

If in the previous periods while analyzing the market we compared the rates of air 
transportation growth in Russia and worldwide, currently the economic crisis forces us to 
correlate the rates of transportation volume slowing down. According to IATA in 
September-October 2008 the global air traffic started descending by an average 2% 
per month. Following the total results of the year the slight growth of 0.8% was retained 
due to the high demand for the air carriage in the first half of the year. The IATA experts 
estimate that in 2009 the global volume of passenger transportation will decrease by 3% 
and the cargo traffic will descend by 5%. Only the Middle East is expected to maintain 
growth of air transportation volume. 

The prospects of the Russian aviation market development are even less positive: the 
management and experts of the industry are forecasting the decrease of air 
transportation volume by 10-30%. The analysts explain the more dramatic slump in 
Russia as compared to the global market by the following factors: 

the cost of renewing the fleet with the fuel-efficient foreign made aircraft is too high for 
the Russian air carriers: the import duties for the highly-sought mainline planes are not 
abolished; 

unlike the Russian airlines, the western carriers have the access to the cheaper credit 
resources; 

www.gks.ru, www.gmcks.ru  

http://www.gks.ru/�
http://www.gmcks.ru/�
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the fall in oil prices followed by the reduction in jet fuel prices abroad is effected 
quicker than in Russia. 

All the above-listed factors eventuate in increase in the costs of air transportation and 
growth of airfares, whereas the effective demand of individuals and organizations in 
Russia declines faster than in foreign countries.   

On the one hand, the rising costs of credit resources, high prices for jet fuel and decline 
in the paying capacity of the consumers of aviation services led to the deterioration in 
the financial status of smaller air carriers and their involuntary disappearance form the 
market. According to IATA, since the beginning of 2008 around thirty participants left 
the global aviation market. In the Russian Federation eight airlines went into liquidation 
in the reported year. 

On the other hand, the release of carrying capacities and the state policy aimed to 
support the most capable and strong air carriers resulted in consolidation of the industry 
and, thereby, the increase of market shares of the major airlines. It allowed the leading 
companies to optimize their route networks by adding the routes of the merged 
companies and to easily raise funds for the fleet upgrading. 

Despite the economic crisis the financially stable air carriers kept interested in renewing 
their fleets by means of replacing the outdated aircraft of low fuel efficiency with the 
younger and more efficient ones. During the last months of the reported year the 
Spanish Future and the British XL Airlines, which had leased thirteen or fourteen Boeing 
737-800 planes from GECAS, got bankrupt. The two of the released aircraft found the 
new hosts merely in two weeks after the bankruptcy was declared. 

As for the Russian airlines, they are still in need of up-to-date aircraft and have to renew 
their fleets both with the domestic and foreign-made planes. The critical need for the 
planes is caused by the aging and thereafter retirement of the currently operated 
airliners as well as by the higher fuel efficiency of new aircraft as compared to the ones 
in service. 

The analysis of Russian market shows that even under conditions of economic recession 
while the carrying capacities get released, the falling demand is not satisfied with the 
active fleet of domestic planes; this gap will only increase in the course of time. 
 

 
 

160
142

130

110

84 79

60

60
52

60
73

84

110
121

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

1997 1999 2001 2003 2005 2007 2009

p
a

ss
en

ge
r t

ur
no

ve
r, 

b
illi

on
 P

A
X/

km

time interval - one year

The Carrying Capacities of Active Domestic Fleet vs. Transportation Volumes

Carrying capacities of A/C fleet Passenger transportation volume



 

 

38 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

The dynamics of taking the aircraft out of service is forecasted proceeding from the 
technical condition of the fleet, the possibility to extend the service life and the existing 
tendencies of aviation equipment retirement. The air carriers holding different positions 
at the market play different strategies to maintain the aircraft service lives. In particular, 
the larger financially stable companies tend to write the outdated aircraft off as their 
further operation is economically inexpedient. Considering the forecast of the assigned 
life exhaustion and taking into consideration the expiration of the calendar service life 
of aviation equipment, as well as its non-compliance with the introduced international 
aviation standards, by the year 2012 we expect almost 40% of the existing civil Russian-
made aircraft should be retired. 

Thus, the rates of domestic aircraft retirement surpass the rates of transportation volume 
decrease i.e. the rates of decline in demand for air transportation. 

To bring the manufacture and delivery of domestic aviation equipment back to life in 
November 2006 there was established the United Aircraft Corporation (UAC). The 
Russian Federation consolidates its aviation production assets in this company. 

The UAC incorporates the Aviation Holding Company ‘Sukhoi’ JSC, Sukhoi Design 
Bureau JSC, Sukhoi Civil Aircraft CJSC, the Komsomolsk-on-Amur Aircraft Production 
Association named after Yu.A. Gagarin JSC, the Novosibirsk Aircraft Production 
Association named after V.P. Chkalov JSC, the UAC – Transport Aircraft JSC, Ilyushin 
Aviation Complex JSC, the Voronezh Aircraft Manufacturing Company JSC, Ilyushin 
Finance Company JSC, Tupolev JSC, Aviastar-SP CJSC, the Scientific and Production 
Corporation ‘IRKUT’JSC, Yakovlev Design Bureau JSC, Beriev Aircraft Company JSC, the 
Finance Leasing Company JSC, the Nizhny Novgorod Aircraft Building Plant ‘SOKOL’ 
JSC and Taganrogskaya Aviatsiya JSC. 

At present the grandees of global aviation industry – Boeing and Airbus – give 
preference to the mainline aircraft with over 100 passenger seats. The serial production 
of 50-100 seaters is carried out by three manufacturers: the Brazilian Embraer (Empresa 
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A.), Canadian Bombardier Aerospace and French-Italian 
ATR. The yearly production of mainline aircraft is measured by hundreds of planes and 
the one of regional aircraft – by tens of planes. The UAC has set the goal to adapt the 
global standards of aircraft manufacture for the Russian model of aviation industry so 
that to make competitive products. The UAC counts on becoming the third 
manufacturer of aviation equipment in the world after Boeing and Airbus. 

In February 2008 the UAC board of directors approved of the plan that had been 
developed a year before. The Plan of Strategic Development of the United Aircraft 
Corporation JSC for the Years 2007-2015 and through the Year 2025 specifies three 
directions: the development of civil, military and military-transport aviation. 

The basic provisions of the plan concern the current and prospective product line. In 
the sphere of civil aviation only the projects furnished with resources are to be 
implemented. The three groups of such project are to be developed: 

The running projects: upgrading and serial production of the currently manufactured 
aircraft of IL-96, Tu-204/214, IL-114, An-148 and Be-200 families. 

The prospective projects of niche positioning: this category includes SSJ100, Tu-204CM 
and a wide-body mid- and short-haul aircraft. 

When implementing the projects of the first two categories the corporation should first 
create a base to build the aircraft for the mostly sought-after segments of the global 
aviation market. 
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The future projects of global positioning: the design and development of narrow-body 
MC-21 aircraft with the capacity of 150-200 passenger seats. This aircraft is expected to 
extend the line of UAC products.  

In May 2008 the UAC registered an affiliate – the Managing Company ‘UAC – Civil 
Aircraft’ LLC – to arrange production and deliveries of civil planes. In the future the 
establishment of 100% subsidiary will allow founding an integrated center of 
responsibility for design, production, sales and after-sale support of civil aviation 
equipment at the Russian market. 

When building the aircraft the UAC enterprises are guided by the Plan of Civil Aircraft 
Production for the years 2008 – 2012 approved within the corporation. 
The Plan of Civil Aircraft Production for the Years 2008 – 2012 

Aircraft type Number of aircraft 

IL-96 15 

Tu-204/214 84 

SSJ100 / Tu-334 236 

An-148 96 

Total: 431 
 

In general, the UAC major task is to manufacture one Tu-204 and two An-148 per month 
and up to seventy SSJ100 annually. 

Up to now the corporation has failed to stick to the plans of civil aircraft production: in 
2007 instead of the targeted 12-16 aircraft the manufacturers delivered only 8 planes to 
the customers, in 2008 instead of the planned 15-19 airliners only 11 aircraft were built. 

According to the general UAC production program in 2009 over 100 aircraft are to be 
manufactured, 20 of them to be the civil ones.  

Following the statement of UAC management, in the first quarter of 2009 the 
production schedules set for the years 2009-2010 are to be adjusted downward 
allowing for the economic crisis. The long-term UAC strategy for the period through 2025 
is not expected to undergo any changes. 

However, by the year 2025 the UAC enterprises are committed to develop the 
production of 260-280 civil aircraft per year and deliver 1,800 aircraft to the global 
market. To reach such a level of deliveries the aviation industry will have to ensure the 
annual production growth by an average of 30%. 

In 2007 the leading global aircraft manufacturers – Boeing and Airbus –supplied the 
detailed forecasts of market capacity for the next 20 years regarding the new civil 
aircraft. In the reported year they did not enter any significant amendments in their 
researches. On the one hand, amid the global financial crisis both, Boeing and Airbus, 
incurred losses, had to curtail production volumes and started receiving refusals and 
postponements of aircraft deliveries from the customers. On the other hand, the 
backlogs of both the manufacturers are quite considerable. They mostly consist of 
popular models of Boeing 737 and Airbus 320 families. Even taking into consideration 
the reduction of backlogs we may assume that the production lines of the aircraft 
manufactures will be ensured to full capacity for the coming two-three years while the 
situation at the market changes to the better. 
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According to the updated information Boeing is expecting the global demand for 
29,400 new aircraft over the next 20 years, with emphasis on a shift to larger types and 
replacement of less-efficient models; by the year 2027 the overall world fleet will have 
comprised 35,800 airplanes (for comparison: in the past year the experts specified the 
figure of 36,400 airplanes). It is notable that 82% of the aircraft, which will be actively 
operated in 2027, have not yet been produced. 

In the opinion of Boeing analysts the growing demand for air transportation will be 
covered by the fewer airplanes of higher capacity and efficiency (in the research they 
designate two groups of such aircraft: single-aisle (including 90+ seat planes) and twin-
aisle airplanes being the two most robust market sectors because of passenger 
preference for frequent, direct services at the most affordable fares). Thus, the 
forecasted growth of passenger turnover by 5% per year will be quite satisfied with the 
yearly increase of global fleet by 3.2%. 

As for CIS countries, according to Boeing, by 2027 they will acquire a fleet of 950 new 
airplanes for the amount of 70 billion US dollars that will constitute 3.2% of the global 
sales volume (in the previous forecast they specified the numbers of 1,060 airplanes and 
3.2% of sales volume respectively). The most of these new aircraft will be used for 
replacement of the current fleet which is to be discarded because of physical and 
moral depreciation. In the segment of regional and mid-range airplanes Russia may 
offer a replacement of retired equipment with the upgraded domestic products (the 
newly-designed SSJ100 and An-148 as well as commercialized Tu-204/214). In the 
segment of wide-body long-haul jets there is only IL-96. This aircraft will have to 
compete for the budgets of air carriers with a number of western airplanes of the same 
and higher capacity including the promising families of Boeing-787 and Airbus-350. The 
latter belong to the new, improved generation of commercial airliners. 

The forecast made by Airbus regarding the fleet growth rates at the post-Soviet area 
sounds more optimistic than the Boeing expert assessment. 

Airbus considers that by 2026 the CIS countries will have taken deliveries of 1,290 
airplanes with the seating capacity for 100 passengers and over. The total value of the 
aircraft will have amounted to 104 billion US dollars to exceed the similar estimation by 
Boeing almost two times. 

It is stated in the research that the Russian Federation dominates at the CIS aviation 
market by the economic performances and transportation volume. According to 
Airbus, by 2026 the Russian air carriers will have acquired 921 new aircraft including 128 
(14%) wide-body airliners and 793 (86%) narrow-body planes. The total value of these 
aircraft will reach 79 billion US dollars. The new airplanes will be used to replace the 
current fleet due to its natural aging. 

It should be noted that in the forecast Airbus does not at all consider the segment of 
regional aircraft. Boeing, according to its new estimates, allots just 9% of the market to 
the regional airplanes versus 43% in the year-earlier outlook. 

In general, Boeing and Airbus assume that in the coming 20 years the major part of CIS 
civil aviation market will belong to narrow-body mid-range airplanes. The smaller share 
of the market will be taken by wide-body long-haul aircraft. Neither Boeing, nor Airbus 
produces the planes of regional class, that’s why none of the manufactures takes 
interest in the segment. 

Speaking about the regional aviation it should be noted that this business is very 
specific from the financial and economic point of view. Because of technical reasons 
the highest economic efficiency is achieved by the big long-haul airliners that transport 
several hundreds of passengers at a time at the distance of 15-17 thousand km. The 
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regional aviation in its classical understanding frequently yields operating losses even in 
Europe and USA as it has to toughly compete with the railroad and motor transport. 

The experts assess the demand of the Russian market for 48-70 seat aircraft very 
ambiguously: in different researches it varies from 100 to 600 airplanes. The most precise 
estimate in the reported year was made by Ernst & Young; they evaluated the demand 
of the Russian aviation market in 158 airplanes of the mentioned capacity. Currently the 
fleet of the Russian air carriers comprises around two hundred airplanes of such 
capacity; they are Yak-40 and An-24. By the year 2011 only half of them will keep 
serviceable. The global aircraft market has around a thousand planes of similar type 
and capacity. 

The market research confirms that the most economically feasible way of development 
of the Russian aviation industry is to focus on manufacturing trunk aircraft and 100-
seaters, because the demand for these types of airliners at the global market is high 
and stable enough to provide production profitability. 

According to the Brazilian aircraft company Embraer – the unchallenged leader in the 
segment of regional 100-seaters – 2,950 regional airliners will be sold at the world market 
in the nearest 10 years: 1,150 of them will accommodate 61-90 passenger seats each 
and 1,725 planes will have the capacity of 91-120 seats. Within the stipulated period 
Russia and CIS countries will have taken deliveries of 85 regional aircraft comprising 61-
90 seats and 150 airplanes for 91-120 seats. 

The Canadian Bombardier Aerospace – the second largest supplier of regional aircraft 
– looks at the global demand even more optimistically. In spring 2008 the company 
revised its ten-year forecast for the segment of 60-99-seaters and increased it by 1,800 
airplanes to reach 6,100 aircraft. 

By 2024 Sukhoi Civil Aircraft CJSC is committed to have supplied 800 aircraft SSJ100 type 
to the global aviation market: 500 of them are intended for the foreign companies and 
300 airplanes are to be delivered to the domestic air carriers. Taking into consideration 
the structure of the Russian fleet and the acute necessity to replace Tu-134 and Yak-42 
the target to sell 300 aircraft at the domestic market seems to be quite realistic. 
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Needs of Domestic Airlines. Key Trends 

The technical policy in the sphere of civil aviation is formed on the basis of forecasting 
the trends of air transportation market development. Despite the decline in traffic 
volume the Russian airlines keep interested in renewing their fleets with the updated 
efficient aircraft. 

The Russian air carriers declare their demand for over 700 domestic airplanes for the 
period of 2009-2012. These figures reflect the ‘net need’ for aircraft regardless of 
financial abilities of the operators. 

The Declared Demand of the Russian Airlines 
for Civil Aircraft Deliveries within the Period of 2009-2012* 

Aircraft type 2009 2010  2011 2012  Total 

IL-96-400 6 8 7 4 25 

Tu-204/214 36 40 31 26 133 

Tu-334-100 21 33 38 28 120 

An-148 37 42 35 22 136 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 36 90 93 70 289 

Total 136 213 204 150 703 

* - according to ATO 

As a result of adjustment, which has considered the probability of transferring the 
requests into contracts, the forecasted demand for the Russian airplanes was reduced 
to 431 aircraft. The operators have displayed the apparent interest in the regional 
turbojet airliners. 

The Forecasted Demand of the Russian Airlines for Domestic Aircraft 
Adjusted to Contracting Probability for 2009-2012* 

 

Aircraft type 2009 2010 2011  2012  Total 

IL-96-400 4 5 4 5 18 

Tu-204/214 32 25 23 18 98 

Tu-334-100 8 8 15 12 43 

An-148 16 24 17 10 67 

Sukhoi Superjet 100 36 43 61 65 205 

Total 96 105 120 110 431 

* - according to ATO 

The renewal and upgrading of the fleet is the key strategic goal of the leading Big Five: 
Aeroflot-RA, Sibir, Transaero, GTK ‘Rossiya’ and UTair Aviation that set the tone for the 
entire passenger sector of civil aviation. 
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Being the most aggressive Russian airline, Aeroflot updates its fleet to gain competitive 
advantages. The company’s development strategy requires optimization of the fleet by 
aircraft type and capacity to bring it in compliance with the route network. Unlike its 
Russian competitors, Aeroflot is currently acquiring only new and young aircraft. 

By the end of 2008 the fleet of the air carrier consisted of 97 airplanes including the 
thirteen planes (eleven A320 and two A330), which had been acquired during the 
reported year. 
In 2009 Aeroflot expects to receive 24 new foreign-made aircraft: eighteen airliners of 
A320 family and six A330. 
The delivery of Russian regional new-generation aircraft Sukhoi Superjet 100 to the air 
carrier is scheduled for December 2009. Aeroflot has placed a firm order for 30 
airplanes SSJ100 and confirmed its intention to acquire 15 more airliners of the type. 
By the year 2010 Aeroflot makes it aim to expand the fleet of A320 up to 55 airplanes 
and to take all its Tu-154s out of service; eight of them were already taken out of 
operation in 2008. 
Two years ago, having revised its strategy of fleet modernization, Aeroflot determined 
the need to get 44 long-haul jetliners and made macrocontracts for the purchase of 
А350 and B787 aircraft in equal quantities; the deliveries are to start in 2016. 
Sibir (the trademark is S7 Airlines) tries to add to its strength by way of updating the fleet. 
It is the second largest operator in Russia and the leader of internal transportation 
market as it controls over 15% of domestic air traffic. 
In 2008 Sibir kept implementing the fleet updating program to be realized until 2014. 
Within the frames of the program Sibir made a number of large-scale contracts with the 
manufactures of civil aviation equipment for the purchase of 35 new airplanes 
including 25 Airbus A320 to be delivered since 2009 and 10 Boeing B737-800, the 
deliveries of which would start in 2010. In order to realize the program to the fullest 
extent possible Sibir intended to acquire 15 Boeing B787 Dreamliner, but as the 
company’s financial status got aggravated because of the crisis the air carrier had to 
surrender the ‘liner of dream’. 
However, in summer 2008 Sibir announced the unscheduled additional deliveries of the 
aircraft manufactured by Boeing: four B737-800, two B737-400 and five B767-300. The 
airplanes of the first two types were delivered and transferred to the affiliate company 
‘Globus’ by the end of the reported year. Out of the announced five B767-300 the 
carrier received two airliners to use them on long-haul routes. The extra addition to the 
fleet was possibly caused by the accelerated removal of ‘classic’ generation aircraft 
Tu-154 and IL-86 types from service. In November 2008 Sibir stopped operating these 
planes. 
By the end of the reported period the fleet of the air carrier comprised 47 mainline 
foreign-made aircraft: seven A310, nineteen A319, four A320, four B737-400, seven B737-
500, four B737-800 and two B767-300. Eight of them, B737-400 and B737-800, were leased 
from Sibir by its affiliate company ‘Globus’. 
Transaero continues to expand its activities staking on the development of long-range 
flights. At present the air carrier possesses the largest and in a way unique long-haul 
fleet in the Russian Federation. 

During the year 2008 twelve new airliners were added to the company’s fleet: they 
were eleven aircraft by Boeing (one B737, four B747, four B767 and two B777) and one 
domestic Tu-214. 
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Transaero is the only airline in Russia, CIS and East-Europe, which operates the wide-
body Boeing B747 (the fleet comprises three modifications of the type: B747-200, B-747-
300 and B747-400). This aircraft type is unique for the civil passenger aviation of Russia 
by its flight range (up to 15 thousand km) and by the level of comfort. Besides, in the 
reported year Transaero became the first and yet the only Russian operator of Boeing 
B777 – the newest aircraft manufactured by Boeing and entered into service at the 
global aviation market. 

By the end of 2008 the Transaero fleet consisted of 43 airplanes: two Tu-214, fifteen B737, 
thirteen B747, eleven B767 and two B777. 
Sticking to the strategy of long-haul routes development the air carrier intends to 
increase its fleet up to 60 airplanes during the nearest two years. Within this time it is 
planned to replace all the B747-200 airliners reaching 20 years of age with the new 
modification of B747-400. 
The Transaero’s development program stipulates the renewal of the fleet with the 
foreign-made aircraft. The program is to be implemented until 2012. It includes only the 
airplanes manufactured by the American company Boeing. 
However, the air carrier explores the possibility to order five-six A350 or A380 aircraft 
produced by Airbus. 
GTK ‘Rossiya’ formed by the merger of St.-Petersburg company ‘Pulkovo’ and Moscow 
airline ‘GTK ‘Rossiya’ carries out over 8% of international and 6% of domestic air 
transportation. The air carrier performs both commercial and special-purpose state 
flights. The company incorporates ‘the Special Air Detachment under the 
Administration of the President of Russian Federation’. GTK ‘Rossiya’ operates the fleet, 
which by the end of the reported period comprised 76 aircraft of different types (Tu-
214, Tu-154M, Tu-134, IL-96, IL-86, IL-62, Yak-40, B737-500, B767-300 and A319/320). 
GTK ‘Rossiya’ renews its fleet according to the conception developed in 2007 and to 
be implemented until 2015. By the end of the reported period the air carrier had 
fourteen aircraft by Boeing and Airbus (six A319/320, five B737-500 and three B767-300). 
The delivery of foreign-made airliners to the company’s fleet will continue in the next 
year. By the end of 2009 GTK ‘Rossiya’ expects to operate 28 airplanes of foreign 
manufacture. 
Besides, the jump in prices for POL (Petroleum, Oil & Lubricants) in 2008 changed the 
plans of further usage of domestic aviation equipment: during the year 2009 GTK 
‘Rossiya’ intends to completely take Tu-134 and IL-86 out of service and to cut the fleet 
of Tu-154 down to ten planes. 
To renew the fleet of regional aircraft the Federal State Unitary Enterprise ‘GTK ‘Rossiya’ 
made the contract for purchase of twelve new An-148 airplanes from the key customer 
of these aircraft – Ilyushin Finance Co JSC (hereinafter – IFC). The first four airliners will be 
delivered to the air carrier in 2009. 
Furthermore, in 2009 GTK ‘Rossiya’ expects receiving another airplane IL-96-300 type to 
add to the Special Air Detachment. By the end of the reported period the airline 
operated three aircraft of the mentioned type. IL-96-300 is expected to replace the 
currently used IL-62 because of obsolescence of the latter. In prospect, according to 
the Decree signed by the President of Russian Federation Dmitry Medvedev, the 
Special Air Detachment aimed to transport the conspicuous statesmen should be 
removed from GTK ‘Rossiya’. As soon as the process of removal is over GTK ‘Rossiya’ will 
be reincorporated as a joined-stock company and transferred to the State Corporation 
‘Rostekhnologii’ to establish a new carrier – ‘Rosavia’ airline. 
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The new airline (the code name is ‘Rosavia’) is set up by two shareholders – the State 
Corporation ‘Rostekhnologii’ (51%) and the Government of Moscow (49%) – on the 
basis of seven air carriers. The State Corporation ‘Rostekhnologii’ is to invest the state-
owned stakes of GTK ‘Rossiya’, Kavminvodyavia, Vladivostok Avia, Dalavia, 
Sakhalinskiye Aviatrassy and Orenair airlines in the charter capital of the company. The 
Government of Moscow is to transfer the real estate properties and Atlant-Soyuz airline 
to the new air carrier. 
Currently the collective fleet of the enumerated airlines is very variegated: it comprises 
201 aircraft of 52 types. 
In 2009 Rosavia intends to obtain the operator’s certificate and start transporting 
passengers within Russia; by the year 2010 the company hopes to expand the route 
network to perform international flights. In 2014 the air carrier plans to transport 20.4 
million passengers and to get the net profit of 14.2 billion rubles provided the payload 
achieves 72%. According to the company’s plans and expert estimation in order to hit 
the targets the air carrier should acquire 223 new airliners for the total amount of 5.5 
billion US dollars by the year 2015. 
Generally the demand of the Russian internal market for civil aircraft until 2012 
comprises around 700 aircraft. Unfortunately, the level of new domestic aircraft 
deliveries forecasted by the UAC cannot solve the problem of airplanes shortage: by 
2012 the deficit of the aircraft will have reached 38%. 

Thus, the best solution for the Russian airlines is to operate the foreign-made aircraft. 
Hitherto, the process has been restrained by high VAT and customs duties for the import 
of foreign-made aviation equipment. In 2007 the customs duties for the import of 
business-jets were decreased from 20% to 10%. Then the fees for airplanes with over 300 
seats were eliminated. In December 2008 0% duty rate was introduced for civil aircraft 
with up to 50 passenger seats inclusively and with operational empty weight of 2 to 15 
tons. The latter amendment in the customs tariff was adopted for the period of nine 
months upon its entry into force in March 2009. The RF Government is considering the 
possibility to reduce customs duties when importing the aircraft with the capacity of 
119-150 seats. This segment is the most numerous: it includes all the basic modifications 
of mid-range Boeing 737 and Airbus 319/320 aircraft. Presently, the import duty equals 
to 20% of the customs value. Thus, all the taxes, fess and duties paid by the purchasers 
of these airplanes amount to almost 42% (including 18% VAT) of the value of an 
airplane. 
Taking into consideration all the above stated factors – the high value of new 
generation aircraft, reduced duties for the particular categories of foreign-made 
planes, low volume of domestic aircraft production and poor availability of financial 
resources inhibited by the crisis – one could conclude that for the time being the offer 
to operate Tu-154М aircraft on domestic mid-range routes remains attractive, provided 
the mentioned airplanes should be in perfect technical condition, have low 
maintenance cost and apparent performance advantages as compared to other 
planes of the same type. 

The example of our Company’s permanent partner, UTair Aviation JSC, confirms that 
the operation of Tu-154 and Tu-134 aircraft leased out in an airworthy condition with all 
the due overhauls completed, time between overhauls for the parts and components 
fully recovered and all the operational procedures performed in accordance with 
maintenance planning documents (MPDs) is truly advantageous for a dynamically 
developing air carrier. 

By the general indicators of passenger traffic and turnover for 2008 UTair Aviation ranks 
among the top five and on the domestic routes – among the top three Russian airlines. 
Moreover, UTair is the most diversified air carrier in Russia. It manages ten airports 
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including the international, federal and regional ones as well as a wide range of 
designated helipads, airfields and airstrips to support the regional aviation. 
Additionally, UTair Aviation operates the largest helicopter fleet in Russia: it owns 201 
helicopters, including 23 Mil-26 machines of the highest load capacity capable of 
carrying onboard and external loads of up to 20 tons. Dozens of UTair helicopters 
perform works under the export contracts in various regions of the world – from North 
America to South Africa – including the transport support of UN missions. In 2008 UTair 
Aviation considered the projects of arranging heli-taxi; in order to implement one of 
such projects the company signed the Letter of Intent with the Russian Helicopter 
Systems CJSC to provide charter helicopter transportation in the Central Federal District. 

The civil fleet operated by UTair Aviation is the largest in Russia: it comprises 155 
airplanes (Tu-154, Tu-134, Yak-40, B737-500, ATR-72, ATR-42, Gulfstream, An-26, An-24 
and An-2). The company is striving to utilize the service life of domestic aircraft to the 
maximum, in particular, the one of Tu-154. The relatively low fuel efficiency of these 
jetliners is compensated by the low cost of ownership of these aircraft: the low 
purchase price, moderate costs of operation, safety control and training of personnel. 

UTair Aviation is actively updating its fleet. Within the framework of modernization 
program sixteen airplanes were added to the fleet in the reported year: they were 
eight B737-500, three ATR-72 and five ATR-42, the first two types being newcomers for 
the company’s fleet. It is expected the number of ATR-42 to replace the outdated Yak-
40 and An-24 in 2009 should reach fourteen airplanes, the number of ATR-72 – nine 
planes and B737-500 – twenty aircraft. It will allow UTair Aviation to cut its expenses on 
fuel, expand the flights’ geography and eventually increase the operating efficiency. 
In 2008 UTair Aviation continued the tender announced by the Supervisory Board for the 
delivery of commercial jet airliners to replace the currently active Tu-134 aircraft. By the 
year 2014 the company intends to purchase over thirty airplanes and considers both 
domestic and foreign-made aircraft: SSJ100, Tu-334, An-148, ARJ21-700, Bombardier 
CRJ700/900, Embraer ERJ170/190 and others. 
In February 2008 UTair Aviation JSC and Eurocopter Company signed the firm contract 
for the delivery of 15 new EC 175 helicopters with an option for 15 machines more; the 
deliveries are to start in 2012. Besides, in February of the reported year there was made 
a full-scale contract with the Ulan-Ude Aviation Plant JSC for the purchase of 40 new 
Mil-171 helicopters; the deliveries are scheduled for 2008 – 2010. 

The UTair Aviation rates of development can be called revolutionary: ten years ago it 
was a small regional company transporting mere 400 thousand passengers per year, 
whereas in 2008 UTair Aviation serviced 3.2 million passengers. The airline has formed 
and is continuously expanding its route map: UTair Aviation airplanes make about 200 
daily flights in over 120 directions. According to the business-plan adopted for the year 
2009 the air carrier is to transport 3.7 million passengers; the aircraft and helicopters of 
the company are to perform over 257.8 flight hours; the helicopter works are to be 
carried out in Russia and ten foreign countries; the export of helicopter services is to be 
increased by over 23%. To realize the production program UTair Aviation intends to use 
155 airplanes and 201 helicopters of different types and classes. Despite the deepening 
economic crisis the company is committed to increase revenue up to 40 billion rubles to 
surpass the 2008 results by 21%. 
In the reported year UTair Aviation JSC received the official notification of inclusion into 
the International Air Transport Association (IATA). UTair’s entry into the IATA became 
possible after the successful completion of IOSA (IATA Operational Safety Audit) 
The shares of UTair Aviation JSC are freely traded on the stock market; the placement 
of bonds allows raising additional funds. The company has a public credit history. In 
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December 2008 UTair Finance LLC, the affiliate structure of UTair Aviation JSC, 
redeemed the bonds of the third issue under the terms of public offer. The emitter 
acquired bonds for the amount of 1,605,226,000 (One billion six hundred five million two 
hundred twenty six thousand) rubles. At the beginning of 2009 UTair Finance LLC paid 
off the bonds of the second issue for the sum of 1,000,000,000 (One billion) rubles and 
paid out the last of the twelve coupons thus having completely executed the 
obligations to the owners of securities. The largest nominal shareholder of the airline is 
the Central Surgut Depositary LLC (75.64%), which belongs to the structures, affiliated 
with SurgutNefteGaz. 
The UTair Aviation performance indicators for the year 2008: 
passenger turnover comprised 5,063,116.4 thousand PAX/km (+12.3%); 
passenger traffic (volume of transportation) comprised 3,225,081 persons (+10.3%); 
volume of post correspondence transported – 1,889.7 tons (+7.1%), 
number of flight hours performed – 143,100 hours (+11%). 
The specified figures show that the development strategy chosen by the company 
leads to the decent increase in economic and production activity indexes. According 
to the UTair Aviation management, the Russian domestic transportation market is more 
promising compared to the international one: despite the temporary difficulties it has 
enormous potential for air carriers. This is the belief, which the company’s key business 
strategy is based on – i.e. the focus on the mid-range, short-haul and regional 
transportation. 
UTair Aviation and Avialeasing have been closely cooperating for seven years within 
the frames of the project of domestic mid-range fleet upgrading. The high level of 
diversification of the company’s activities provides UTair Aviation with high financial 
solvency and mitigates its business risks. Based on 2008 results, UTair Aviation JSC takes 
the fifth position in the rating of major Russian air carriers completing the ‘Big Five’ of the 
air transportation market leaders. 
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AVIALEASING COMPANY IN 2008 

Mission 
The Company’s mission is to meet the growing demand of domestic airlines by 
supplying reliable passenger aircraft, which fully comply with the airworthiness 
standards, to guarantee: 
- to the passengers - the maximum level of safety and security and commendable level 
of comfort during the flight; 
- to the air carriers - the possibility to optimally utilize the own and leased completely 
airworthy aircraft from the point of view of resource planning, to increase the passenger 
traffic without considerable lump-sum costs and simultaneously to provide the proper 
level of flight safety. 
We presume that due to its purposeful activities during the year 2008 and subsequent 
years the Company’s will provide the ever-increasing supplies of aircraft to the Russian 
air carriers to meet their needs in safe, reliable, comfortable and economically efficient 
airliners. 
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Positioning in the Sector 
Financial crisis of 2008 has become a serious test for aircraft leasing. It was affected 
both by the situation in aviation branch and economic climate as a whole. 
There are several dozens of leasing companies in Russia that work in the sphere of 
aviation. Nowadays the major Russian companies, dealing with lease, sales, counseling 
and technical maintenance pertaining to aircraft are geared to the governmental 
support. The leading ones - Ilyushin Finance Co. (IFC) and Finance Leasing Company 
(FLC) - both being public/private lease brokers, won the tender held by the Ministry of 
Economic Development in 2001. The government has chosen these two companies in 
order to strengthen native aircraft leasing with governmental support by participating in 
their share capital. By now the stake of the State in IFC’s equity capital has reached 
48% while in FLC it totals to 85%. In 2006 the state-owned shares of these two leasing 
companies were contributed to the equity of the United Aircraft Corporation JSC 
(known as UAC or OAK), for IFC and FLC to become OAK’s shareholders with 38% and 
58%, correspondingly. 
For the AVIALEASING CJSC the year 2008 became hard enough. Still in August-
September the Company was getting ready for the ambitious business-plan 
implementation, which included a wide range of aircraft of different dimensionalities 
both of native and foreign manufacture. Economic recession of debt financing made 
fundraising for leasing operations difficult.  For this reason the United Aircraft 
Corporation made a descision to concentrate IFC’s activity on providing of product 
distribution, produced by the UAC enterprises: airplanes of the An-148, Tu-154 and IL-96 
types. But even with a regard to this restriction to the end of the year 2008 the IFC order 
portfolio outnumbered 60 billion roubles. 
In 2008 IFC transferred to the Russian customers six Tu-204 airplanes. By the turn of the 
year the all-cargo aircraft Tu-204 -100CE was almost ready for transfer to Cubana de 
Aviacion Airlines (Republic of Cuba), that owns uses three aircraft of this type.     
Four new certified all-cargo aircraft IL-96-400T had been consequently rejected by two 
companies: Atlant-Soyuz, which had left air-freight  business to the moment of delivery, 
and Aeroflot-Cargo airlines,  which had found adding to its fleet a new type of aircraft 
in the times of economic recession pointless.  
Two of the aircraft, being previously delivered to the ‘KrasAir’ airlines at the conditions 
of financial leasing are returned to its owner on virtues of adjudgement: the Company 
did not receive lease payments from the beginning of 2008 year. 
Nevertheless, the forecast and plans for 2009 are optimistic enough: IFC intends to 
deliver to its customers not less than eight Tu-204 planes, six or seven IL-96 and four An-
148. The company plans to deliver two IL-96-300, being previously maintained by 
‘Krasnoyarsk airlines’,  to Venezuela. 
One more international contract that IFC hopes to develop in 2009 is the delivery of 
domestic planes to Syria. First of all the Syrian carriers will be conveyed two secondary 
market Tu-204-100 on conditions of ‘wet leasing’, so that the Syrian side could receive 
the necessary experience of operating with the aircraft of this type. 
Among the plans for the forthcoming year there are also activities, concerning Tu-
204SM – a new, improved variant o middle-range aircraft Tu-204. In reference to serial 
Tu-204 the ‘SM’ variant is optimized for the most demanded range of flight – 3 600 km. 
Empty equipped vessel weight was reduced on 4 000 kg, the aircraft has modified 
engines. All these measures reduce fuel consumption on 12 -17 %. Modified complex of 
avionics is designed for two crewmen. The aircraft Tu-204SM is destined to make a 
competition to foreign aircrafts of the Boeing 737 classic and Airbus 320 types. 
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In July, 2008 IFC has signed precontract agreement with UAC. The subject was delivery 
of 31 Tu-204SM aircraft (first aircraft to be delivered in 2010). One of the clients to 
receive the aircraft is Iran Air Tour airlines (Islamic republic Iran). IFC participates in 
financing of research and advanced development concerning this aircraft. The 
acquired Tu-204 side number RA-64013 will be used as a flying laboratory to trial 
avionics and onboard systems. 
The  transfer of the first An-148 aircraft to State Transport Company ‘Rossiya’ is expected 
in spring, 2009. Altogether in 2009 company should receive four planes of this  type. 
In the conditions of crisis for IFC, having a portfolio of orders for more than 60 billion 
roubles, the most important is a long-term financing on comprehensible conditions. It is 
possible either with the government guarantees, or in the form of direct bank financing, 
thereby IFC has prepared propositions to the Government of the Russian Federation on 
granting of the state guarantees at least for 40 billion roubles for two years. 
One more initiative which UAC and IFC had addressed to the Government of the 
Russian Federation, was the realization of a plan to let UAC import into Russia foreign 
civil aircraft duty-free. Those were meant to be delivered to the Russian airlines as a 
temporary solution until the corporation would be able to replace it with domestic 
aircraft of the similar dimension. 
FLC was established in 1997 by Tatneft Oil Company, Zenit Bank, and Solid Investments 
& Financing. To the turn of 2008 51.8% of FLC shares belong to UAC and 28.7% to the 
Federal State Property Management Agency.  
Since its foundation FLC has promoted the Tu-214 narrow-bodied mid-range aircraft, 
assembled by Kazan Aircraft Production Association named after S.P. Gorbunov 
(hereinafter KAPO). It was the Tu-214 that turned to be the subject of the very first 
aircraft lease contract in Russia dated 26 June 2000, when FLC signed an agreement 
for delivery of three Tu-214 to Dalavia on the terms of finance lease.  
In the aviation leasing segment the year 2008 happened to be much less successful for 
FLC than for IFC. The biggest delivery contract for 10 Tu-214 aircraft for Transaero airlines 
stayed open: by now the customer received only 2 aircraft of this type, besides one of 
them was delivered only at the end of 2008. Due to the terms of the agreement 3 An-
140 had to be delivered to Yakutia airlines. For now only two of the airplanes were 
delivered, both before the beginning of the accounting period. In 2005 FLC was the first 
among Russian airlines to conclude a contract with Sukhoi Civil Aircraft, CJSC (SCAC) 
on purchase of 10 Sukhoi Superjet-100 (SSJ100). Despite its difficult financial position, FLC 
confirmed its purchase. 
In accounting year FLC admitted the default under the bonded loan. The refuse to pay 
250 million dollars on eurobonds became the first external debt default of the Russian 
state-owned company since the financial crisis of 1998. FLC relies on backup of the 
UAC and the governmental support to pay this debt.  
Both being major government-controlled companies, IFC and FLC tried not to compete 
with each other. IFC focused exclusively on aircraft leasing, while FLC was engaged in 
machinery, equipment and boats leasing. 
When joining UAC, IFC and FLC had to re-distribute their businesses within the united 
corporation. According to the government’s body overseeing integration in Russia’s 
aircraft engineering industry session protocol IFC was designated to focus on aircraft 
and aviation equipment leases and FLC was appointed to do with production & 
manufacturing equipment leases. 
In September, 2008 a fundamental decision on duty-free import of some kinds of foreign 
planes under control of UAC was accepted during the meeting with participation of 
prime minister V.V. Putin. Since then FLC along with IFC is considered as the company 
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which can acquire the right of duty-free import of foreign aircraft on behalf of UAC. If 
the decision is made in favour of IFC, FLC would re-equip the corporation’s enterprises 
with new equipment, supplied in terms of leasing. Thus, IFC turned to be the only UAC 
member specializing exclusively in aircraft leasing. However, UAC obliged FLC to fulfill 
all the obligations under the previously made contracts on aircraft supply. 
Along the IFC and FLC there are two more participants of the aircraft leasing market, 
both being owned by the government banks: ‘VTB-LEASING’ and ‘WEB LEASING’. 
‘VTB-LEASING’ operates on domestic aircraft lease market since 2007. The share of 
aircraft in the company’s leasing portfolio makes 23,3 %, conceding only to the railway 
transport’s share. 
‘VTB-LEASING’ constantly increases investment volume in this segment: the volume of 
pure investments in leasing has grown more than twice and makes 700 million US dollars 
according to the results of a fiscal year, the volume of the pure leasing portfolio makes 
1,2 billion US dollars. The company works with aircrafts of Boeing and Airbus 
manufacture and also in the business and small aircraft segment. Since the 2008 ‘VTB-
LEASING’ assimilates operational leasing scheme. To realize the projects of aircraft 
leasing VTB LEASING uses affiliated companies abroad, including VTB Leasing Europe 
subsidiary company, registered on Cyprus.  
Along with leasing of the high-tech equipment, made by world’s leading 
manufacturers, technical audit and engineering, ‘WEB LEASING’ offers leasing of the 
civil appointment helicopter technics made by the Russian enterprises, and business 
aircraft. 
Among the clients of ‘VTB-LEASING’ there are such companies as GTK ‘Rossiya’, 
‘Transaero’, ‘UTair’. VTB-LEASING is experienced in leasing to KnAaPo machinery for 
SSJ100 manufacture. By now company intends to handle financing to the acquisition of 
two SSJ100 planes by ‘Armavia’ airlines (Republic Armenia). 
‘WEB LEASING’ company is the successor of ‘Oboronpromleasing’ Joint-Stock 
Company (defense industry). The enterprise was created in 2003 at the initiative and 
with the assistance of Federal State Unitary Enterprise ‘Rosoboroneksport’ to increase 
the competitiveness of the output production together with material and technical 
reequipment of the military-industrial enterprises and civil engineering of Russia. The 
basic ‘WEB LEASING’ shareholder is the State corporation ‘Bank of development and 
foreign trade activities (Foreign trade and investment bank)’. 
However, for the moment in the structure of company’s deals 95% belongs to machine-
building equipment lease. At the same time ‘WEB LEASING’ expands its presence in the 
aviation leasing market. For example, in December, 2008 the company has signed an 
agreement with ‘Yakutia’ airlines and UAC on delivery of six regional planes An-140-100 
to ‘Yakutia’ airlines till 2011, 2 planes per year. Besides, according to the  statements of 
‘Rostechnologii’ State corporation’s heads (Rostechnologii is one of ‘Rosavia’ airlines 
shareholders), ‘Rosavia’ plans to buy aircraft both of Russian and western manufacture 
with help of ‘WEB LEASING’. Considering the company’s access to financial resources 
through the parent company, ‘WEB LEASING’ perspectives are estimated as positive in 
the aircraft leasing market. 
As far as the non-state leasing companies in Russia don’t have an access to sufficient 
volume of finance sources, today most of them are working with pre-owned aircraft. 
The biggest companies of today’s Russian aircraft leasing market are given below. 
The  IFC AVIALEASING Joint-Stock Company is an absolute leader in Tu-154-type 
aircrafts leasing segment. Established in September, 2001, IFC Avialeasing, CJSC 
represents a financially independent entity dedicated to aircraft leasing, relating to the 
group of companies ‘Avialeasing ‘. 
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The Company’s business priority is leasing of domestic Tu-154 aircraft. Establishment of 
the Company was caused by several reasons. First, by the necessity to distinguish 
services, offered by the ‘Avialeasing’ group of companies. Secondly - to share the risks 
and keep functioning stability. IFC Avialeasing, CJSC has a streamlined corporate 
structure optimally configured to function successfully, with smooth managerial and 
operational systems. The Company’s senior executives boast vast and versatile 
managerial experience in the industry. The Company practices a collegial 
management style that encourages each employee to generate new ideas for 
business and to achieve the fullest creative potential. The Company’s team is highly 
professional, goal-oriented and well versed in the intricacies of the aircraft leasing 
business and related fields. 
All the above-mentioned advantages give the Company a formidable competitive 
ability both at the level of service and potential. IFC Avialeasing retained its 
uncontested leadership in 2008 as a lease broker for Tu-154 aircraft with 10,3% of the 
market. In the Tu-154M-type leasing section IFC Avialeasing has successfully confirmed 
14.6% of the market. IFC Avialeasing currently owns a fleet of 7 Tu-154M-type airplanes. 
All the airliners are on operational lease to UTair. 
The scheme of aircraft operational leasing has been successfully applied by the 
Company since its foundation. Facing serious competition in its market segment, IFC 
Avialeasing uses a leasing scheme, involving aircraft delivery in a fully airworthy 
condition, which makes the costly process of obtaining the machines easier, with an 
account of the operators’ existing actual conditions. 
RB Leasing LLC, is a ROSBANK subsidiary, based in Moscow, has been a member of 
Russian Association of Leasing Companies (Rosleasing) since 2003. RB Leasing positions 
itself as a full-service lease provider and specializes in major finance leases of complex 
manufacturing machinery. The leases of electric power industry equipment form the 
basis of its portfolio. The company’s credit policy prioritizes deals with the industrial 
leaders in metallurgy and metal processing, energy and electric power engineering, oil 
mining, transport and telecommunications. In April, 2008 the running contract portfolio 
amounted 780 billion US dollars’5

The Khabarovsk-based Dalmashleasing LLC is a subsidiary of Machine-Building & 
Leasing Company JSC (hereinafter referred to as Mashleasing). The Company was 
established in 1996 by the Decree of the Russian Government issued to support and 
stabilize the machine-building and instrument manufacturing companies. Since then  
Mashleasing has  been successfully working at the market of leasing services. The 
company owns subsidiaries in different regions of Russia, the Ukraine and Belarus. The 
main Mashleasing’s business line is its participation in the program of overall technical 
retooling of those domestic heavy engineering companies, whose scale scale and 
economic value allow to minimize financial risks of lease schemes. The company also 
leases aircraft, aircraft engines, cars and road construction machinery.

.  
According to the official sources, LLC ‘RB Leasing’ owns four planes Tu-154M. Three of 
them were maintained by ‘Siberia’ airlines for several years. The company has refused 
to use aircrafts of domestic manufacture in the end of November, 2008 and excluded 
these planes from its aircraft fleet. 

6
According to official records, Mashleasing owns three aircraft An-24RV, and one Tu-
154M, which has been leased out to Atlant-Soyuz airlines in the end of 2008. Five more 
aircraft, owned by Dalmashleasing LLC were leased to Dalavia airlines. But in 
December, 2008 the leasing contranct was terminated: arbitration court of Khabarovsk 

  

                                                           
5 www.rb-leasing.ru  
6 www.mashleasing.ru  
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region has satisfied the claim of Dalmashleasing LLC.  Dalavia LLC has to return three 
Tu-154M and two Tu-214 aircraft to the lessor because of financial obligations default. 
Aviatechnology CJSC, based in Bykovo near Moscow, operates at the civil aviation 
market  since 1991, focusing on repairs, upgrades and leasing of domestically 
manufactured aircraft. According to the official records, the company owns 24 aircraft 
of Yak-42, Tu-204, IL-76 type, and an engine fleet of more than 100 aircraft engines. 
In its development Aviatechnology CJSC places the main stake on Yak-42D leases, an 
alternative to expensive foreign aircraft. Company’s experience and developed 
technical facilities allow the enterprise to achieve essential decrease of maintenance 
expenses. Company’s experts consider that aircraft of the Yak-42D type can be 
effectively maintained up to 2015. 
According to official records, during 2008 airplanes owned by Aviatechnology CJSC 
were maintained by the following airlines: Centers-Avia (5 A/C), Grozny Avia (2 A/C), 
Elbrus Avia (2 A/C), Izhavia (2 A/С), Alanija (2 A/С) and Volga-Aviaexpress (1 A/С). In 
2008 Rostransnadzor has suspended the operators certificate of LLC Alanija Airlines. 
Federal State Unitary Enterprise Elbrus Avia and Grozny Avia Airlines were given 
inspectorial prescriptions to take urgent steps in order to increase the safety level of 
flights. Together with financial difficulties this circumstances forced the above 
mentioned air carriers to refuse from the aircraft owned by Joint-Stock Company 
Aviatechnology. Besides, four more planes, owned by the company, are out of 
operation (2 Yak-42 and 2 Tu-204). All of them are now offered to sale or rent, but yet 
not claimed by the Russian air carriers. Considering all the facts, mentioned above, 
CSJC ‘Aviatechnology’ is facing problems with effective arrangement of it’s own 
aircraft. 
In the reported year along with the domestic leasing companies, some major foreign 
lease providers emerged at the Russian aviation market to offer leases of foreign 
manufactured aircraft. The increase in their activity was triggered by a number of bans 
and restrictions for the use of domestic aircraft types getting out of date, and a higher 
fuel efficiency of the foreign aircraft. In the first part of the reported year an intensive 
growth of the number of air transportations took place in Russia. That caused a grown 
demand for the aircraft, that Russian manufacturers were not able to satisfy neither with 
the number of the manufactured planes, nor for the range of the production line. 
Altogether that made Russian air carriagers introduce changes in their fleets.   During 
the last five years the foreign aircraft fleet has been growing on 70-80 airplanes per 
year, and as for 31 of December 2008 together with air freighters estimated 323 aircraft, 
not taking business-jets into account. All the mentioned above clearly shows a growing 
market share on the foreign lessors. 
The table below shows the market shares of the domestic and foreign lessors,  leasing 
out mid-range and regional aircraft of the foreign manufacture. 
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GECAS

Companies, leasing out 1 aircraft each

ILFC

Wells Fargo Bank Northwest

Cramington Services Ltd.

WestSib-Lease Ltd.

VTB Leasing

RBS Aviation Capital

Miramonte

MISL DENMARK LTD.

CIT Aerospace

WAL LTD

Capablue Ltd.

Daviak Aviation Ltd.

Meridian-Leasing LLC

Aergo Omega Leasing

Boeing Capital Lease Ltd.

Cargo Aircraft (Ireland)

Pegasus Aviation Fin Co

AerCap Ireland Ltd.

AerCo Bermuda Ltd.

AWAS

Castle 2003-2 Bermuda Ltd.

Embarcadero AST

Jetscape Aviation

International Leasing Company

Exxon Neftegaz

Air Atlanta Ice Landic

Airplanes Holding Ltd.

ALS Irirsh Aircraft Leasing

Arbor Group Ir. LLC

BCI Aircraft Leasing

BOC Aviation

Bulgaria Air

Clextrel Ltd.

Ensor Aircraft Leasing Ltd.

GATX

Icelandair EHF

Jet-I

OH Aircraft

Panorama Leasing Ltd.

Rexdell Ltd.

Wodell Ltd.

The market shares in the segment of foreign-made passenger aircraft (all 
makes) for lease (units, % of total)
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Market shares in the segment of foreign manufacture aircrafts leasing of various types 
and modifications. 
Thus, the largest foreign leasing company presented in the Russian market, is GЕ 
Commercial Aviation Services (further - GECAS), an Amerikan-Irish division of General 
Electric corporation which is responsible for rendering of leasing services and financing 
transactions on acquisition of civil aircrafts. 
Now GECAS fleet consists of more than 1 800 liners belonging or being managed by this 
company. Over 250 airlines from more than 70 countries of the world are now GECAS 
clients. Company’s portfolio is estimated in 45 billion US dollars. The company offers a 
wide spectrum of financial decisions, including operational leasing, returnable leasing 
and granting of secured loans. 
For the airlines interested in operational leasing of planes, GECAS keeps up one of the 
largest in the world aircrafts portfolio of Airbus, Boeing, Bombardier and Embraer 
manufacture. In November, 2008 GE Commercial Aviation Services Ltd. And 
Commercial Aircraft Corporation of China, Ltd. (The Chinese corporation of 
commercial planes - COMAC) have signed the contract on acquisition of 5 ARJ-21 
regional aircraft (with an option for more 20 planes), supplied with CF34-10A engines of 
General Electric manufacture. Aircrafts delivery will begin in 2013. Thus, GECAS 
company has become the first large western customer of the airliners, whose right of 
independent intellectual property is possessed by enterprises of the Chinese National 
Republic. 
In total in 2008 company GECAS has transferred 232 aircrafts in leasing (+10 % to the last 
year numbers), including 146 planes from its own fleet, 42 airliners made on new orders, 
and 44 planes by prolongation of lease contracts. 
According to the official sources GECAS holds a market share of 20.19% in the segment 
of foreign passenger aircraft leasing at the Russian market. However GECAS delivers 
aircraft for lease to Russian airlines via its affiliated entities. Sometimes it is quite hard to 
trace the key lessor, because  the procedure of registration of the imported aircraft is 
rather complicated. The company is compelled to create abroad so-called SPV – 
Special Purpose Vehicle, i.e. the legal entity of a special purpose, underlined in the 
Russian register as the lessor, just to simplify the aircraft registration procedure.  
The key competitor of GECAS company in the international aircraft leasing market is 
International Lease Finance Corporation (further – ILFC). ILFC is a part of the US-largest 
financial and insurance services empire AIG-American International Group. In the fourth 
quarter of 2008 as a result of world economic crisis AIG has suffered the all-time losses in 
the history of the USA at a rate of 60 billion US dollars. Federal reserve system together 
with a Treasury Department of the US has allocated AIG 182,5 billion US dollars to rescue 
the company from bankruptcy, and now to extinguish its debts to government, AIG it is 
obliged to sell its assets, including ILFC. Necessity of sale of aircraft lease division is 
connected with a high risk of company’s activity, but it seems to be very difficult to 
make a clear conclusion about sale consequences for ILFC itself. 
At the end of the accounting period portfolio of the ILFC company is estimated 
approximately in 41 billion US dollars, its fleet includes about 1 030 jet planes and 
consists basically of narrowbodied planes: 65 % is occupied with aircrafts of A320, В737 
and В737NG families. During 2008 97 % of ILFC fleet has been in service. 
About 70 % of company’s aircraft are being maintained in Europe and Asia, and at the 
American market only 13 % of leased aircrafts in common. 
In the segment of foreign aircraft leasing at  the Russian aviation market ILFC company 
has a share 8,97 % of and takes the second place correspondingly. 
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The third bigggest lessor, presented in the Russian aviation market, is Wells Fargo Bank 
Northwest (further – WFBN) company, being a part of Wells Fargo and Co., a diversified 
company rendering any kind of financial services. The heart of the company is the Wells 
Fargo Bank, the fourth bank in the USA according to its assets volume and the second 
according to its market capitalisation indicators. Wells Fargo Bank is also the only bank 
in the USA to be given once the AAA rating by Standard and Poor’s rating agency 
ААА. In December, 2008 the rating has been lowered to АА + with the forecast 
‘negative’. 
WFBN fleet numbers 349 aircraft of various types and modifications. Now 270 airplanes 
are maintained actively, more than 65 % of them are aircraft of Boeing manufacture 
presented by B737, В747, В757, В767 and В777-types.  
WFBN has a 5,77% share of the Russian aircraft leasing market. 
The Cyprian company Cramington Services Ltd. occupies 5,45 % of the Russian market. 
According to the official information this company has been created for one purpose 
of replenishing of Siberia airlines fleet. With help of Cramington Services Ltd. ‘Siberia’ has 
received thirty planes A130, А319 and В737-500. 
Company WestSib Lease Ltd., registered on Cyprus, is also intentionally set up legal 
body. It serves for replenishment of the UTair airlines fleet with aircrafts of ATR-42 and 
ATR-72 type. At the end of the accounting period WestSib Lease Ltd. company had 
4.81 market share in the segment of the aircraft leasing. 
One more outstanding lessor, presented in the Russian aviation market, is the RBS 
Aviation Capital company (Scotland) – a division of the Royal Bank of Scotland, 
offering a wide range of services in the commercial aircraft financing sphere. It includes 
aircraft manufacture and transactions financing, financial, operational and returnable 
leasing, export financing, providing of the secure deposits, etc. RBS Aviation Capital co-
operates with one hundred airlines in 38 countries of the world. Company’s own fleet 
equals 372 aircrafts. At the end of the accounting period the company provided 
financing to 320 airlines. The general credit portfolio and assets are estimated on 12 
billion US dollars. 
It should be noted that the Royal Bank of Scotland, being one of the largest banks of 
Europe, has serious problems. According to the results of 2008 the bank has fixed 24,1 
billion pounds sterling (35 billion US dollars) losses. No other United Kingdom company 
has suffered such substantial damages in the modern history. The experts believe that 
the reason of this disaster was the acquisition of the Dutch Bank ABN Amro by RBS for 70 
billion US dollars in October, 2007 and the situation in the world financial markets as a 
whole. The management of the Royal Bank of Scotland has already named this deal ‘a 
big mistake’. As part of help to pecuniary institutions in 2008 the British government has 
invested in Royal Bank of Scotland 23 billion euro, for what has received the right of 
property for 70 % shares of this financial group. 
RBS Aviation Capital holds a 3,53 % share of  in the Russian market of the foreign aircraft 
leasing. Taking into account RBS financial position the increase of the company’s share 
in the near future is only possible through lease of the aircraft,  available in RBS fleet. 
The MISL Denmark (Denmark) company is presented with ten planes and occupies 
accordingly 3,21 % of the Russian market of foreign manufacture aircrafts leasing. 
Actually at the back of this company there  are leading European banks – Natexis 
Banques Populares, Calyon and ABN Amro Bank (the London branch), being the 
leaders in the field of aircraft purchase financing. All aircrafts supplied by MISL 
company Denmark to the Russian market, are maintained by ‘Aeroflot’ airlines. 
Some of the large leasing companies, such as American Boeing Capital Corporation, 
Pegasus Aviation Financial Company and GATX, Irish AWAS and Singapore BOC 



 
57 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

Aviation, are slightly presented in the list of the market participants. This tendency can 
be explained: the majority of the leading foreign lessors, being not consolidated at the 
Russian market, considers market risks excessive. Things like technical and real defaults 
of the ‘KD Avia’ and ‘Siberia’ airlines in 2008, the excessive debt issues that lead to the 
bankruptcy of ‘Dalavia’, and also an ‘AiRUnion’ aviation alliance crash weaken trust of 
the potential foreign lessors to Russian operators. 
Foreign aircraft, being much more effective and meeting the demands of airlines fleet 
unification, remain claimed at the Russian aircraft market, and its offer caused by world 
financial crisis has excessed. Despite all this reasons the majority of the Russian 
companies are not ready to switch fully to aircraft of foreign manufacture. Economic 
recession has endlessly complicated access to credit resources: according to the anti-
recessionary measures Program of the Government of the Russian Federation for the 
year 2009, federal budgeting funds should only be given to those airlines who will incur 
obligations of incapacitated carriers; those airlines, that experience considerable 
financial difficulties, will not receive state support. As for long-term financing by 
commercial structures for the modernisation purpose today its conditions are not 
comprehensible for the majority of air carriers.  
The influence of other problems of other problems, braking the airlines aspiration for the 
accelerate fleet updating became noticeable in the conditions of crisis. Among them 
there exactly can be called the questions of cancellation or decrease of the customs 
duties and tax barriers on import of the most demanded aircraft model range (the 
temporarily cancelled customs duties are only concerning planes dimension less than 
50 and more than 300 places), and also the imperfection of the registration system of 
the aircraft being taken in leasing by the Russian airlines. 
Last problem in 2008 was dramatized by the refusal of the Bermudas aviation 
authorities, after the aviation authorities of Ireland, to register the aircraft in the 
catalogue. The Bermudas do not register planes of the carriers not being listed in the 
intergovernmental agreements. The exception is only made for the airlines which have 
already concluded leasing contracts with a designation of Bermudas registration, an 
exchange of the registered planes between airlines or entering of new planes with an 
exception of the old ones. According to participants of the market, such refusal strongly 
strikes on the Russian air carriers as the majority of commercial aircraft of the foreign 
manufacture maintained by the Russian airlines, is registered on the Bermudas. Russia 
only has an agreement, allowing registration of planes in the foreign catalogue, with 
three countries – besides Bermudas these are Ireland and Aruba. But in 2007 Ireland has 
suspended registration of the commercial civil planes of the foreign states because of 
congestion, and the catalogue of Aruba is now only opened for small aircraft. 
Based on the aforesaid it does not seem possible to completely replace the Russian 
fleet with foreign-made aircraft on a speedy and simultaneous basis. 
All the companies listed above are serious aircraft lease players with solid growth 
potential, but, as far as we know, none of them specializes in leases of Tu-154 type 
planes. 
Russia’s total lease market for airworthy Tu-154 modifications numbered 68 aircraft in 
2008: 48 Tu-154M and 20 Tu-154B. 
For the moment the given market is inhomogenious, populated by vastly assorted 
players solving not only economic, but also logistic, optimization and social issues. Some 
of the players with measurable market shares are local and regional governments using 
aircraft for social purposes or government property management purposes: Khanty-
Mansi Autonomous District with 2.94%, Kogalym Municipal Administration and Moscow 
Department of Property with 1.47% each. These aircraft types are operated by 
successful, certified airlines and the bancrupt ones, as well as those on their way out of 
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the Tu-154 market niche: Bashkir Airlines: 5.88%; Kogalymavia, KrasAir, S7 Airlines, 
Samara: 2.94%; BelAvia, ChitaAvia and Omskavia 1.47% each).  
It is significant that operators whose main business is aircraft leasing keep on  leaving 
the niche. In 2007 the ‘Orenburg airlines’ and in 2008 ‘WIM-AVIA’ airlines and Opened 
Joint-Stock Company ‘Energoprominvest’ and Open Joint-Stock Company 
‘Municipalnaya Investment Company’ had left the market segment. 
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Generally, the following situation at the lease market for all modifications of Tu-154 can 
be observed: 

1. IFC Avialeasing is the unrivaled leader with 7 aircraft and 10.29% of the market. 
2. Bashkir Airlines with 4 aircraft and 5.88% of the market is now at bankruptcy status 

and unmotivated. All or most of the aircraft, which used to be owned by Bashkir 
Airlines, are now in service with other operators.  

3. The group of strong, successful, market-driven leaders having 3 aircraft and  
4.41% of the market each: RB Leasing LLC, AK Bars-Avia Airlines LLC, 
Dalmashleasing LLC, TK Leasing LLC and with the aggregated share of 17,64% of 
the market.  

4. The group of ‘solid mids’ with the considerable growth potential, owning 
2 aircraft (2.94%) each: Aeroleasing LLC, Oryol CAVS Leasing LLC, OJSC ‘FLC’, 
Severleasing JSC, East-Gate LLC and RK-leasing with the aggregated share of 
8.34% of the market.  

5. The group of economic entities with no interest in aircraft leasing, owning 2 
aircraft each: Samara Airlines, KrasAir, S7 Airlines, Khanty-Mansiisk Autonomous 
District, and Kogalymavia: 14.70% of the market. 

6. The group of outsiders with one aircraft each: 33.82% overall. The outsiders can 
only survive if they enlarge their fleets and diversify them in other segments. 
Otherwise they’re doomed to leave the niche. 

Therefore, in the current segment of the lease market for Tu-154 type aircraft there can 
be observed a group of obvious leaders, consisting of:  

1. IFC Avialeasing JSC with 7 aircraft of the Tu-154М type; 
2. RB Leasing LLC with 3 aircraft, all Tu-154Ms; 
3. Dalmashleasing LLC with 3 Tu-154Ms; 
4. TK Leasing LLC with 3 Tu-154Ms; 
5. AK Bars-Avial Airlines LLC with 3 Tu-154Ms; 
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It is impossible to precisely estimate where these companies are, in terms of 
competition, with no access to their financial statements and a breakdown of their 
assets, liabilities and cash flows. 

The domestic aircraft leasing companies are facing the ever-growing pressure from 
international lease brokers, which are already presented in the Russian market. They 
pose a formidable challenge to their Russian competitors by importing such aircraft 
makes as Boeing-737 and Airbus А-319, А-320, А-321 (which are close or similar in class 
to Tu-154 modifications). The specialists of the Company considered it sensible to 
analyze the competition between domestic and international lease brokers in two 
aspects: by their share in the lease market for the different Tu-154 modifications and 
similar foreign-made aircraft (i.e. Boeing 737-400 and Airbus А-320); and by their share in 
the lease market for the different Tu-154 modifications and foreign-made aircraft of 
similar or comparable performance characteristics (i.e. Boeing-737 and Airbus А-319, А-
320, А-321). This segment split will highlight the immediate competitors for the 
Company, who are able to challenge it in the same segment. The relevant graphs 
appear on pages 60 and 63 above. 
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Assuming that aircraft of the Boeing-737-400 and Airbus А-320 type are technically the 
closest match for Tu-154 type aircraft, we will label them: ‘similar foreign(-made) 
aircraft’ (see graph on page 59).  

We have singled out the following groups of players: 

1. The absolute leader is GECAS with 21 aircraft and, respectively, 17.36% of the 
market. 
2. Two foreign companies, ILFC and RBS Aviation Capital and one Russian 
company, CJSC ‘IFC ‘Avialeasing’ with 8, 7 and 7 A/C correspondingly, which can also 
be included into the leaders group, because cumulatively they occupy 18.19% of the 
market. 

32;26,45%

21;17,36%

8;6,61%

7;5,79%

7;5,79%

4,33,1%

3;2,48%

3;2,48%

3;2,48%

3;2,48%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1;65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

2;1,65%

32 companies, leasing out 1 aircraft each

GECAS

ILFC

RBS Aviation Capital

IFC Avialeasing CJSC

Bashkir Airlines

AK Bars-Avia Airlines LLC

Dalmashleasing LLC

RB Leasing LLC

TK Leasing LLC

BOC Aviation

Boeing Capital Lease Ltd.

Ensor Aircraft Leasing Ltd.

Wells Fargo Bank Northwest

Aeroleasing LC LLC

East Gate LLC

Kogalymavia

Krasnoyarsk Airlines

Oryol CAVS LLC

RC Leasing

Samars

Severleasing JSC

Sibir

FLC JSC

Khanti-Mansi AA

Lease market shares for Tu-154 type aircraft and foreign  aircraft  of similar or 
comparable performance characteristics (number of units; % of the total)



 

 

62 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

3.  ‘Solid mids’: five domestic lessors with 3-4 (2.48%-3.31%) each: 13.23% of the 
market together. This group includes Bashkir Airlines7

4. A group of 11 domestic and 4 foreign companies, leasing out 2 aircraft (1.65%) 
each 

 and AK Bars-Avial Airlines, which 
lease out 4 or 3 Tu-154M type aircraft each and were therefore included, although 
aircraft leasing is not their main business. 

5.  A group of evident outsiders and unmotivated players: 32 companies, with 1 
aircraft (0.83%) each and 26.56% of the market. 
Segmenting of aircraft lease market players and aggregation of business clusters, 
based on the graph: Lease market shares for Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of 
similar or comparable performance characteristics 

Company Number/Type of aircraft 
Company’s

market 
share  

Total 
market 
share 

1. GECAS 21 A/C (20 А320 and 1 
В737-400) 

17,36% 17,36% 

2. ILFC 
RBS Aviation Capital 
IFC Avialeasing CJSC 

8 A/C (7 А320 and 1 В737-
400) 

7 A/C of the А-320 type 
7 A/C of the Tu-154 type 

6,61% 
5,79% 
5,79% 18,19% 

3. Bashkir Airlines 
Dalmashleasing LLC 
RB Leasing LLC  
TK Leasing LLC  
AK Bars-Avial Airlines 

4 A/C of Tu-154 type 
3 A/C of Тu-154 type 
3 A/C of Тu-154 type 
3 A/C of Tu-154 type 
3 A/C of Tu-154 type 

3,31% 
2,48% 
2,48%  
2,48% 
2,48% 

13,23% 

4. 15 companies leasing 
out 2 A/C each 30 A/C of all makes 1,65% 24,75% 

5. Outsiders and 
unmotivated players: 32 
companies, leasing out 1 
plane each 

32 A/C of all makes 0,83% 26,56% 

We looked at the market players using the Pareto principle, and noted the following 
pattern in cluster aggregation: 

− the first two groups of players represent 1.79% and 5.36% of the market players 
correspondingly; these are the stick-out leaders who will retain their leadership in the 
middle-term perspective; 

− the 3rd group represents 8.93% of the market players; the players in this group are 
also the segment leaders, but with fewer aircraft in their possession; 

− the 4th group, representing 17.7% of players, is a high-risk group, in which the players 
are advised to broaden and diversify their business to retain their market share and 
stay in the marketplace (this obviously does not apply to Boeing Capital 
Corporation, WFBN and BOC Aviation, whose capitalization and international 
diversification are beyond doubt); 

Analysis of the market players using the Pareto Principle and cluster aggregation based 
on the graph: lease market shares for Tu-154 aircraft and and similar foreign aircraft  

                                                           
7 Despite its near-bankruptcy, Bashkir Airlines remained on the Public Register of Civil Aviation Aircraft of Russia as aircraft owner and lessor 
throughout 2008. 
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Company 
Number 

of 
aircraft 

Number 
of 

players 

Player 
market 
share 

Player 
share/market 

share 

Player share / 
market share 

(fact) 
 

Player share / 
Pareto market 

share 

1. GECAS 21 1 17,36% 1,79% / 17,36% 

16,08% / 48,78% 
 

20% / 80% 
2. Leaders 22 3 18,19% 5,36% / 18,19% 

3. ‘Solid mids’ 16 5 13,23% 8,93% / 13,22% 

4. Companies 
leasing out 2 
aircraft each 

30 15 24,75% 26,79% / 24,75% 83,92% / 51,31% 
 

80% / 20% 
5. Outsiders 32 32 26,56% 26,45% / 26,56% 

Total 121 56 100% 100% / 100% 100% / 100% 

Therefore, with some reservations, we can assume that, at some point in the future, 80% 
of Russia’s lease market for Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of similar or comparable 
performance characteristics (such as Boeing 737 and Airbus А-319, А-320, А-321) will be 
controlled by the 9 current leaders, with the remaining 20% or less left for the other 
players.  

The table below shows the current market split between the Russian and international 
lease brokers dealing with Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of similar or comparable 
performance characteristics: 

Split of the market shares, based on the graph: Lease market shares for Tu-154 aircraft 
and foreign aircraft of similar or comparable performance characteristics 
Leasing companies Market share, % 

Russian lease brokers 56.2 

International lease brokers 43.8 
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Assuming that aircraft of the Boeing-737 and Airbus А-319, А-320 & А-321 type are 
technically the closest match for Tu-154 type aircraft (we will label them: ‘the foreign(-
made) aircraft of similar or comparable performance characteristics’ (see graph on 
page 62)), we have singled out the following groups of players: 
1. The segment leaders are two foreign companies: GECAS and ILFC with 51 and 18 
aircraft of different makes, respectively, each with 18.96% to 6.69% of the market, or 
25.65% total. 
2. A group of leading companies, such as Cramington Services Ltd. (13 A/C and 4.83%), 
RBS Aviation Capital (11 A/C and 4.09%), MISL Denmark Ltd. and Miramonte (10A/C 
and 3.72% each), VTB Leasing Ltd. (9 A/C and 3.35%), Wells Fargo Bank Northwest (8/ 
A/C and 2.97%), CIT Aerospace and CJSC ‘IFC ‘Avialeasing’ (7 A/C and 2.60% each), 
having together 27.88% of the market. 
3. ‘Solid mids’: a group of 11 operators: five domestic and 6 foreign companies, with 3-5 
aircraft (1.5%-2.5%) each: 32.97% of the market between them. 
4. A group of 25 companies leasing out 2 planes (0.74%) each: 17.7% of the market. 
5. Evident outsiders and unmotivated players, with 1 airplane each: 37 aircraft of all 
makes, or 13.75% of the market, 0.37% each. 
Segmenting of aircraft lease market players and aggregation of business clusters, 
based on the graph: Lease market shares for Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of 
similar or comparable performance characteristics 

Company Number/make of aircraft Company’s 
share 

Cluster 
share 

1. GECAS 
ILFC 

51 /(10 A319, 20 A320, 21 В737) 
18 / (7 А320 и 11 В737) 

18,96% 
6,69% 25,65% 

2. Cramington Services Ltd. 
RBS Aviation Capital 
MISL Denmark Ltd. 
Miramonte 
VTB Leasing Ltd. 
Wells Fargo Bank Northwest 
CIT Aerospace 
CJSC ‘IFC ‘Avialeasing’ 

13 / (6 А319 и 7 В737) 
11 / (7 А320 и 4 А321) 
10 / (4 А319 и 6 А321) 
10 / (10 А319) 
9 / (6 В737 и 3 А319) 
8 / (8 В737) 
7 /  B737  
7 / Tu-154  

4,83% 
4,09% 
3,72% 
3,72% 
3,35% 
2,97% 
2,60% 
2,60% 

27,88% 

3. Daviak Aviation Ltd.  
Bashkir Airlines 
Boeing Capital Lease 
Aergo Omega Leasing Ltd. 
Pegasus Aviation Fin. Co. 
Jetscape Aviation 
AerCo Bermuda Ltd 
RB Leasing LLC 
TK Leasing LLC 
Dalmashleasing LLC 
AK-Bars Avial Airlines LLC 

5 / B737  
4 / Tu-154  
4 / B737 
4 / B737 
3 / B737 
3 / B737 
3 / B737 
3 / Тu-154 
3 / Тu-154 
3 / Тu-154 
3 / Тu-154 

1,86% 
1,49% 
1,49% 
1,49% 
1,12% 
1,12% 
1,12% 
1,12% 
1,12% 
1,12% 
1,12% 

14,13% 

4. 25 companies, leasing out 2 
planes each 50 A/C of all makes 0,74% 18,59% 

5. Outsiders or unmotivated 
players, leasing out 1 plane 
each 

37 A/C of all makes 0,37% 13,75% 

We looked at the market players using the Pareto principle, and noted the following 
pattern in cluster aggregation: 
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− the first two groups of players hold 2.41% and 9.64 of the market participants; these 
are the evident leaders who will retain their leadership in the middle-term 
perspective; 

− the 3rd group represents about 13.25% of the market players; the players in this 
group are also the segment leaders, but with fewer aircraft in their possession; 

− the 4th group represents 74.7% of market players; this is a high-risk group, in which 
the players are advised to broaden and diversify their business to retain their market 
share and stay in the marketplace (this obviously does not apply to Boeing Capital 
Lease, GATX, AWAS и BOC Aviation, whose capitalization and international 
diversification are beyond doubt); 

Analysis of the market players using the Pareto Principle and cluster aggregation based 
on the graph: lease market shares for Tu-154 aircraft and and foreign aircraft of similar 
or comparable performance characteristics 

Company 
Number 

of 
aircraft 

Number 
of players 

Player 
share/market 

share 

Player share / 
market share (fact) 

 
Player share / 
Pareto market 
share 

1. GECAS 
ILFC 69 2 2,4% / 25,7% 

25,3% / 67,8% 
 

20% / 80% 
2. Leaders 75 8 9,6% / 27,9% 

3. ‘Solid mids’ 38 11 13,3% / 14,2% 

4. Outsiders and 
others 87 62 74,7% / 32,2% 

74,7% / 32,2% 
 

80% / 20% 

Total 269 83 100% / 100,0% 100% / 100% 

Therefore, with some reservations, we can assume that, at some point in the future, 80% 
of Russia’s lease market for Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of similar or comparable 
performance characteristics (such as Boeing 737 and Airbus А-319, А-320, А-321) will be 
controlled by the current leaders: Cramington Services, Celestial Aviation, Airplanes 
Holdings, Denmark Ltd. and MISL Denmark Ltd., with the remaining 20% or less left for 
the other players.  

The table below shows the current market split between the Russian and international 
lease brokers dealing with Tu-154 aircraft and foreign aircraft of similar or comparable 
performance characteristics: 

 Market share, % 

Russian Lease Brokers 39 

Foreign Lease Brokers 61 
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Our Partners 
In the reported year the Company was operating at the market of Russian-made Tu-
154B and Tu-154M aircraft leasing and also launched a project on acquiring Sukhoi 
Superjet 100 planes - the regional jets of Russian manufacture. 

The Company was focusing on the segment of the prospective consumers – the 
promising, rapidly developing airlines, which own a considerable fleet of mid-range 
aircraft and are capable of effecting the timely lease payments. These are the very 
criteria we were governed by to have chosen UTair Aviation – a member of the ‘Big 
Five’ of the major Russian airlines by the results of the year 2005, which has retained its 
positions during 2006-2008. 

UTair Aviation JSC (Khanty-Mansiysk) has been a long-term partner of Avialeasing and a 
member of the ‘Big Five’ of the most powerful companies in the sphere of aviation by 
passenger traffic. Currently UTair Aviation is the most diversified air carrier of Russia: 
except the core activity of the company – the passenger transportation – it manages 
five airports which are its affiliated structures in Khanty-Mansi Autonomous Area and 
Yamalo-Nenets Autonomous Area as well as the airport of federal significance in 
Noyabrsk. For the time being UTair Aviation has been the leading operator of helicopter 
equipment at the world market: since 1991 the company has been accredited to be 
the official aviation service provider for the UN. 

In the course of the year 2008 our partners were: 

Sukhoi Civil Aircraft Company (SCAC) is a Sukhoi Company subsidiary founded in 2000 
to design, produce, market and support civil programs. Currently, the Company’s major 
project is Sukhoi Superjet 100, a family of regional aircraft.  SCAC comprehensively 
covers a full aircraft-related scope of competences: aircraft design & development, 
production, marketing, sales and support. 

VARZ 400 JSC, Vnukovo Aircraft Repair Plant No. 400 (presently the Vnukovo 
International MRO Center) (Moscow): the contractor for Tu-154 overhauls, repairs and 
modifications to restore the aircraft to the condition of complete airworthiness to 
comply with the requirements of the Federal Supervision Service for Air Transport 
(formerly National Civil Aviation Service). 

The Urals Civil Aviation Factory JSC (Yekaterinburg): the supplier of NK–8-2U engines for 
the Тu-154 aircraft and the contractor to service the shop visits for the above-named 
engines. 

NPO Saturn CJSC (Rybinsk): the supplier of D-30KU-154 engines for Тu-154М aircraft and 
MRO provider for the named engines. 

Vladivostok Avia JSC (Vladivostok): the supplier of Тu-154М planes at the secondary 
market. 

These companies have stayed in business, improving their technologies and human 
resources, despite the adversities of the Russian market reform. Avialeasing enjoys a 
positive experience of cooperation with the senior executives of these companies.  

Avialeasing’s first-hand experience proves that, given the very complicated 
interconnections between design companies, serial manufacturers and key 
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component suppliers, the lease broker frequently has to face and solve numerous issues 
of relationship. 

It is just the long-term cooperation with the solid reliable partners that the Company 
considers to be the pledge of advance of the chosen strategy. 
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Operating activity 
Technically the Company’s operating activity during the last few years is represented 
by Tu-154 aircraft reconditioning, which involves: 

− aircraft acquiring; 
− airframe overhaul; 
− installation of main and auxiliary power units; 
− retrofitting of navigation and pilotage systems; 
− modification of the aircraft to comply with ICAO requirements so that they could 

perform international flights, including installation of the required additional 
equipment and modification of the existing equipment, e.g. noise attenuation 
improvements to D-30KU-154 engines as required by ICAO Chapter 3; 

− cabin reconfiguration; 
− bringing the aircraft to the condition of complete airworthiness, with the fully 

restored time between overhauls for the aircraft, its units and assemblies; 
− leasing the serviceable aircraft to airlines-operators. 
Within the frames of new modernization program with the involvement of VARZ 400 JSC 
(Vnukovo Aircraft Repair Plant No. 400) the significant design improvements were 
implemented on the aircraft of the type. Our aircraft enjoy a number of performance 
advantages aimed to save fuel and increase the payload. It’s been achieved thanks 
to the following improvements: 

1. The winglets of new configuration were installed to reduce the wing tip vortexes 
and consequently to improve the aerodynamic characteristics. As a result the 
average fuel saving per each Tu-154M flight hour totals to 146.5 kg. 

 
 

 
2. The aircraft were furnished with the lightweight honeycomb decks made by 

Hexcel to lighten the aircraft floors and thus to increase the payload of each 
modified aircraft by 630 kg. 
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Such a scheme of business has proved viable, and in 2008 Avialeasing carried on its 
business in the familiar market niche: leasing out Tu-154M aircraft. Besides, in 2008 the 
Company optimized its fleet: planes of Tu-154B type were retired from service as oldest 
and much less fuel effective then other aircraft, owned by the Company.   

As a result of these measures now company’s fleet consists of 7 aircraft. All of them are 
rebuild, modernized according to the above mentioned scheme, equipped for flights 
to Europe. 

When implementing the projects the Company employed the following systems: 

− the system of control of income receivable and legal support of cash flow 
management. We have used this system since 2002, but it’s still relevant in the 
current economic environment; 

− the system of monitoring of the technical condition and prompt restoring of the 
aircraft to airworthy condition; 

− the system of direct interaction between the operating airlines and contractors 
responsible for restoring faults of the aircraft units and assemblies; 

− the system of condition monitored maintenance applied to the aircraft, its units and 
assemblies. 
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2008 Projects 

 
Since October 2008 rent of the Tu-154B aircraft side number 85557 was terminated. The 
airframe was sold in October, the engines and APU were sold in December 2008. 

 

The rent of the aircraft’s (Tu-154B No.85504)  APU was stopped. In December 2008 APU 
was sold on purchase/sale agreement with payment by installments. (Aircraft’s airframe 
was sold in October 2007.)  
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The company had liquidated Tu-154B aircraft, side number 85550, as single object in 
November, 2008, and till December sold all of its components. Besides, in November, 
2008 Company received reward for prescheduled cancellation of the rent contract. 

 

The rental income received from leasing this aircraft out was deeply influenced by the 
seasonal factor and irregular payments from the lessee. 
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No major investment was made in 2008, but the cash flow was deeply influenced by 
the seasonal factor and irregular payments from the lessee. 
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APU scheduled removal is planned at the end of 2008. Since October Company has 
been making prepayments to acquire new APU for the overhaul-period renewal. 

 

No major investment was needed for the Tu-154 M aircraft side No. 85018. In 2008 the 
rental income was irregular because performed flight hours quantity varied monthly. 
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In April, 2008 Company had acquired new APU, what allowed to keep the airworthiness 
and full rental income from the aircraft.  

On the project Tu-154M side No. 85069 no major financing was made in 2008, but the 
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influence of the seasonal factor on the flight hours quantity per month can be noted at 
the irregular payments from the lessee. 

From April till September 2008 prepayments for the aircraft engine repair to support the 
airworthiness were made. The engine repair was completed in September, 2008. 
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The aircraft was sold on deferred terms in December, 2007, and in  January-February of 
2008 Company received the final payment on sale/purchase agreement.  
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Results of Company’s activity 

Period Sales 
revenue 

EBIDT
A 

Pre-Tax 
profit 

Net 
profit Equity Liability Fixed 

assets 
Cash 
assets 

Growth , 
% 28,53 19,84 59,29 187,1

9 4,09 (22,33) (20,99) 113,53 

2007 
(thousa
nd 
roubles) 

252 219 184 
563 7 632 5 715 17 304 640 712 542 762 15 106 

2008 
(thousa
nd 
roubles) 

324 180 221 
181 12 157 1 990 18 012 497 640 428 853 32 256 

 

 
Company’s efficient operation in 2008 led to the assets and pre-tax profit growth more 
than on 28% and 59% accordingly. Liability decreased on 143 millions 72 thousand 
roubles (more than 22%). EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortization) rose  on 20% and reached 221.2 million roubles. Company’s financial 
performance was considerably influenced by such external forces. Changes in tax 
regulations, i.e. taxation increase in 2008 led to net profit deflation despite the growth 
of the pre-tax profit, that had reached  12.2 million roubles. 
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Financing and loans 
At the second part of the year 2008 global financial collapse adversely affected the 
development of the Russian economy negatively. 

Decreased rates of the income growth in various sectors of economy and loan 
conditions stiffening in the IV quarter of 2008 have influenced deceleration of 
investment and customer demand growth rates in Russia. Worsening of trade conditions 
and the capital outflow that begun in second half of 2008 have strongly influenced 
rouble devaluation. 

 

In IV quarter of 2008 nominal rate of rouble to US dollar continued its decrease.  
Considerable devaluation of rouble to US dollar has been caused by several reasons. 
First, by the transition to more flexible exchange rate determination at the domestic 
foreign exchange market, that has led to essential change of the dual-currency basket 
cost expressed in roubles. Secondly it has been followed by dramatic strengthening of 
US dollar to euro in the international currency market. 

In the conditions of considerable strengthening of euro to US dollar in December, 2008 
the nominal rate of rouble to euro has dramaticaly decreased. 

In the conditions of the limited access of the Russian banks and nonfinancial 
organisations to foreign financial resources and interbank cradits market shrinkage as a 
result of trust descent between banks there was a threat of bank functioning failures 
and development of bank system crisis. Therefore financial stability support became a 
priority in a monetary and credit policy. The bank of Russia took steps, focused on 
maintenance of necessary liquidity level in bank sector by remission of mandatory 
reserve requirements, increase of volumes and easening of bank refinancing. 

In IV quarter 2008 the gradual rouble devaluation has caused devaluation expectations 
strengthening. Thereby additional speculative demand for the foreign currency, as of 
with borrowed rouble assets means was observed. Price sinking for securities of the 
Russian emitters has proceeded. It was negatively influenced potential possibilities of 
obtaining of necessary credit volume against these securities. 
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Inflation constituent is the most important factor subject to consideration in investment 
decision-making.  

Now the inflation rate is formed as result of multidirectional (competing) operating 
factors. On the one hand, sinking of the world prices for the goods that Russia exports 
(energy supplies, metals, food products), drop of prices by the Russian manufacturers in 
mining operations, agriculture, inflation delay in group of the countries – Russia’s basic 
exporters, growth slowdown of internal consumer demand, investment activity 
stagnation, are the factors of inflation decrease. On the other hand, appreciation of 
consumer import price, caused by depreciation of national currency, goods offer 
decrease are among the factors, capable to raise inflation in the consumer market. 

According to official records, in the Russian Federation in 2008 the inflation (consumer 
price index) rate was 13.3%. 

In IV quarter 2008 against deepening of world financial crisis and strengthening of 
private capital outflow from Russia, intensity and uncertainty at the basic segments of 
the Russian financial market has increased. Deficiency of rouble bank liquidity 
remained in spite of the fact that the Bank of Russia gave to the credit organisations 
considerable funds through refinancing operations. Rouble interbank credit rates (IBC) 
have grown up essentially. 

Borrowed funds deficiency forced banks to pay closer attention to private deposits. 
Many of the banks, having lost the opportunity to borrow at the international finance 
market, raise deposit rates. 

A bank deposit is the most simple and accessible financial instrument. In conditions of 
liquidity deficit some of the banks offered long-term deposits (for more than 5 years). In 
comparison with classical deposits long-term programs have a number of advantrages. 

Bank deposits are the only financial instrument for which repayment is guaranteed by 
the government. The new law, effective since March 2008, guarantees investors 100% of 
their deposits back for an insured event if the deposit was RUR 100,000 or less, and 90% 
of any amount exceeding RUR 100,000, but no more than RUR 400,000 total.  If the 
investor has money on deposit in several banks, government insurance covers RUR 
400,000 in each bank. But if the money is in several deposits within one bank, the state 
will refund a total of no more than RUR 400,000. 

At the IV quarter of 2008 private deposit rates continued their growth. It was connected 
both with competition strengthening at the deposit market, caused by the growth of 
the demand for financial resources and high inflation8

                                                           
8 Banking statistics Bulletin №3 (190), 2009 

. 
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Time deposits are the easiest and most reliable way to keep one’s savings. Unlike call 
deposits, time deposits are opened for a stated time period, typically for 3, 6, 9, 12 or 24 
months. The average duration of time deposits is just over 12 months at the moment, 
according to the Bank of Russia, and a quarter of RUR deposits are for periods between 
12 months and 3 years.  

Lack of liquidity forced some of the banks to offer more profitable conditions for long-
term deposits (for more than 3 years). Rates on USD and EUR deposits are typically 4-9% 
and 9-12% for RUR deposits. The longer the deposit, the higher the yield is. The interest 
rate is conditional on both deposit duration and amount. The investor is usually free to 
add money to the deposit. Some banks offer long-term deposits at higher-than-
average annual yields: 13% or higher, but these deposit options are not easily available. 
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Despite the growth of interest rates, in IV quarter of 2008 value of time-deposits 
decreased on 7.4% in absolute terms. Private deposits suffered mostly. Considerable 
remission of rouble to US dollar and Euro became the main reason of cash outflow. At 
the same time number of foreign currency deposits increased essentially.  

Price fall for the financial assets at the foreign stock markets and strengthening of the 
cash outflow from Russia at the IV quarter of 2008 influenced domestic stock market 
greatly. 

Quotations fall continued at the fourth quarter of 2008 at the Russian stock market, 
caused by strengthening of the capital outflow from the national stock market, 
negative business environment of the world’s financial and primary markets and also by 
weakening of national currency in relation to US dollar. Russian stock indexes Moscow 
Interbank Currency Exchange and Russian Trading System continued their rapid fall. At 
the last decade of 2008 they had fallen down to their minimum weight, fixed in the 
middle of December, 2008. 

In comparison with the previous quarter the price drawdown rate of stocks of the 
companies from all economic sectors accelerated sharply. Stocks of the mechanical 
engineering, telecommunications and communication, electric power industry and 
metal engineering companies became leaders in price reduction (according to 
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quarterly indicators). Still quotations of the least liquid stocks of the second and third 
echelons companies decreased quicker than the rest. 

At the end of October, 2008 for the purpose regulating the situation at the Russian stock 
market the Russian Federation Government has allocated funds from National Welfare 
Fund for Vnesheconombank for corporate securities investment. 

In the IV quarter of 2008, emitters and investors activity at the Russian market of 
corporate bonds in comparison with the previous quarter has gone down. The majority 
of corporate bonds floatings was of technical character. During auctions most of 
securities were redeemed by in-crowd of investors. The corporate bonds offer 
exceeded demand considerably. Having difficulties with refinancing, the corporate 
borrowers, not being in a ‘first class’ category, could not serve their loans. Emitters 
defaults quantity in the IV quarter 2008 was maximum for all history of corporate bonds 
market functioning. Profitability of the most liquid corporate bonds in the 3rd -4th  
quarters 2008 has raised sharply in comparison with the beginning of 2008 (from 5-10 % 
to 20-25 % annually), average profitability of corporate bonds in III quarter 2008 was 10,6 
% annually, in IV quarter – 19,1 % annually. 

International financial theories usually recognize three types of borrowings by maturity 
period:  

- Short-term (under 1 year): bank loans to bridge gaps in working capital; or bill of 
exchange issues;  

- Medium-term (1 to 5 years): investment loans, syndicated loans, future IPO bridge 
loans, bill of exchange issues, bond issues, and CLN (Credit Linked Notes), structured 
debentures;  

- Long-term (upwards of 5 years): investment loans, syndicated loans, ECA 
financing (with attraction of export credit agencies), and Eurobonds. 
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External Financing Instruments Rating 

 

Investment Bank Loans 

A loan borrowed from a single bank constitutes a peculiarity of this instrument. A 
considerable amount of preparatory work is required from the borrower to qualify for 
this kind of loan, including a project business plan, feasibility study, project budget, and 
financing arrangements to cover the liabilities targeted by the investment loan. The 
bank’s credit analysts pay close attention to the size and the validity of the net 
operating cash flow to be generated by the object of investment outlay.  

Investment bank loans are typically issued for a period not longer than the project’s 
own PBP, and as a rule for a year. These loans are very purpose-specific, and proper 
spending of the same is to be documented with payments under contracts signed 
within the project budget framework. Investment projects are financed at the 
borrower's own expenses. 

One of the finest nuances in the drafting of an investment loan bid is to carefully 
calculate and align the time when the feasibility study and business plan are prepared 
on the one hand, and the time when cash outflow is planned and relevant contracts 
are made on the other hand. It often happens that the liabilities existing under 
previously made contracts mature earlier than the loan bid is prepared. In this case, 
many Russian banks prefer to issue a short-term (up to 12 months) loan to bridge the 
working capital gap, which may later be refinanced with a longer loan from the same 
bank. In this case the condition that the loan funds to be used for the specific declared 
purpose remains binding.  

The downside of an investment loan is that the borrower is required to secure the loan 
through the pledge of its long-term assets until its investment property goes into 
commercial operation. This means that the borrower’s assets become ‘grounded’ for a 
long time instead of being used, for example, to replenish its working capital through 
short-term borrowing. 

Future IPO bridge loans 

This is a good alternative for an investment loan if the borrower has decided to go 
public, but its ongoing investment plans need to be financed earlier than the IPO can 



 
85 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

be completed. As a rule if the issuer and its managing bank have signed an IPO 
engagement letter, the manager will probably give the issuer a bridge loan for up to 
two years, while the IPO is being prepared. Given that, for an IPO to be viable and 
liquid in Russia, it cannot be below US $100m, if the issuer is a financially secure 
company with market capitalization of US $200m or higher, it can count on a bridge 
loan of up to 1/3 of its planned IPO amount.   

Structured external financing instruments 

Implies several or multiple investors for a corporate borrower, as well as ancillary 
companies assisting in credit product development. External financing instruments are 
sometimes structured as negotiable securities, which means they have passed the debt 
securitization process.  

Syndicated bank loans 

This financing instrument is essentially the same as an investment loan, except that the 
loan is provided by a pool of several banks with the loan arranger at the helm.  

Some of the reasons to take out a syndicated loan are:  

the credit limit available to the borrower at its bank is insufficient for the borrower’s 
investment project ;  

- the interest rate on an investment loan, offered to the borrower by its bank, is 
higher than the borrower expected;  

- risk analysts at the borrower’s bank consider the borrower’s proposed investment 
project is too high-risk for the bank, and advise the borrower to have the risk shared by 
several banks. 

In this latter case, the borrower’s main bank acts as an arranger, as well as a lender, of 
the syndicated loan. The analysts at the bank’s syndication prepare an investment 
memorandum, and send out invitations to partner banks on participation of future pool 
for which mutual limits are opened. When the pool subscription book is full, a reverse 
auction will be held to determine the ‘cut-off rate’, whereupon the loan’s weighted 
average cost will be calculated 

ECA financing 

Government support for export is a common practice in the EU, especially when heavy 
engineering or high tech products, equipment or instruments are exported. The 
government support is provided via Export Credit Agencies or ECA (e.g. Hermes in 
Germany and OeKB in Austria), which provide financing to buyers outside the EU. 

This is an attractive financing option for those Russian companies which buy massive 
amounts of machinery and equipment in the EU for their investment projects. If the bid 
is correctly prepared and all ECA requirements are fulfilled, the borrower may save 2%-
3% (compared to investment loans with similar maturities from Russian banks) on the 
interest rate; secondly, a considerable period for principal debt amortization, up to 10 
years, is provided; thirdly, the ECA may defer payments on the principal and the 
interest at least until the investment property goes into business (1-2 years average). The 
rate is calculated  in the usual way. 

All these incentives are expected to convince the equipment shopper to buy from a EU 
vendor, but ECA financing has its downside, too. The attractive lending terms are 
outweighed by tough initial requirements for prospective borrower, namely:  

IFRS reporting for the last 1-2 years;  

- the borrower has to cover at least 15% of the equipment price at its own 
expense;  
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- the minimal contract amount eligible for financing is EUR5 million;   

- the contract is in the legal jurisdiction of the courts manufacturer’s country. 

Not all EU ECAs have credit quotas for Russia or Russian companies (Switzerland’s ERG is 
one of those who do not such quotas). So, when a company decides to seek ECA 
financing for an import purchase of equipment and starts its competitive bidding to find 
aright vendor it is important to make sure the manufacturer country’s ECA approves 
financing for Russia.  

LBO financing 

LBO (Leveraged Buyout) is a M&A vehicle, when the majority stake in a company is 
purchased through a loan. The number of mergers and acquisitions by Russian 
companies, both inside and outside Russia, has been rising year by year, so commercial 
banks now routinely offer this medium-to-long term financing instrument.  

The best thing about LBO financing is that it enables a financially secure company to 
buy another – a similarly sized (by earnings, book asset value, etc.) or even a bigger – 
company with 80% to 85% borrowed money against the collateral of the shares of the 
company being bought. If it was not for its partnership with the bank, the buying 
company would never be able to finance such a purchase by itself.  

In LBO financing, all-round analysis of the business being purchased is a key condition of 
the transaction. First of all, it is important to gauge the synergies, if any, which will result 
from the merger or acquisition, and how they will impact the consolidated company’s 
future cash flows. If the findings look good, the business being purchased is the subject, 
at the very least, to a legal and financial audit, and an independent appraisal of the 
assets share being purchased. International full-service banks usually agree to appraise 
the assets, being purchased, in exchange for a firm’s commitment to subsequently 
accept the equity stake at its appraised value, irrespective of a transaction price. Once 
the transaction hits the home stretch, the buyer and the bank finalize the loan structure, 
allotting a certain amount of loan liability to each company, and determine the 
consolidated company’s tax status. 

The borrower should be prepared to bear considerable expense early in the 
transaction; when amortizing this expense over the loan maturity period, it is important 
to remember that, for the purchase to pay back as planned, returns on the investment 
should far exceed the effective loan interest rate. 

Some of the most attractive securitized instruments for external borrowing are Credit 
Linked Notes, bill and bond issues, and Eurobond issues. 

Since all these are public offerings, first of all it is important to consider if the company is 
able to use the said instrument. To perform a successful issue, the issuer has to fulfill a 
number of investors’ basic requirements, namely:  

the company’s reputation as borrower may not be blemished; the minutest signs of 
imminent insolvency will render the company unattractive for the market;    

- investors want to know about the issuer’s ownership structure and its ultimate 
beneficiaries; litigations between the company’s owners (which are typical for Russia) 
may influence prospective issues  this will not look good to potential investors;   

- the issuer makes sure that the size of a bill or a bond issue alleged to the issue 
does not exceed the company’s financial leverage, and that the company is able to 
cover its interest liability out of its future cash flows.  
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Credit Linked Notes 

Credit Linked Notes (СLN) constitute debt securities issued in the international capital 
market by an international issuer set for that purpose: a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV), 
which establishes a credit facility in favor of the Russian borrower or its overseas 
subsidiary/affiliate. When a company issues Credit Linked Notes, some of the major 
goals it may be seeking to achieve are as follows:  

6. To bring in a substantial amount of borrowed financing in hard currency on 
better terms than what domestic lenders can offer.   

7. To release its long-term assets from debt bondage by repaying the loans of such 
assets secure with the proceeds of its CLN issue.  

8. To streamline its loan portfolio and to diversify financing sources for its business.  

9. To increase the weighted average duration of its debt portfolio.  

10. To create a favorable credit history for foreign investors in the run-up towards 
future borrowing activities, e.g. a syndicated loan, Eurobond issue, or IPO. 

The basic advantages of CLNs are as follows:  

-  CLN issue can be arranged as much as possible: it is possible to effect such issue 
within 2 or 3 months from the date of signing the engagement letter with the issue 
manager, provided that the borrower provides all the required information in good time 
while the investment memorandum is being prepared. The longer periods of a CLN issue 
transaction are legal review, due diligence and analytical reporting;   

- unlike a Eurobond issue, no massive information disclosure is required;   

- the borrowing market can be enlarged by 50% annually, such increase attracts 
new potential investors. 

The disadvantages of CLN market are basically related to potential investors. Generally, 
potential investors are usually very careful in consideration of new investment 
memoranda. This can be also explained by the small size of CLN market, compared to 
Eurobonds markets, since information disclosure requirements are more loose here, 
there is a risk of incomplete or inaccurate information being provided. CLNs do not 
circulate on the after-market, which limits the investor’s option to ‘pull out’ of the 
securities.  

In Russia, a CLN issue only makes sense if it’s equal to or above US $30m. The greater the 
issue, the more liquid the securities on the after-market and consequently, the greater 
number of investors participates in buying. In reality, investment bankers are willing to 
manage a CLN issue with an average volume of US $50 to 70m.  

In comparison with a syndicated loan, the terms of a CLN issue provide for an easier 
transfer of the right for the securities. CLNs are a relatively liquid market instrument; CLN 
payments go through the international clearing systems: Euroclear, Clearstream. 

Bill and bond issues 

Corporate bill and bond issues constitute a perspective, efficient, and easy way to raise 
financing without placing your assets in pledge. Both instruments are securitized debt 
securities; in Russia corporate bills and bonds issues are regulated by the Federal 
Financial Markets Service (FFMS); both are quoted on the after-market, e.g. MICEX. 
Preparatory procedures for both bill and bond issues are similar, the principal difference 
is that bill issues are usually smaller (up to RUR500m), but with higher yields and with 
localized circulation (investors typically come from among regional banks). The 
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average size of a bond issue is RUR1.5-2 billion; bond issues find buyers among portfolio 
investors and major national banks, as well. 

For a growing Russian company, a bond issue is a higher step in the evolution of 
unsecured external borrowing. 

In order to successfully place and service a public bill or bond issue, the issuer should:  

determine the optimal issue volume, given that the minimum advisable bill issue is 
RUR100m, and RUR 1 billion for a bond issue;  

- develop attractive issue terms taking into account its business and the current 
market, and pitch its business so that it looks attractive compared to similar market 
offers; it is easier to entrust this work to professional consultants;  

- during a tender to select an issue manager - a professional securities market 
player who will ‘architect’ and successfully maintain the process of preparation, 
placement and subsequent support of the bill or bond issue. The issue can be 
managed by a bank, equity firm duly licensed to perform stock market transactions. It is 
also necessary to recruit one or two underwriters (generally, the issue manager typically 
doubles as an underwriter), who commit to buy out the entire issue or any portion 
thereof which has not been placed  on the public market within the framework of a 
primary auction bidding;    

- attract and hold investor interest in the issue through issue presentations (road 
show) for potential investors, media publicity and online publication of the company’s 
financial showings at its official website, including publication of its financial statements; 
organizing special PR events, and performing media monitoring to avoid negative 
publicity.       

In addition, the issuer will need to make arrangements to keep its bills’ or bonds’ liquidity 
high and keep up the desired price levels on the aftermarket throughout their market 
life; this will send the right signals to investors. And last but not least, it is important to fully 
and promptly comply with FFMS requirements regarding the disclosure of the issuer’s 
material information as necessary to safeguard investors’ rights.     

Eurobonds 

This instrument is at the pinnacle of the evolution of medium- and long-term debt 
instruments. Eurobonds are bonds, denominated in hard currency (US$ or EUR), and 
negotiable on the international stock market outside the issuer country. 

The issuer who takes decision on issuing Eurobonds, at least, should have an 
impeccable reputation as a public borrower within its country, IFRS reporting for the 
past three years, and a transparent corporate governance system, including 
independent directors and an internal audit committee. Since the loan is issued in a 
foreign currency, the issuer is expected to be able to generate substantial hard-
currency cash flows during the life of the bond issue or, as is the case with CLNs, to have 
a coherent policy aimed to minimize foreign exchange risk while the debt remains 
outstanding. 

The world stock markets have entered a zone of heightened system risks and ultrahigh 
volatility, being in limits of the values, that essentially overpass usual fluctuations scope 
round historical maxima-minima. Similar things happen at the debt markets and the 
financial derivatives markets. 

Predicted consequences of crisis for Russia, based on the analysis of other countries 
experience: drop of Gross Domestic Product volumes, reduction of home economics 
expenses and investments in fixed capital buildup proceeding from one year till three 
years, arises superconcentration of social and political risks; within one-three years in 
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financial and credit sphere there can be observed the outflow of the capital from the 
country, drop of the national currency rate in relation to industrial countries hard 
currencies (up to dozens percent annually), inflation growth, stock market capitalisation 
cutdown (about 20 %) and bonds market value (about 15 %); as applicable to public 
finances real incomes and budget expenses drop is awaited (on 5-20 % from their pre-
crisis size), transformation of the budget from surplus to scarcity, growth of the national 
debt (up to dozens percent) and public loans (up to 2-3 times). 
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Company’s credit history 
For the purposes of optimizing its cash flows and capitalizing on financial leverage, 
Avialeasing conducts an active work in attracting borrowed capital in the form of bank 
loans and bill issues.  

The Company has pursued a clear policy on capital formation and repayment since 
2003, and has never missed a single loan payment. During the company's activity credit 
and loan contracts had never been violated.  

Avialeasing has no overdue liabilities, and means to keep it this way by maintaining of 
all credit contracts' performance in the future. 

The Company redeems its liabilities with lease payments from UTair Airlines – our reliable, 
financially secure partner providing steady cash flows for Avialeasing that guarantee 
full and timely repayment of all the liabilities of the Company.   

Company’s credit history is given in the table below: 

Liability Creditor Amount and 
currency, RUR’000 

Borrowing 
date 

Repayment 
date 

Balance remaining, 
RUR’000 Interest rate Effective interest 

rate 

Credit Etalonbank 7 150,00 25.03.2003 14.04.2003 - 18,0 19,6 

Overdraft Urals-Sibirian 
Bank 340,00 28.09.2004 04.10.2004 - 19,0 20,7 

Credit Etalonbank 10 000,00 06.09.2004 21.02.2005 - 17,0 18,3 

Credit West Urals 
Sberbank 15 000,00 28.12.2004 15.06.2007 - 16,5 17,8 

Credit Gazprombank 745,80 05.09.2005 22.09.2005 - 16,0 17,3 

Credit West Urals 
Sberbank 115 000,00 30.01.2006 29.12.2010 27 280,00 15,0 15,8 

Credit National 
Standard Bank 107 180,00 27.11.2006 28.10.2011 64 308,00 14,0 15,8 

Credit National 
Standard Bank 106 280,00 22.01.2007 23.12.2011 69 082,00 14,0 15,8 

Credit National 
Standard Bank 106 415,00 05.04.2007 16.03.2012 79 811,25 14,0 15,7 

Credit ‘ National 
Standard Bank 107 915,00 14.05.2007 03.05.2012 86 332,00 14,0 15,7 

Credit National 
Standard Bank 107 779,00 16.07.2007 26.06.2012 86 223,20 14,0 15,7 

Allocated credit 
line 

West Urals 
Sberbank 6 000,00 30.10.2007 25.04.2008 - 12,0 19,4 

Loan Vladimir 
Kinderknekht 340,00 29.07.2003 04.08.2003 - - - 

Bill debt Vladimir 
Kinderknekht 3 000,00 01.07.2004 

Last 
business 

day of the 
month 

- 17,0 15 
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Bill debt Vladimir 
Kinderknekht 300,00 23.08.2004 29.12.2004 - 6,0 6,1 

Bill debt Vladimir 
Kinderknekht 300,00 24.08.2004 29.12.2004 - 6,0 6,1 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 3 000,00 02.07.2004 

Last 
business 

day of the 
month 

- 17,0 15,0 

Bill debt Sergei Sopov 3 000,00 30.06.2004 

Last 
business 

day of the 
month 

- 17,0 15,0 

Bill debt Vladimir 
Kinderknekht 16 501,24 01.04.2003 18.07.2007 - - - 

Bill debt Sergei Sopov 18 297,55 01.04.2003 29.06.2007 - - - 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 15 125,48 01.04.2003 18.07.2007 - - - 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 30 000,00 30.10.2007 30.01.2008 - 18,0 19,3 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 30 004,35 30.01.2008 31.07.2008 - 18,0 18,8 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 30 375,01 31.07.2008 31.10.2008 - 18,0 19,2 

Bill debt Viktor Novikov 30 000,00 31.10.2008 31.03.2009 29 233,00 18,0 18,9 

According to the results of the research, performed by Company’s specialists, bank 
credit (financial loan) remains the main source of leasing deals finance in aircraft 
branch. 

The weighted average cost of the Company’s debts was 14.37% p.a. in 2008.  

The graph below shows the average declared credit rates (MIBOR) in 2008. 
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Issued bill debts 

Bill Issue date 
Total amount of 
issue, thousand 

RUR 

Percentage 
rate 

Cancelled in 2008 (nominal 
value), thousand RUR 

Bare interest bearing, issued 
till 2008 and cancelled in 
2008 

30.10.2007 30 000 18% 28 865/ 1 318 

Bare interest bearing, issued 
in 2008 and cancelled in 
2008 

30.01.2008 30 004 18% 30 004 / 2 617 

31.07.2008 30 375 18% 30 375/ 1 357 

31.10.2008 30 000 18% 767/ 17 
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Development Prospects 
Nowadays Company’s fleet consists of 7 Tu-154M aircraft. These planes were preferred 
for being one of the most reliable and profitable ones. Orientation on Tu-154M aircraft 
sector has given positive results in 2008. 

At the same time, it is necessary notice that in 2008 of some of the Russian airlines 
refused from Tu-154M aircraft. That has been caused by sharp increase of the aviation 
fuel prices and better fuel efficiency of modern foreign planes. 

Analyzing possibilities of use Company’s fleet, it is necessary to keep in mind that unlike 
the majority of Tu-154M maintained in Russia, they are one of the youngest. Thanks to 
recent overhaul these planes are in a very good condition, and offer a number of 
operational advantages (several constructive improvements were made to provide 
fuel economy and payload increase). All these measures abate operational costs. 
Aircraft’s long life operating allows to maintain them for a long time (till 2013-2020). Such 
facts as the forecast about mid-term preservation of the low prices for fuel together 
with lack of the financial resources, necessary for acquisition of more effective foreign 
aircrafts, and also aircraft lease agreement conditions  (long- term agreement till 2012-
2013. According to the lease agreement the lessor is unable to refuse from A/C at ones 
election, condition, considering guaranteed payment even in absence of flights), 
financial stability of the lessor (Utair airlines), altogether it allows Company’s experts 
consider that Tu-154M project still has long-term prospects. 

For the year 2009 we have stable development forecast of existing Tu-154M projects: Tu-
154M aircraft (side #85789), Tu-154M aircraft (side #85016), Tu-154M aircraft (side 
#85018), Tu-154M aircraft (side #85056), Tu-154M aircraft (side #85069), Tu-154M aircraft 
(side #85681). 

All the above mentioned planes are leased by Utair airlines. 

Forecast for 2009. 

The company will use the following kind of lease payment calculation: according to 
real flight experience for the calendar month. This actually means, that seasonal 
fluctuations would influence the income, what would be partly cancelled with lease 
contract’s condition, regarding payment for real flight hours of the aircraft, but not less 
than guaranteed monthly flight hours. Fixed lease payment per calendar month was 
applied for a number of aircraft  till July, 2008. 
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Overhaul-period renewal of airframe is planned in September, what causes fluctuations 
of investment curve and aircraft leasing results. 

 

During the year 2009 planned overhaul-period renewal works will be performed for the 
engines and APU of the aircraft Tu-154M side #85013. 
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In January, 2009 the Company will make final payment on acquisition of APU. Planned 
APU replacement will be performed for airworthiness maintenance of Tu-154М aircraft, 
side number 85016.

No major investment will be needed, except for engine and APU overhaul-period 
renewal costs.   
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In January, 2009 final payment for engine repair will be made. Engine replacement is 
planned for February, that will allow to keep airworthiness of the aircraft and receipt full 
lease payments from the lessor. 

Planned renewal of the engine’s overhaul period would influence cash flow curve 
fluctuations in April and September 2009. 



 
97 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

 

No major investment is planned for 2009. Most of the expenses would be connected 
with engine’s and APU overhaul period renewal. 

At the same time, in order to minimize risks of fleet’s liquidity loss in 2009 Company is 
going to sale of one or more aircraft.  
Regional air transportation is now becoming the most significant segment at the Russian 
market. 

Following the market trends, in 2009 Avialeasing will continue its project on acquiring 
and leasing out of domestic regional aircraft Sukhoi Superjet 100 (RRJ-95B-type, 90-98-
seater in economy class). 

According to the company's estimates, the regional market currently demonstrates 
high entry barriers: 

− for international lease brokers it is connected with high import duties on aircraft, the 
risks arising from Russia not having ratified the Cape town Convention, and the fact 
that  the whole maintenance system of foreign aircraft is just emerging in Russia, and 
is not ready to handle massive inflow of imported equipment;  

− Russian lease brokers are held back by insufficient capitalization and 
creditworthiness.  

SukhoiSuperjet 100 is more than just an aircraft, it is a multidimensional product, that 
includes full service package of aftersales support (from airline’s crew training and 
consulting to maintenance and repair of the aircraft). Full aftersales service package is 
what distinguishes SSJ 100 from any other civil aircraft, created by domestic 
manufacturers earlier, and places it at the same stage with world’s biggest aircraft 
manufacturers (Boeing, Airbus, Embraer, Bombardier). Realizing the importance of 
aftersales support system functioning, Avialeasing made a decision to set up the 
Western Ural Maintenance Repair and Overhaul Center on the basis of Bolshoje Savino 
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Airport complex. This line of activity is now undeveloped in Russia. Center’s territorial 
position, presence of suitable staff in Perm, this line of activity has far-reaching 
prospects.      

Avialeasing aims to further improve its profitability, keep up leadership in its segment, 
and to aggressively branch out into new segments by: 

- sustaining high rates of development; 

- balanced, optimized borrowing on equity and credit markets; 

- upgrading it’s corporate management; 

- closely watching and anticipating changes in the aircraft market;  

- providing the clarity of economic processes, affairs, plans, projects, programs, 
transactions in its activity; 

- generating its reporting according to IFRS with primary focus on the accuracy, 
clarity, accessibility, comparability and credibility of the financial information 
disclosed. Better quality of financial information will not only make the Company 
look better to investors, but will also allow investors and the Company’s 
management to gain a better, more detailed view of the Company’s business 
environment and financial-economic performance; 

- improving of financial information quality which contributes to investment attraction 
raise; 

- managing of substantial risks. 
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Risk Management 
The business of Avialeasing is exposed to several kinds of risk, and the ones profiled 
below are not the only risks we have to deal with. There are some other risks that we are 
either unaware of at present, or consider them insignificant, but which may come to 
affect our business in the future. 
In order to manage the risks, Experts of the Company hold a complex of activities to 
estimate all the possible risks and to carry out of commercial, financial and credit, 
production, sales and organizational activities focused on decrease of the risk level or 
on insurance. 

Credit risks 

Avialeasing assumes a certain degree of credit risk: the risk that its customer or lessee 
will not be able to pay in full and/or on time.  

To keep this risk low, we take a close look at the prospective lessee’s financial 
background, operating activity, and monitoring the above-mentioned positions of the 
lessee before the deal is made. We also keep watching all these aspects throughout 
the duration of the lease.  

Furthermore, our aircraft lease agreements contain certain provisions meant to protect 
the Company from credit risk: 

- Before the aircraft is delivered for lease, the lessee is required to post a security 
deposit, equaling to the amount of rent for a stated time period, which will be credited 
towards rent payments for the last lease months;  

- The lessor is entitled to terminate the lease if the lessee has delayed a payment for 
over a month, or has missed payments repeatedly (twice or more).  

Timely rent payments are a critical indication of the lessee’s financial health. When the 
lessee’s cash flows drop and rent payments are delayed, we have every right to 
terminate the lease. In this case, the security deposit will protect us from a cash gap 
while the aircraft change hands. This method really works, as evidenced by the major 
global lease operators. 

Foreign exchange risks 

Avialeasing is exposed to a certain risk arising from foreign exchange fluctuations, 
affecting its financial state and cash flows. To minimize this risk, the Company signs most 
of its leases in Russian Rubles, and its assets and liabilities are also denominated in RUR.  

Liquidity risk 

It is very important for Avialeasing to be able to borrow money for aircraft purchases, 
and to unfailingly serve its ongoing debt.  

In order to minimize the risks involved, the Company practices long- and short-term 
financial planning, which informs its key management decisions. Furthermore, the 
Company maintains financial reserves that are sufficient to bridge short-term working 
capital gaps or finance various projects.   

Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to a degree of risk arising from the fluctuation of market 
interest rates, affecting its financial position and cash flows. Any change, both upward 
and downward, in the cost of borrowings impacts our lease earnings.     
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When the Company needs a loan, it will always shop among several banking institutions 
to find the best offer. Our loan agreements specify a fixed interest rate that cannot be 
changed by the bank.    

Tax risks 

In accordance with the fact that Russian tax legislation not only changes rapidly, but 
also includes many ambiguities and contractions it isn't always easy for taxpayers to 
estimate the legality of the acts. Therefore, its business activity is exposed to the tax risks. 

The way of the tax reduction is the following: 

- External and internal tax audit, 

- Activity performance in connection with the standard tax acts and a 
supplement to it, 

- Employees skill, who are engaged in tax payment computation, 

- careful economic, administrative and tax legal control of every significant 
business activity, 

- careful examination of the contracts which are concluded with the partners, 

Expedient work on tax risks' exposure and prevention, reduction of their negative 
consequences. It contributes to maintenance of the company's financial security. 

Risk of damage, loss or damage of the  aerotechnics which is in company's ownership 

IN order to manage this kind of risk the Company\s fleet is insured according to its 
market value by some of the leading, highly rated aircraft insurers, such as JSC Military 
Insurance Company and JSC Insurance Company of the Gas Industry. These two 
insurance companies have been rated A++ by the Expert Rating Agency.  

Besides, the Company has a set of Standard Terms and Conditions of Insurance, 
developed with the best interest of the Company, operators and financing banks in 
mind. The Company constantly updates and improves these terms and conditions. 

Political risk 

The company is exposed to economic and political changes in Russia. 

Avialeasing finds the following actions of the state risky: 

- succesive expansion of the financial resources share, accumulated by the state; 

- reprivatization; 

- Increase of the state-owned budgetary financing share of investments into 
public sector; 

- strict control over capital export; 

- Significant expansion of business regulation volume, including the prices, 
exchange  rate, interest rate, debt limits; 

- Closing national economy for the foreign capital, limitation of residents access 
state’s ressources; 
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- Restriction of national currency changeability, full or partial transition to 
administratively established rate of exchange; 

- Issuing stimulation of economic growth. 

Industry risk 

As a provider of aircraft leases to Russian operators, Avialeasing is exposed to changes 
in Russia’s civil aviation industry. Some of the factors that may affect us are:   

- demand for air travel, 

- competition between airlines, 

- fuel prices, 

- seasonal travel pattern, 

- costs of aerotechnics maintenance, 

- airport charges, 

- costs of aerotechnics insurance, 

- international relations,  

- terror threat, 

- environmental situation in Russia and in the world, 

- state regulation of the industry, including technical requirements for aircraft and 
customs duties on aerotechnics imported into Russia, 

- competition between lease providers in aircraft leasing, 

- volume of manufactured aerotechnics.  

Our vast experience in aircraft leasing and the professional credentials of our team 
(which includes education level and track record in the industry), coupled with a 
careful situation analysis and close market watch, enable the Company to take a 
proactive course of action and all the right decisions as necessary.  

Financial crisis 

Financial crisis is a time of social strain, political risks and slowing down of the economic 
growth rate. 

Within financial crisis realizes itself system risk  -risk of losses, connected with negative 
changes at the market, caused by dominoes effect at the financial market (crisis of 
one or few financial institutes/non-financial sector companies, of a market share or 
payment system, spreading itself  step-by-step on a growing number of market shares; 
financial market crisis easily moves from one country to another) and investors 
credibility gap, creating an atmosphere of general unliquidity at the market.  

Financial crisis risks prevention and regulation are state’s most important task in setting 
up conditions for stable economical growth and saving of private assets.  
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Company corporate structure 

Chairman of the Board (President) The Board 

Deputy Chairman of the Board (Vice-president) 

Deputy Chairman of the Board (Vice-president) 

Chairman of the Committee of internal audit, 
compensations and rewards to top-management and 
board members   

General Director Accounting Dept 

IT Support 

Office 

Administration and Maintenance Dept 

Deputy GD for Legal and Corporate 
Matters 

Deputy GD for Project work 

Deputy GD for Technical Matters 

Legal Dept 

Secretarial Group 

Sales Dept 

Production and Engineering Dept 
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Corporate activities 

Equity Capital 

The equity capital of Avialeasing totaled RUR 5m as of 31 December 2008, divided into 
5,000 shares with a par value of RUR1,000.00 each. All shares are paid up; there are no 
unpaid or partially paid shares in the Company. The share equity is fully paid up. 

The Company’s charter provides limit of size of authorized shares – 50,000 ordinary 
registered shares valued RUR1,000.00 at par, total face value RUR 50,000,000.00; and 
the Company is authorized to issue any number of additional shares within the 50,000 
cap. 

Structure of the Charter  Equity as of 31 December 2008 

 Shareholder No. of shares % of charter 
equity % voting shares 

1 Ural Consulting Ltd 1,700 34 34 

2 Avia Consulting CJSC 1,650 33 33 

3 Assets CJSC 1,650 33 33 

 Total shares 5,000 100 100 
Shares issued: 

1.  Type, class, category: ordinary, registered, non-documentary shares. 

2.  Category: ordinary. 

3.  Type and class: registered, non-documentary. 

4.  Par value per share: RUR1,000.00. 

5.  No. of shares issued: 5,000. 

6.  Placement: layout of securities. 

6.1. Placement method: taken by the founding members. 

6.2. Time and order of placement of the shares issued: as of the date when the 
Company was officially registered – 25 September 2001 – all its shares had been taken 
by the founding members.  

6.3. Placing price of the shares issued: shares were placed at par value: RUR1,000.00 per 
share. 

6.4. Terms and order of payment of the shares issued: the method of payment is 
provided by money when the shares issued are acquired. 

6.5. The share issued was registered by the regional office of the Federal Securities 
Commission of Russia for the Volga District, Memo No. 275 dated of February, 25, 2002. 

6.6. Official Reg. No. of the issue: 1-01-17177-Р.  

Governance 

The Company is governed and overseen by: 

-  General Meeting of Shareholders; 
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-  The Board; 

-  General Director; 

-  Internal auditor. 

The General Meeting of Shareholders 

Voting results at the 2008 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Avialeasing. 

The following resolutions were passed at the 2008 Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, held on 31 March 2009: 

1. To ratify the 2008 Annual Report, Balance Sheet and Profit/Loss Statement of 
Avialeasing. 

2. To use the 2008 profit, totaling RUR1,696,104.91, as follows: 

- pay RUR1,282,500.00 in dividends to shareholders, representing 25.7% of the 
Company’s charter equity, at a rate of RUR257.00 per share worth RUR1,000.00 at par 
(or 25.7% p.a.); to pay out the dividends not later than 3Q2009; 

- to leave the remaining net profit in the amount of RUR 411.104.91 the Company’s 
disposal. 

3. To elect the following members of the Board: 

Vladimir Kinderknecht 

Oleg Kislukhin 

Viktor Novikov 

Sergei Sopov 

Anatoly Chudinov 

4. To elect Yulia Moskalenko the Company’s Internal Auditor. 

5. To ratify Invest-Audit Ltd. as the Company’s external auditor. 

Address: 50 Lenina Street, Perm 614000. Auditing License No. Е 004545, Reg. No. 195 
dated June, 27, 2003, issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation for the 
period of five years (License period of availability extended from 27 June 2008 till 27 
June 2013 by the Ministry of Finance Order No. 311 dated June, 11, 2008). 

The Board of Directors 

Sergei Sopov 

Year of birth: 1957.  

Education:  

Perm Higher Command Engineering College, qualification: Engineer, faculty: 
Automated Process-control System. 

Professional experience:  

He served military obligations in Armed Forces of USSR at Baikonur, he took part in 
ground testing of Rocket and Space Complex ‘Almaz’, Soviet Reusable Space 
Transportation System ‘Buran’; 
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1988 – he was a head of the first launch of the reusable space transportation system 
‘Energia-Buran’. He was a teacher of the Moscow Aviation Institute; 

1991 – he moved to Alma-Ata at the invitation of the president of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan where he established Space Research Agency of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, he was a head of utilization and conversion rocket CC18 projects, which 
are situated on the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan; 

1994 – he was appointed as a General director of State Air Space Joint Stock Company 
‘KOSKOM’ by president's decree of the  Republic of Kazakhstan, he organized the lease 
of Baikonur to the Russian Federation; 

1995 – he returned to Russia; 

1996 -1997 – he was a General director of the corporation ‘Permskie Motory’; 

1997 – 1999 – he was a Chairman of the Board of the corporation ‘Permskie Motory’;  

2001 – till now - he is a president of Avialeasing.  

He has government and state awards. 

Official position: Chairman of Directors' Board of Avialeasing. 

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 

 

Viktor Novikov  

Year of birth: 1962.  

Education:  

Gorky Perm State University, qualification: Lawyer, faculty: Legal Science; 

Moscow International Higher Business School, qualification: Economist, faculty: Finance 
and Loans. 

Additional education:  

Moscow International Higher Business School, qualification: Master of Business 
Administration, faculty: MBA – Finance; 

1993 – Academy of Banking Business and Finance on Russian-American Bank Forum 
Program (Fairfield, Connecticut, USA); 

1993 - 1995 – Advanced courses of the bank management on program of the 
Volunteer Corps by rendering services (Russia). 

Professional experience:  

He was an investigator of the procuracy, a head of the legal division, deputy chairman 
of board in bank ‘Zarija Urala’; 

1996 - 1997 – Deputy Chairman of the Directors' Board of the corporation ‘Permskie 
Motory’; 

2001- 2002 – Chairman of supervisory council of the JSC ‘Perm Bank of Development’; 
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2002 - till now – Vice-President of Avialeasing. 

Official position: Deputy Chairman of Directors' Board of Avialeasing. 

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 

 

Vladimir Kinderknekht 

Year of birth: 1950.  

Education:  

Perm Technical Institute, qualification: Engineer-mechanic, faculty: Aircraft Engines. 

Professional experience:  

1970 - he was a foreman at the Sverdlov Plant, he was a head of shop floor, deputy 
general director; 

1994 – he was appointed as a General Director of JSC ‘Permskie Motory’; 

1994-1997 – General Director of JSC ‘Permskie Motoriy’; 

1997-1999 - General Director of the corporation ‘Permskie Motory’; 

2001-2005 - General Director of Avialeasing; 

2005 – till now – Senior Vice President of Avialeasing.  

He has government and state awards. 

Official position: First Deputy Chairman of Directors' Board.  

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 

 

Anatoly Chudinov  

Year of birth: 1955.  

Education:  

Gorky Perm State University, qualification: Biologist, faculty: Biological Chemistry. 

Professional experience:  

1978 – till now – senior researcher of the ‘Perm Institute of Ecology and Microgerms' 
hygiene of the Russian Academy of Sciences’; 

1991 – he took degree of Cand. SC.[Biology]; 

2006 – Assistant Chairman of Directors' Board of Avialeasing; 

2007- Deputy General Director – Sales Director of Avialeasing. 
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Official position: Chairman of the Committee of internal audit, compensations and 
rewards to top-management and board members, member of Directors' Board of 
Avialeasing. 

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 

 

Oleg Kislukhin 

Year of birth: 1971.  

Education: 

Gorky Perm State University, qualification – Lawyer, faculty – Legal Science; 

Gorky Perm State University, qualification – Economist, faculty – Accounting, Financial 
Analysis and Audit. 

Professional experience:  

1996-2001 - Head of Legal Division of the corporation ‘Permskie Motory’; 

2001-2005 - Deputy General Director regarding Finance and Law of Avialeasing; 

2005- till now – General Director of Avialeasing. 

Official position: General Director of Avialeasing, member of Directors' Board of 
Avialeasing. 

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 

 

The Board administers general governance of the Company. Five members are elected 
to the Board every year by the annual General Meeting of Shareholders, as required by 
Russian companies’ law and the Company’s Charter.  

There were no changes in the lineup of the Board during the period reported. 
According to the results of the voting, which took part on annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, the recent Board membership was reelected.  

The Board held 12 meetings by attendance in 2008 to discuss current financial and 
business affairs of the Company, review its interim and final financial showings, address 
the issues of aircraft sale and continuing airworthiness, and discuss business 
development ideas. The Board also reviewed current economic realities and, based on 
that, mapped out the Company’s business priorities and addressed other relevant 
issues within its reference.  

 

General Director 

The General Director manages the Company’s current activities.  

 

Internal Auditor 
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Yulia Moskalenko 

Year of birth: 1980.  

Education:  

Perm Institute of Moscow State Commerce University, qualification: Economist, faculty: 
Accounting and Control; 

Ural State Economics University (Ekaterinburg), qualification: Economist, faculty: 
National Economics. 

Additional Education:  

ACCA- The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (DipIFR (Rus)), programme: 
Preparation of financial data reporting on IFRS’;   

2008 – diploma DipIFR (Rus) ACCA. 

Professional experience:  

2000 - 2001 – Wholesale-retail Trading Company, official position - Accountant; 

2001-2002 -  Repair-Building Company ‘Quadro Ltd’, official position – Chief 
Accountant; 

2003 – CJSC IFC Avialeasing – accountant, deputy chief accountant. In 2004 she was 
appointed as an internal auditor. 

Official position: Deputy Chief Accountant. 

Share in the issuer’s charter equity: none. Share in issuer’s ordinary stock: none. 
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Information for Shareholders 

In 2008 the Company continued developing as the traditional activity direction 
concerning Tu-154M type lease, so the new direction – the lease of a new regional 
domestic aircrafts Sukhoi Superjet 100 (Sukhoi Superjet 100 project).    

For the purpose of this project development, significant joint work with the product 
engineer and producer was conducted. As a result the Letter of agreement which 
reflected aircraft delivery key conditions (preliminary contract) with CJSC Sukhoi Civil 
Aircraft was undertaken in July 2008.   

The Company is intended to purchase 24 aircrafts within the framework of contract 
principal delivery. The aircrafts Sukhoi Superjet 100 are purchased for the purpose to 
lease them to the airlines. Therefore, the Company has started joint work with potential 
lessees, in particular with UTair Airlines, concerning delivery terms and conditions 
agreement.  

The transaction is significant on both parameters: the amount of aircrafts which the 
Company purchases and the financial investments. For this reason scrupulous 
elaboration of each transaction point is held, variants and conditions of additional 
sources of funds are examined.      

Under the project Sukhoi Superjet 100 implementation on the Perm region territory, 
Avialeasing addressed to the Perm region Government in December 2008 with 
legislative initiative concerning preferential tax treatment introduction for the 
companies specializing in aviation lease. The Company has suggested fixing transport 
and property tax rates at a level of rates in other constituent entities in Russia where the 
main Company’s  competitors function, in order to improve competitive strength as 
Company’s in particular so Perm region’s in general. For the purpose of the 
comprehensive decision elaboration the working group was formed on the base of 
Perm region’s Government. The activities in this direction will be continued in 2009. 

In the reported period as a part of ongoing agreement between Avialeasing and UTair 
concerning aircrafts supply to UTair Airlines, Tu-154B air frame Hull No. 85557 was took 
out of service in September 2008, and later off-loaded. In October 2008 Tu-154B air 
frame Hull No.85550 was took out of service and later off-loaded.      

In 2008 the Company continued working under its previous projects: purchases of a 
D30-KU-154 aircraft engine and ТА-6А power plant in the frame of Company securing 
obligations to continue airworthiness of the aircrafts, according to the contracts 
conditions. In order to form the reserve the Company purchased aircraft engines as 
after overhaul so worked-out in order to conduct the overhaul. Therefore, in 2008 the 
Company agreed and signed a long-term contract with JSC Saturn scientific-
production association toward engine delivery and repair.  

The schedule replacement of worked-out aircraft engines was held. Worn aircraft 
engines were replaced with new ones, either purchased by Avialeasing, or rented from 
JSC Urals Civil Aviation Factory. Worn-out engines that were not suitable for further use 
were sold in order to be utilized.  

The part of loan was repaid in October 2008. The loan had been borrowed in Zapadno-
Uralsky Bank of Sberbank of the Russian Federation for the purpose to purchase the 
aircraft Tu-154M Hull No. 85789. The loan sum comes to RUR115,000,000. The total sum of 
bullet payment before maturity amounted RUR27,000,000.       
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Insurance policies were taken out in 2008 for aircraft with Hull No. 85557, 85550, 85789, 
85013, 85016, 85018, 85681, 85056 and 85069. The policies were contracted from JSC 
Military Insurance Company and JSC Insurance Association of Gas Industry (aircraft Hull 
No.85789). 

The above agreements and policies are the kinds of transactions the Company 
performs in the ordinary course of its business.  

No other transactions were performed in the year reported that would qualify as ‘major 
transactions’ under the Federal Companies Act. All transactions involving personal 
interest, completed by the Company during the year reported, received prior approval 
of the General Meeting of Shareholders of Avialeasing.    

In September 2008 the Sverdlovskiy District Inspection of RF Federal Tax Service began 
the complex field audit in the Company. The separate subdivisions were audited in 
parallel concerning the accuracy of tax computation and prompt payment of taxes 
and dues: income tax, added-value tax, transport tax, land-value tax, property tax, 
individual income tax, consolidated social tax, and insurance contributions to 
compulsory pension insurance over a period 2005-2007 included. As of 31 December 
2008 the tax inspection did not come to an end. 

In October 2008 Expert RA Rating Agency conferred Avialeasing B+ rating (sufficient 
level of reliability). According to Expert RA opinion the following issues influenced rating 
positively: the Company’s leading positions in the segment of Tu-154 (different 
modifications) lease (the aircrafts are delivered to the clients under the conditions of 
complete airworthiness); long-term partnership with UTair Airlines; close collaboration 
with broad spectrum of suppliers; positive credit score. 
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Auditor’s Report on 
2008 Audit of Investment Financial Company 
‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company 

Perm         23-27 March 2009 
In accordance with the powers vested in her by the Charter of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ 
CJSC, the Company’s Internal Auditor Y. Moskalenko performed an annual audit of the financial records and 
business affairs of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC for the period from 1 January to 31 
December 2008. The audit was held from 23 to 27 March 2008.   
The Company’s executives during the period audited were: 
- CEO: O. Kislukhin, General Director; 
- CFO: Ya. Gorodko, Chief Accountant. 
The financial accounting records, reflected in Balance sheet, were examined for accuracy and compliance with 
the applicable Russian law.   
The audit drew on the auditor’s report of Invest-Audit Ltd. (License No. Е004545 dated 27 June 2003), primary 
accounting documentation and accounting policy valid in 2008. 
Company’s financial (accounting) statement consists of: 

-Balance sheet (Blank No.1); 
-Profit and loss statement (Blank No.2); 
-Statement of changes in equity(Blank No.3); 
-Cashflow statement(Blank No.4); 
-Appendixes to Balance sheet (Blank No.5); 
-Memorandum. 

The auditor found no evidence of material irregularity or misstatement that could materially affect the accuracy 
of the annual Balance Sheet or Profit/Loss Statement of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC, 
according the level of materiality which is adopted in the Company. The Company’s financial accounting and 
reporting conforms to the applicable accounting standards and practices, and gives a fair view of the 
Company’s financial and business transactions.  
Sale proceeds from the main business (after VAT) totaled RUR330,991,000.00. 
Other income: RUR3,598.00, including: 

-bank interest: RUR1,098,000.00, 
-value of materials after disposal: RUR1,424,000.00, 
-income of prior years RUR1,060,000.00. 

Other expenses: RUR102,573,000.00, including: 
-property tax: RUR10,786,000.00, 
-transport tax: RUR13,764,000.00, 
-interest on bills of exchange: RUR5,294,000.00, 
-interest on bank loans: RUR68,123,000.00, 
-fees for credit facilities: RUR3,173,000.00, 
-losses of previous years: RUR953,000.00. 

Consequently, profit before tax, earned during the year reported, totaled RUR11,771,000.00.  
Net profit for 2008 amounted: RUR1,696,000.00. 
Net profit reduced in 2008 in comparison with 2007. The key reason is the tax burden strengthening: the transport 
tax introduction and income tax growth.   
The Auditor examined certain financial transactions for compliance with the applicable Russian law, so as to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the Company’s financial statements are free from material misstatement or 
error. 
Opinion: 
1. The audit revealed that the accounting records and financial statements of Investment Financial 
Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC and the Company’s financial transactions are in conformity with the applicable 
Russian laws in force in 2008.   
2. The audit gave the sufficient grounds to form an opinion and give reasonable assurance that the 
amounts and disclosures in the Company’s 2007 Annual Report and annual financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the Company’s affairs that year. 
3. The Shareholders’ Meeting is advised to ratify the Annual Report and annual financial statements of 
Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC for the year 2007. 
 
Auditor:    Y.V. Moskalenko 
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Staff. HR Policy. Corporate Ethics and Customs 

Staff 

As of 31 December 2008 the Company employed 56 employees; 57% of employees 
were under 40 years of old. The quantity of those who have higher vocational 
education increased and amounted 67% of total number of employees.  

Staff categories 
Staff category Number of employees % 

Administrators 15 27 

Specialists 26 46 

Support staff 15 27 

Staff educational level 
Educational level Number of employees % 

2 university-level degrees + 
additional international 
education 

1 2 

2 university-level degrees  5 8 

Higher vocational degree 33 59 

Incomplete vocational degree 1 2 

Secondary vocational diploma 10 18 

Secondary  7 13 

Staff age 
Age Number of employees % 

20 to 30  14 25 

30 to 40 18 32 

40 to 50 13 23 

Over 50  11 20 

HR Policy 

The human resources policy and HR management at Avialeasing focus on staff search, 
hiring, training, motivation system improvement and corporate culture development. 

The Company has recently expended its staff as its business grew. The headhunting was 
conducted among both entry-level and experienced candidates. The employee 
screening implies testing basic proficiency in the relevant fields, previous relevant 
experience, linguistic skills, active life philosophy, commitment to result and the desire to 
grow and improve professionally. More than 300 candidates in 12 months were 
screened, 5 of them were hired on a full time basis. All new employees were found by 
way of direct search. 
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The Company’s commitment to human resources development has paid off: the team 
augmented with top-notch professionals who played a great role in Company’s major 
projects and formulating further business development priorities last year. 

Corporate ethics and customs 

At Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC, the corporate culture is viewed 
as a critical component of growth.    

The Company propagates a system of corporate ethics that follows the generally 
accepted standards and best practice of ethical business, supported by the 
appropriate internal policies and procedures, conduct and dress code for employees, 
and an environment conducive to each employee doing his or her best job.    

Taking into account unpredictable economic situation in general and in the sphere 
where the Company functions in particular, Avialeasing focused on business processes 
overview, elaboration, implementation and optimization.   

Another important element of corporate culture is employee professional improvement. 
Several Avialeasing employees attended training courses and workshops in Russia and 
abroad in 2008. Thus, the employees participated in the following workshops: ‘How to 
purchase the aircraft’, ‘Continuing airworthiness and aftersales service of the aviation 
technology’, ‘Business jet purchase and exploitation’, ‘Complicated accounting issues: 
the decision making technology in nonstandard situations’.         

Seven Avialeasing employees continued earning second university-level degree. 

Avialeasing maintains the tradition of seasonal outdoor adventure travel for its 
employees. In 2008, employees rafted down the Ural rivers: Chanva and Yaiva Rivers. It 
was a challenging, team-building experience.  
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Subsidiaries and Rep Offices 

With its vast business geography, Avialeasing frequently needs its employees to be 
present in many parts of Russia. In some regions, Moscow, for instance, the need for 
such presence is constant due to a large concentration of civil aviation regulators, 
support services and airline offices.  

Therefore, the rep office was set up in Moscow. The job creation in this entity made the 
resolution of the issues process more dynamic and efficient thanks to the personal 
attendance of employees. 

Moreover, for the purpose of the regional jet project development, the Company 
established a 100% owned subsidiary Avialeasing – Regional Jets CJSC (Moscow) in 
2007. 

In 2008 the Avialeasing – Regional Jets Express CJSC was set up by the Company as 
another 100% owned subsidiary. New Company was established in Sochi in order to 
execute new project devoted to business aviation development.  However, taking in 
account changed economic situation, the top-management of the Company made a 
decision to refocus activity direction on service center establishment in Perm. The 
center was assigned to render maintenance and repair services to aviation technique 
in general and Sukhoi Superjet 100 in particular.   

Therefore, subsidiary Avialeasing Regional Jets Express was reoriented for new business; 
the location was changed for Perm; documents of association and subsidiary title 
corrected. The title was chosen in order to reflect Company specialization - Western-Ural 
Maintenance Repair & Overhaul Center CJSC. 

  

http://www.multitran.ru/c/m.exe?t=2662100_1_2�
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FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE COMPANY 

Consolidated Financial Statements of IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC Group 
Auditor's opinion Of Invest-Audit Ltd. Auditing firm 

оn the results of the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
оf investment financial Сompany ‘Аvialeasing’ CJSC, 

prepared according to ifrs requirements for the year ending on December 31, 2008. 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ 
CJSC (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’) and of its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as ‘the 
Group’), as of December 31, 2008, attached hereto. The Report attached hereto consists of the 
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated profit and loss statement, consolidated statement of change in 
equity, and consolidated cash flow statement for the year ending on the said date, and the brief summary 
of main inventories of the accounting policy, and other explanatory notes. 
The management of the Company is responsible for preparation of the financial statements 
The management of the Company is responsible for preparation and authentic submission of the said 
financial statements according to the International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility 
includes the development, introduction and maintenance of an internal control system required for 
preparation and authentic submission of financial statements containing no material misrepresentations 
caused by unfair actions or errors, the choice and application of a corresponding accounting policy, and 
the use of estimations reasonable in the existing circumstances. 
Auditor's responsibility  
Information about Auditor: Invest-Audit Ltd., Address: 504 off., 50, Lenina str., Perm, 614099. Auditing License 
No. Е004545 dated June, 27, 2003, issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation for the period 
of five years (License period of availability extended from 27 June 2008 till 27 June 2013 by the Ministry of 
Finance Order No. 311 dated June, 11, 2008). 
Our responsibility consists of expressing our opinion based on audit considering set financial statements. We 
conducted the audit according to the International Auditing Standards. These standards imply the 
adherence of the applicable ethical standards, as well as planning and conducting an audit so that to 
obtain reasonable confidence that the financial statements do not contain material misstatement. 
The audit includes procedures aimed to obtain auditing evidence, which confirm the numerical data and 
disclosures, contained in the financial statements. The choice of procedures depends on our judgment 
based on the risk of material misstatements estimation caused by unfair actions or errors. In the course of 
this risk estimation, the Auditor examines an internal control system, which provides preparation and faithful 
representation of financial statements, with the purpose of choosing appropriate auditing procedures, but 
not with the purpose of expressing any opinion as to efficiency of this internal control system. The audit also 
includes an assessment of the accounting principles used, and of the reasonability of the estimated 
parameters obtained by management, as well as an assessment of financial statements presentation in 
general. 
Opinion of the Independent Auditors 
We believe that the evidence obtained in the course of the audit gives us sufficient grounds to express our 
opinion as to specified financial statements. 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statement attached hereto reflects authentically in all material 
aspects the consolidated financial state of the Group as of December 31, 2007, as well as the consolidated 
results of its activity and the consolidated cash flows for the year ending on the said date, according to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
E.A. Churin 
General Director  
Invest-Audit Ltd.  
10.04.2008 
Seal:  
INVEST-AUDIT  
Limited Liability Company 
Perm 
Russian Federation 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

 Assets Notes 2008  2007  

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 32 256 15 106 

Accounts receivable  6 39 027 90 912 

Provisions for doubtful accounts 6 0 (1 367) 

Inventories  7 413 0 

Short-term financial investments 8 30 0 

Current assets, total  
 

71 726 104 651 

Non-current assets 

Long-term receivables 6 4 446 0 

Long-term financial investments 8 10 557 10 587 

Fixed assets and construction in progress 9 428 
853 542 762 

Intangible assets 10 70 16 

Non-current assets, total 
 

443 
926 553 365 

Assets, total 
 

515 
652 658 016 

Liabilities and Capital  

Liabilities 

Short-term liabilities 

   Loans and credits 11 140 
586 167 531 

   Accounts payable 11 1 704 621 

   Tax liabilities 11 17 995 3 803 

   Other creditors 11 4 792 7 909 

Short-term liabilities, total 
 

165 
077 179 864 

Long-term liabilities 

   Loans and credits 11 302 433 963 
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563 

   Deferred income tax liability  11 2 647 2 555 

   Other creditors 11 27 353 24 330 

Long-term liabilities, total 
 

332 
563 460 848 

Liabilities, total 
 

497 
640 640 712 

Capital 

   Equity capital 12 5 000 5 000 

   Reserve capital 12 250 250 

   Retained profit (loss) 
 

12 762 12 054 

Capital, total 
 

18 012 17 304 

Liabilities and Capital, total 
 

515 
652 658 016 

Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement  

for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles)  

Parameter Note 2008  2007 

Proceeds 13 324 180 252 219 

Cost price 13 (161 751) (131 616) 

Gross profit 
 

162 429 120 603 

Selling costs 14 (13 650) (5 774) 

Administrative costs 14 (43 159) (34 688) 

Other operating income 15 7 998 73 158 

Other operating expenses 15 (25 683) (76 463) 

Operating income 
 

87 935 76 836 

Other income 16 1 189 1 206 

Other expenditures 16 (76 967) (70 410) 

Profit/loss before tax 
 

12 157 7 632 

Current profit tax 17 (10 075) (866) 

Deferred profit tax income/loss 
 

(92) (1 051) 

Net profit 
 

1 990 5 715 
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Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity  

for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles)  

Parameter Equity capital 

Reserve formed 
according to 

Russian Federation 
legislation 

Retained 
profits Total 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2006 5 000 250 7 619 12 869 

Profit for 2007 - - 5 715 5 715 

Dividends (note 19) - - (1 280) (1 280) 

Dividends per share 
  

0.25 0.25 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2007 5 000 250 12 054 17 304 

Profit for 2008 - - 1 990 1 990 

Dividends (note 19) - - (1 282) (1 282) 

Dividends per share 
  

0.25 0.25 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2008 5 000 250 12 762 18 012 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  

for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

Parameter Note 2008  2007 

Cash flow from operating activity       

Cash assets received from buyers and 
customers   388 754 397 079 

Other income   18 501 881 

Cash assets allocated towards:   (141 698) (166 646) 

   payment for goods, job, services and 
other      current assets        (65 988) (118 309) 

   payment for labour   (27 618) (20 881) 

   payment of dividends    (1 167) (1 165) 

   payment of taxes and fees    (42 593) (14 138) 

   covering other expenses   (4 332) (12 153) 

Net cash assets from operating activity   265 557 231 314 

Cash flow from investment activity   
  

Proceeds from financial and non-current 
assets sale   1 643 1 253 

Proceeds from securities sale and other 
financial investments    350 24 000 

Interests earned   1 045 201 

Purchase of non-current assets, interest-
bearing investments in tangible assets   (16 849) (529 417) 

Purchase of securities and other financial 
investments   (450) (31 816) 

Net cash flow from investment activity   (14 261) (535 779) 

Cash flow from financial activity   
  

Credit and loan obtaining   794 464 389 

Repayment of credits and loans (without 
interests)   (163 264) (77 838) 

Interest expenses on credits and loans    (71 676) (71 672) 

Net cash assets from financial activity   (234 146) 314 878 

Net increment of cash and cash   17 150 10 413 
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equivalents 

Cash assets and equivalent thereof at the 
beginning of the period 5 15 106 4 693 

Cash assets and equivalent thereof at the 
end of the period 5 32 256 15 106 
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Notes to Consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 

1.  Basics of the financial statements preparation  

The consolidated financial statements attached hereto have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), including all 
standards and interpretations of the International Accounting Standards Committee 
adopted previously, for the period ending on December 31, 2008, in the functional 
currency – Russian rubles, with rounding up to thousands rubles.  

2.  The accounting policy principles 

These principles were consistently applied by the companies of the Group (Principles of 
consolidation) in respect to all periods presented in the statements, unless otherwise 
provided therein (note 4). 

The consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by the parent company. The 
consolidated financial statements include data on the financial state of the companies 
of the Group: the parent company – IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC, and the subsidiaries – 
Avialeasing – Regional Jets CJSC and Western-Ural Maintenance Repair & Overhaul Center 
CJSC, where the parent company holds 100% of the voting stocks and which are under 
its control. 

The subsidiary Avialeasing – Regional Jets CJSC is a special purpose company formed 
for the performance of a narrow and clearly determined task: implementation of 
projects on purchase and rent (lease) of regional aircraft. Establishment date: 
November 22, 2007. 

The subsidiary Western-Ural Maintenance Repair & Overhaul Center CJSC was created in order 
to support the project Sukhoi Superjet 100 implementation. Establishment date: August, 8, 2008. 

The minority stake is absent whereas the parent Company carries out 100% control over 
subsidiaries.  

Assets, liabilities, capitals, profits and losses of the consolidated companies are 
summarized by line-items. 

All turnovers, balances, as well as unrealized profits and losses within the Group are 
excluded when consolidating. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include: cash; call deposits; high liquidity financial 
investments with a term of maturity not exceeding three months. 

Limited use funds 

Funds, on use of which there have been imposed any restrictions for a period 
exceeding three months, are excluded from the structure of cash and cash 
equivalents, and are taken into account in the structure of other non-current assets. 

Accounts receivable are reflected at the actual value excluding provisions for doubtful 
accounts. Provision for doubtful accounts is calculated in accordance with the 
probability of repayment of the accounts receivable for each debt individually, having 
objective data that a receipt of the amount owing to be paid-off according to the 

Accounts receivable; provision for doubtful accounts 
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initial terms of an agreement may fail. 

No follow-up estimation of accounts receivable is conducted. 

Inventories 

Inventories are the assets: 

-  intended for selling in the course of normal activity; 

-  in the form of raw materials or supplies, intended for rendering of service. 

Inventories are evaluated at the least of two values: cost price or possible net 
liquidation value. 

The cost price of inventories includes all expenses for purchase and processing, and 
other expenses incurred with the purpose of bringing inventories to their current state 
and to the place of their current location. 

A retail price method is used for determination of the cost price of inventories. 

After sale, the balance value of such inventories is recognized as expenses in that 
period, when corresponding proceeds are recognized. 

Financial investments 

Financial investments are classified into two categories:  

1)  securities to be stored till maturity; 

2)  securities available for selling.  

Securities to be stored till maturity are financial instruments, which the Company is 
going and able to store till maturity thereof. All other securities are considered to be 
securities available for selling. 

Financial investments are attributed to an appropriate category at the moment of 
purchase thereof.  

Initial recognition of any financial investment is carried out at the actual costs (note 3).  

No follow-up evaluation of financial investments is carried out. 

If there are objective data, evidencing that receipt of the amount owing to be paid-off 
according to the initial terms of an agreement may fail, a provision for depreciation of 
such financial investment is formed.  

Initial recognition of fixed assets is carried out at the actual cost, which includes the  

Fixed assets 

Material assets with a value of more than 20,000 Russian rubles, which: 

-  are used for manufacture or delivery of goods and services, for leasing to other 
companies, or for administrative purposes;  

-  are supposed to be used during more than one period; 

are considered to be fixed assets. 
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purchase price (taking into account import duties and non-reimbursable purchase tax, 
excluding discounts and returns), as well as any direct expenses for bringing an asset in 
a operating condition for a proper use.  

In connection with different determination of a useful economic life for aircraft, aviation 
engines and auxiliary power-plants (hereinafter referred to as APU), an airplane (glider), 
aviation engines and APU are considered as separate inventory objects. 

The following groups of fixed assets are specified in accounting:  

-  motor vehicles (including cars); 

-  aircraft (including airplanes (gliders), aviation engines, and APU); 

-  buildings (including the office);  

-  other fixed assets (including furniture, office equipment, etc.). 

The costs of prolongation of a life-time of gliders, airplanes, aviation engines, and APU 
(in accordance with signed contracts with lessees) are taken into account, as they 
arise. 

The costs of fixed assets overhaul (if reasonable from the economic point of view), 
including replacement of large components of fixed assets, are capitalized (with 
simultaneous discard of a replaced component). If the economical practicality for 
overhaul is absent the decision about further running of this fixed asset is taken on 
individual basis.    

The costs of current repairs and current maintenance of fixed assets are considered as 
they arise. 

After initial recognition as an asset, a fixed asset is considered at its initial cost excluding 
the accumulated depreciation and the losses accrued from depreciation. 

A test for diminution of value (revealing attributes of possible depreciation) of fixed 
assets is carried out at the reporting date: December 31.   

Attributes of possible diminution of value: the market value of a fixed asset reduced 
during a period by an essentially more significant value, than it was possible to expect 
after a lapse of time or normal use; the essential changes with negative consequences 
for the company took place during a period or are expected in the nearest future in 
the technological, market, economic or legal environments, in which the organization 
exists, or at the market, for which such fixed asset is intended; there are evidence of 
obsolescence of or physical damage of the fixed assets, etc. 

External (evaluation reports prepared by a professional appraiser) and internal 
(accounting documentation) sources of information are considered in the course of 
revealing attributes of diminution of value. 

The Company estimates the refundable value of an asset (highest of the two values: 
the fair value of an asset, excluding the costs for sale thereof, or the importance of 
operation thereof), if any attribute of diminution of value are revealed. 

The diminution of value of the fixed asset is stated, when its balance value exceeds its 
refundable value. 

The loss from diminution of value is recognized in the profit and loss statement. 
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The loss from diminution of value, recognized in previous periods concerning of a fixed 
asset, is a subject of reversal if (and only if) a change in the evaluations used for 
determination of the refundable value of such asset has taken place since the moment 
of recognition of the last loss from diminution of value. In that case, the balance value 
of a fixed asset (except where the balance value of an asset, increased due to reversal 
of the loss from diminution of value, cannot exceed the balance value, which would 
have been determined (less depreciation) if no loss had been recognized for the assets 
during the preceding years) is a subject to increasing to its refundable value. This 
increase is a reversal of the loss from diminution of value. 

Reversal of the loss from diminution of value is recognized in the profit and loss 
statement. 

A useful operation life means a period during which the company expects to use an 
asset (note 3). 

Depreciation charges are accrued using a straight-line charge since the month of 
putting a fixed asset into operation till the month of termination of recognition of such 
fixed asset.  

The overhaul and maintenance of an asset do not exclude the necessity of 
depreciation thereof. 

Depreciation charges for each period are recognized as costs in the profit and loss 
statement.  

After recognition of the loss reversal from diminution of value, depreciation charges for 
an asset are corrected for future periods to distribute the changed balance value of an 
asset (excluded its liquidating value (if any)) on a regular basis over the remaining 
period of its useful operation. 

The liquidating value and the period of useful operation of a fixed asset are revised at 
the end of each fiscal year (December 31), and if the current expectations differ from 
the estimations made previously, such changes are reflected in accounting as a 
change in the educated estimates. 

If the Company acts as a lessor of aircraft (gliders), the income is reflected in the profit 
and loss statement using a method of actual data (actual run of each glider is taken 
into account), as well as evenly during the term of lease, depending on the terms of the 

Operating lease 

The lease of fixed assets (aircraft and equipment) is the core operating activity. 

The lease is classified as operating if it does not result in an essential transfer of all risks 
and benefits related to possession. 

If the Company acts as a lessee of aviation engines, the amount of rental payments is 
reflected in the profit and loss statement using a method of actual data (actual 
operating time of each aviation engine is taken into consideration). 

If the Company acts as a lessee of other property, the amount of rental payments is 
reflected in the profit and loss statement evenly during the term of lease. 

If the Company acts as a lessor of aviation engines, the income is reflected in the profit 
and loss statement using a method of actual data (actual operating time of each 
aviation engine is taken into account). 
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transaction. 

The costs, including amortization costs, incurred for obtaining rental income, are 
included in the structure of costs.  

If operating lease is terminated prior to expiration of the term of validity thereof, 
payments being the amounts of penalties and forfeits due to the lessor are reflected as 
income in the period, in which the operating lease was terminated. 

Goodwill  

Goodwill is the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of net assets 
purchased. Goodwill for a segment of activity acquired is determined at the date of 
acquisition thereof. Goodwill is not depreciated; instead, a test for diminution of value is 
carried out annually. 

Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is a identified non-monetary asset, which does not have any 
physical form (an asset may be separated from the organization for subsequent sale, 
transfer, licensing, lease or exchange thereof, either individually, or together with a 
relevant contract, asset or obligation; or an asset arises from contractual or other legal 
rights, irrespective of whether such rights are transferable or separable from such 
organization or other rights and duties).  

Initial recognition of intangible assets is carried out at their actual cost, which includes: 
purchase price (including import duties and non-reimbursable taxes on purchase 
excluded trade discounts), as well as any direct costs of bringing an asset into a 
operation condition for proper use.  

After initial recognition, an intangible asset is considered at the cost price, excluded 
depreciation accrued (intangible assets with a limited useful operation period) and any 
losses accrued from diminution of value (intangible assets with an uncertain useful 
operation period). 

Regarding intangible assets with an uncertain useful operation period, a test for 
depreciation is carried out annually (on December 31), by analogy with fixed assets.  

Intangible assets with a fixed useful operation period are depreciated during their useful 
operation period with linear method application.  

The costs connected with current operation of intangible assets are reflected in the 
structure of costs at the moment of arising thereof. 

All other liabilities are classified as long-term debt.  

Accounts payable, loans and credits 

Bank credits and other borrowed assets are reflected as of the moment of delivery of 
funds or other assets by counterparties to the Company. 

The goods purchase and services usage result in accounts payable arising.  

All debts are classified into short-term (supposed to be covered within 12 months from 
the reporting date) and long-term.  

Short-term debts are debts to permanent contractors, costs of labour, other operating 
costs which constitute a part of working capital.  
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Profit tax 

Financial statements reflect the costs of taxation according to the current Russian 
Federation legislation requirements, using tax rates and legislative standards being or 
having actually come into effect at the reporting date.  

According to the Russian Federation tax legislation, the current profit tax rate is equal to 
24%, including: to the federal budget of the RF – 6.5%, to the entity budget (Perm 
Region) – 17.5%.  

Regarding the regional level in accordance with the Russian Federation legislation, if 
income for a reporting (tax) period exceeds one hundred thousand rubles (RUR 
100,000), the Company has a right to apply the profit tax rate payable to budget of an 
entity of the RF (Perm Region) equal to 13.5%.  

The costs of profit tax include current tax payments and deferred tax, and are reflected 
in the profit and loss statement. 

The current profit tax means an amount of profit tax payable (reimbursable) in respect 
of taxable profits (the loss considered for taxation purposes) for a period. 

The deferred tax liabilities mean amounts of profit tax payable in future periods in 
connection with taxable temporary differences. 

The deferred tax assets mean amounts of profit tax to be compensated in future 
periods in connection with deductible temporary differences. 

The deferred profit tax is calculated by comparison of the assets and liabilities 
according to tax records with the assets and liabilities according to IFRS. 

4)  Insurance contributions to the Social Insurance Fund of the RF under obligatory 
social insurance against accidents at the place of production and occupational 
diseases. Object of taxation: payments and other compensations in favor of individuals 
working under labour contracts. The rate is fixed every year depending on the class of 
professional risk. It is reflected in the structure of administration costs under the 
‘Payment for labour, with allocations’ line-item. 

Other taxes 

Apart from the profit tax, there are a lot of other taxes in Russia, the object of taxation 
of which is the sale of goods (work, services) or quantitative indicators. Other taxes 
include: 

1)  Property tax. Object of taxation: movable and immovable property considered on 
the balance sheet as fixed assets in accordance with the established procedure of 
accounting. It is reflected in the structure of the other operating costs under the ‘Taxes, 
state duties’ line-item. 

2)  Transport tax. Object of taxation: vehicles registered in an established order in 
accordance with the RF legislation. The rates are graduated depending on the tax 
base and the kind of a vehicle. It is reflected in the structure of other operating costs 
under the ‘Taxes, state duties’ line-item. 

3)  Unified social tax. Object of taxation: payments and other compensations in favor 
of individuals under labour and civil-law contracts for performance of work or rendering 
of service. It is reflected in the structure of administration costs under the ‘Payment for 
labour, with allocations’ line-item. 
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5)  Value-added tax. Object of taxation: disposal of goods, work, or services.  

6)  Custom duties. 

7)  Other rates and state duties. They are reflected in the structure of the other 
operating costs under the ‘Taxes, state duties’ line-item. 

Dividends 

The dividends reflect distribution of profits among the owners of the equity capital, pro 
rata to their interests therein.  

The dividends are recognized in the period, in which they are declared.  

The dividends, declared after the date of execution of the financial statement and/or 
before approval of the financial statements, are reflected in a note as events after the 
reporting date.  

Dividend payment and profit distribution are carried out from net profit for the current 
year reflected in the accounts prepared in accordance with the RF legislation. 

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 

A provision is a subject of recognition when (and only when) the Company has a 
current legal or actual liability to transfer any economic benefits, which has arisen in 
connection with previous events, and where there is probability that repayment of the 
liability will result in outflow of resources constituting economic benefit, and also where 
the amount of such liability may be reliably determined. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset arising in connection with previous events, the 
existence of which will be confirmed only upon occurrence or failure to occur of one or 
several uncertain future events not being completely under the Company's control. 

A contingent liability is a possible liability arising in connection with previous events, the 
existence of which will be confirmed only upon occurrence or failure to occur of one or 
several uncertain future events not being completely under the Company's control, or 
a current liability, which has arisen in connection with previous events and has not been 
recognized due to low probability of withdrawal of resources constituting economic 
benefit in connection with settlement thereof, or impossibility to determine reliably the 
amount of such liability. 

Information on provisions, contingent assets and liabilities is disclosed in an appendix to 
financial statements. 

− The events, that  confirm the existence of the condition for accounting date 
(correcting events after accounting date); 

Events occurring after reporting date 

Events occurring after reporting date – these are events, both positive and negative, 
that occur during the period between the accounting date and the date when 
financial report is approved for publication. 

They include: 

− The events that prove conditions which have arisen after the accounting date 
(not correcting events after accounting date). 
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Income and costs 

Income is classified as follows: 

-  proceeds (income received from the Company's core operating activity); 

-  other operating income (income from sale of securities, goods, etc.); 

-  other income (exchange differences, bank interests, fines, penalties, etc.). 

Costs include: 

-  cost price (depreciation of aircraft, depreciation of aviation engines, insurance of 
aircraft, costs of evaluation thereof, costs of services directly connected with aircraft 
and aviation engines); 

-  selling costs (business traveling costs, costs for advertising, expenses of 
representation, costs of a workplace in Moscow keeping); 

-  administration costs; 

-  other operating costs (taxes, levies and duties, costs of purchase of goods and 
securities, costs of writing-off fixed assets, costs of provisions for depreciation of assets, 
etc.); 

-  other costs (exchange differences, interests under credits and loans, costs of credits, 
fines, penalties, etc.). 

Foreign currencies revaluation 

The functional currency of the Company is the currency of main operating 
environment, where the Company functions.  

The functional currency of the Company is the national currency of the RF – Russian 
ruble. 

The cash assets and liabilities in a foreign currency are recalculated into the functional 
currency according to the official exchange rate fixed by the RF Central Bank at the 
corresponding reporting date. 

Exchange differences are included in the income and costs of revaluation of foreign 
currencies. 

An exchange difference being a result of calculations under operations in a foreign 
currency is included in the profit and loss statement at the exchange rate in forced at 
the date of such operation. 

Netting 

Financial assets and liabilities are subject of netting, and a net value is reflected in the 
balance only in the cases when there is a legislatively established right to effect netting 
of reflected amounts, as well as an intention either to effect netting, or to 
simultaneously sell the asset and to settle the liability. 

The costs of payments for employees' labour, annual paid vacations, bonuses, dismissal 
pays and other payments are calculated as relevant services are provided by the 

Compensations to employees 
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employees of the Company, and are included in the structure of administration costs.  
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3.  Important estimations and professional opinions concerning accounting policy 
application 

The Company makes estimations and assumptions, which influence on the amounts of 
assets and liabilities reflected in accounts for the next financial year. Estimations and 
assumptions are continuously analyzed on the basis of data of previous periods and 
other factors, including expectations in respect to future events, which, in the 
management's opinion, are reasonable in the current circumstances. The management 
also uses professional opinions and estimations in the course of application of the 
accounting policy. Professional opinions, which render most essential influence on the 
amounts reflected in financial statements, and estimations, which may results in 
essential corrections of the balance value of assets and liabilities during the next fiscal 
year, include: 

1)  Determination of a useful operation life of the aircraft 

A useful operation life for Tu-154B aircraft is determined taking into account: 

-  date of production;  

-  term of a rent (leasing) contract; 

-  assigned life fixed for each aircraft by the Federal Service for Supervision in the 
Sphere of Transport of the RF Ministry of Transport; 

-  Decision No. 5.9-15GA considering the terms of determination of an assigned life for  
Tu-154B airplanes, approved by the Federal Service for Supervision in the Sphere of 
Transport of the RF Ministry of Transport.  

A useful operation life for Tu-154M aircraft is determined taking into account: 

-  date of production;  

-  term of a rent (leasing) contract; 

-  assigned life fixed for each aircraft by the Federal Service for Supervision in the 
Sphere of Transport of the RF Ministry of Transport; 

-  Bulletin No. 154-998 BE considering Tu-154M airplanes. 

2)  Determination of a useful operation life of aviation engines 

A useful operation life of NK-8-2U, D-30KU-154 aviation engines and TA-6A auxiliary 
power units is determined taking into account: 

-  assigned and overhaul life; 

-  operating time (in hours); 

-  term of a rent contract. 

A useful operation life is determined separately for each object of the present fixed 
assets by order as putting into operation. 

3)  Operations with related parties 

In the course of its usual activity, the Company deals with related parties.  
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For the purposes of the present financial statement preparation, the parties are 
considered to be related if one of them is able to control the other, is under common 
control, or is able to render essential influence on financial and operating decisions of 
the other party.  

When considering relationship with all related parties, not just their legal form, but the 
content of such interrelations, are taken into consideration. 

4)  Initial recognition of financial instruments 

According to IFRS 39, financial instruments shall originally be recognized at their fair 
value. If there is no active market for such operations, the fair value, according to an 
independent opinion, shall be the sum of actual costs of purchase of such financial 
investment. 

4.   Initial submission of financial statement according to IFRS 

Assets, liabilities, capital, income and costs generated as at the date of the parent 
company transferred to IFRS (January 1, 2006) have been corrected according to the 
accounting policy prepared according to the IFRS publication in force at the date of 
preparation of the first set of IFRS annual financial statements of the parent company 
(December 31, 2007). 

When transferring to IFRS, the Company uses a voluntary exception, which makes it 
possible to apply, as an introductory evaluation of fixed assets, investment property and 
intangible assets, an evaluation developed as at January 1, 2006, according to the 
data prepared in accordance with Russian accounting standards. By Company's 
estimation, the balance value of the said assets does not differ essentially from their fair 
value at the date of transfer to IFRS. 

The corrections of accounting parameters affect line-items of assets, liabilities, income 
and costs in correspondence with line-items of retained profits. 

The Company's introductory IFRS financial statement prepared according to the 
Russian accounting standards using a transformation method (based on application of 
professional opinions: regrouping the line-items of the accounts prepared according to 
the Russian accounting rules; identification of the corrections which are required for 
accounting preparation according to IFRS; calculations and the sum of corrections 
entrance) in the Company's functional currency – Russian rubles, with rounding to 
thousands rubles. 

The Group's consolidated financial statement is submitted as of December 31, 2008.  

The costs on fixed assets purchase were incorrectly classified by the Company in 2006 
(the costs were included in period expenses). The present mistake revise resulted in 
recalculation of the included assets excesses and own capital as of December 31, 
2007. The book value of the fixed assets increased by RUR78,000.00, retain earnings 
increased by RUR116,000.00.  
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008  2007 

Cash 14 16 

Balance on bank accounts 32 242 15 090 

Cash and cash equivalents, total 32 256 15 106 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

6. Accounts receivable and provision for the loss of value thereof    

Short-term 
Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008  2007 

Buyers and customers 18 677 21 546 

Advance paid off 15 257 10 227 

Settlements in respect of taxes and levies 2 189 56 822 

Settlements in respect of social insurance 62 27 

Settlements with personnel in respect of payroll 35 20 

Settlements with advanced holders 25 170 

Settlements with other debtors 2 782 2 100 

Accounts receivable, total 39 027 90 912 

For reference: overdue accounts receivable  0 1 367 

Provision for the accounts receivable loss of value     0 (1 367) 

Accounts receivable excluding provision for the loss of 
value thereof, total       39 027 89 545 

For reference: operation turnover within the group (116) (24) 

The period of limitation of the overdue accounts receivable elapsed in the financial 
year. As a result the overdue accounts receivable were written off at the expense of 
the provision for the loss of value thereof equal to RUR1,367,000.00.  
 Long-term 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Settlements with other debtors          4 446                     0 

Accounts receivable, total 4 446 0 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent   
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7. Inventories 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Fuel and oil costs 6 0 

Spare parts 407 0 

Inventories, total 413 0 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

8. Financial investments 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

‘Securities to be stored till maturity’ group   

Debt securities (bills of exchange) 10 557 10 587 

Short-term securities (bills of exchange) 30 0 

For reference: operation turnover within the group (1 100) (1 000) 

In view of the objective data absence (which serves as an evidence that the sum 
receipt, owing to payout in accordance with initial contract conditions, could not 
happen), the inventories creation for this purpose is not carried out. 

9. Fixed assets and construction in progress 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Book value of the fixed assets and incomplete construction, 
total, including: 

428 853 542 762 

Book value of the fixed assets, total, including: 424 719 542 762 

‘Motor vehicles’ group, including: 4 382 2 089 

Cars 4 382 2 089 

‘Buildings’ group, including:  1 924 2 002 

Office 1 924 2 002 

‘Aircraft’ group, including: 417 782 537 801 

Airplanes   319 407 400 215 

Aviation engines 81 837 114 277 
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APU 16 538 23 309 

Including leased:   

Airplanes (income – note 12) 319 407 400 215 

Aviation engines (income – note 12)  78 872 114 277 

APU (income – note 12) 15 202 20 960 

‘Other fixed assets’ group 631 870 

Accumulated depreciation of fixed assets 255 717 169 823 

For reference: preservation status (APU) 1 336 0 

Under repair (aviation engines) 2 965 0 

 In reserve (APU) 0 2 349 

Book value of the construction in progress 4 134 0 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

10. Intangible assets 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Book value of the intangible assets, total, including:  70 16 

Trademark  1 2 

Windows XP 10 5 

Windows Vista Business 5 9 

Software product 1С: Accounting 8.1 40 0 

Software product Antivirus Kasperskogo 14 0 

Accumulated depreciation, total 40 123 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

All intangible assets are with a fixed useful operation life.  

11. Accounts payable 

Short-term 
Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Loans and credits 140 586 167 531 

Accounts payable 1 704 621 
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Debts under taxes and levies 17 995 3 803 

Other creditors 4 792 7 909 

Short term liabilities, total 165 077 179 864 

For reference: operation turnover within the group (116) (985) 

In view of the fact that there is no risk of failure to receive the amounts of short-term liabilities, 
there no provision for these purposes has been formed.   

Long-term 
Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Loans and credits 302 563 433 963 

Deferred profit tax income/loss 2 647 2 555 

Other creditors 27 353 24 330 

Long-term liabilities, total 332 563 460 848 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

In view of the fact that there is no risk of failure to receive the amounts of long-term liabilities, there 
no provision for these purposes has been formed.   
The short-term credits and loans include the current part of the long-term debts, which has to be 
paid off in 2009. In 2007 these debts were reflected in the long-term accounts payable under the 
loans and credits, therefore the records as on December 31, 2007 were recalculated.  

12. Capital  

Equity capital 

The authorized capital in the amount of the issued and fully paid stocks includes: 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Common stocks 5 000 5 000 

Authorized capital, total 5 000 5 000 

A face value amounts RUR1,000.00 per stock. Each stock gives a right of one vote. No correction 
of the equity capital has been carried out.    

Reserve capital 

The reserve capital is formed in accordance with RF legislation at the rate of 5% from the 
authorized capital by means of obligatory annual allocations specified in the Article and amounts 
RUR250,000.00. 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Reserve capital 250 250 
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Reserve capital, total 250 250 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

 The reserve capital was not used.  

13. Proceeds and cost price 

Proceeds 
Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Lease of Tu-154B airplane 16 221 18 499 

Lease of Tu-154M airplane 218 486 192 902 

Lease/subrental of aviation engines and APU   89 453 40 799 

Other proceeds 20 19 

Proceeds, total 324 180 252 219 

For reference: operation turnover within the group (13) 0 

Cost price 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Depreciation of Tu-154B airplanes 776 10 942 

Depreciation of Tu-154M airplanes 80 808 65 499 

Depreciation of aviation engines 42 688 28 450 

Depreciation of APU 11 220 6 132 

Rent of aviation engines 3 032 6 360 

Insurance of  Tu-154B airplanes 736 1 246 

Insurance of  Tu-154M airplanes 19 043 11 722 

Services for Tu-154B airplanes 0 513 

Services for ВС Ту-154M airplanes 1 076 0 

Services for aviation engines and APU 2 252 568 

Evaluation of Tu-154B airplanes 0 77 

Evaluation of Tu-154M airplanes  120 107 

Cost price, total 161 751 131 616 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 
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14. Commercial and administrative costs 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Commercial costs, total, including:  13 650 5 774 

Business trip expenses 4 072 2 116 

Working place in Moscow 8 654 3 572 

Working place in Sochi 531 0 

Expenses of representation  26 23 

Promotional expenditures  367 63 

For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

Administration costs, including: 43 159 34 688 

Payment for labour with allocations   32 974 27 132 

Depreciation of other fixed assets  1 256 717 

Depreciation of intangible ASSETS 34 19 

Fixed assets subsequent expenses (‘Motor vehicles’ group) 794 761 

Fixed assets subsequent expenses (‘Building’ group, office 
included) 

762 1 063 

Fixed assets subsequent expenses (‘Other fixed assets’ group, 
office equipment included) 

105 173 

Intangible assets subsequent expenses (trademark) 0 2 

Communication services, Internet 701 960 

Consulting, legal and auditing services 3 185 173 

Information and translating services, software 411 153 

Corporate identity 650 65 

Notarial services 39 20 

Staff 343 883 

Services for rent 200 58 

Services for other insurance  643 568 

Cost sharing 65 542 
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Administrative costs 152 538 

Fixed assets with a value under RUR 20,000.00 writing off 215 303 

Cash management service 281 194 

Other expenses 349 364 

For reference: operation turnover within the group 235 16 

In 2008 in view of business activity the working place in Sochi was set up. But according 
to the results as of the reference period the working place was closed down.  

15. Other operating income and costs 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Operating income, total, including: 7 998 73 158 

Income from fixed assets sale 4 439 1 658 

Income from inventories sale 0 71 360 

Transaction completion  3 559 0 

Other operational income 0 140 

For reference: operation turnover within the group (23) 0 

Operational expenses, total, including: 25 683 76 463 

Expenses from inventory selling  1 017 66 259 

Expenses from fixed assets writing off 31 291 
Taxes, state duties 24 635 9 913 
For reference: the operations within the group are absent 

16. Other income and costs 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Other income, total, including: 1 189 1 206 

Sum differences 0 1 

Bank interests 1 175 199 

Exchange differences 0 3 

Insurance indemnity 8 6 

Other income 6 997 
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Other costs, total, including: 76 967 70 410 

Interests on securities 5 294 1 443 

Interests on credits 68 123 63 928 

Expenses on credits 3 173 4 961 

Exchange differences 0 8 

Tax expenses on financial lease 321 0 

Fees  0 20 

Other expenses 56 50 

For reference: the operations on other income and costs within the group are absent 

17. Income tax 

The expenses on current profit tax in 2008 amounted RUR10,075,000.00 (in 2007 – 
RUR866,000.00) 

In 2008 the Company exercised the right to apply the income tax rate in to the RF entity 
(Perm region) budget equal to 13.5%.  

18. Other taxes 

Property tax 

The tax rate for 2008 – 2.2%. 

Unified social tax 

The tax rate for 2008 – 26%, the regressive scale is covered. In 2008 the regressive scale 
was applied.  

Insurance contributions to the Social Insurance Fund of the RF under obligatory social 
insurance against industrial accidents and occupation diseases 

The insurance rate for 2008 – 1.3% 

Value-added tax  

The tax rate for 2008 – 18%.  

19. Dividends 

The dividends for 2007 in the amount of RUR1,282,000.00 were declared and paid in 
2008 (the dividends for 2006 in the amount of RUR1,280,000.00 were declared and paid 
in 2007). 
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20. Events occurring after reporting date 

The date when the financial report for the publication was confirmed 

April 17, 2009 

Dividends 

The dividends for 2008 in the amount of RUR1,285,000.00 will be declared and paid in 
2009. 

21. Contingent liabilities 

The management holds the view that the information which could be recognized as a 
contingent liability for the reporting period is absent.  

22. Operations with related parties 

Kind of operation 

2008 

Amount, in thousands of 
Russian rubles 

2007 

Amount, in thousands of 
Russian rubles 

The companies which have a significant impact on the Company 

Payment of dividends, including: 1 282 1 280 

CC ‘Ural Consulting’ Ltd. 436 435 

 ‘Avia Consulting’ CJSC 423 422 

‘Assets’ CJSC 423 423 

Bills of exchange received on 
balance, including: 

70 70 

CC ‘Ural Consulting’ Ltd. 70 70 

Sureties received 0 0 

Other liabilities (charged/paid) 0 39/43 

The key managerial staff of the Company 

Transactions with securities 
(charged/paid) 

0 0 

Short-term payments (wages, 
short-term bonuses) 

19 540 15 414 

Sureties received 223 560 229 560 

Other liabilities (charged/paid) 97 799/97 438 909/895 



 
141 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

Other related parties 

Bills of exchange received on 
balance, including: 

10 517 10 517 

‘Avia Leasing’ CJSC 10 517 10 517 

Transactions with securities 
(charged/paid), total, including: 

108/0 7 788/8 611 

‘Avia Leasing’ CJSC 108/0 7 788/8 611 

Short-term payments (wages, 
short-term bonuses) 

264 149 

Other liabilities (charged/paid) 163/116 15/14 

23. The core segments characteristics of the Company’s activity 

The Company carries out its activity at the market of rent (leasing) of Tu-154B and Tu-
154M Russian-made airplanes. There are 68 planes which are let on lease of Tu-154B, B-
1, B-2 and M types, contained in the RF Register of civil aircrafts.     

The Company’s share in 2008 amounted 10.3% (7 Tu-154M airplanes), in 2007 – 14.75% (2 
Tu-154B airplanes and 7 Tu-154M airplanes).  

In the segment of Tu-154M airplanes lease the Company achieved and successfully 
fixed the share of 14.6% (in 2007 – 13.73%).  

General Director       Chief Accountant 

  

_____________O.Kislukhin     _________________T.Pomitkina 
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Analysis of the financial state of the Company 

Relative financial stability analysis 

Parameter (financial ratio) 2008 2007 

Equity ratio 0.03 0.03 

Debt capital ratio (financial leverage) 0.97 0.97 

Owner’s equity multiplier 98.22 125.34 

Leverage ratio (borrowed and own funds ratio)  27.63 37.03 

Long-term financial independence ratio(solvency) 0.68 0.73 

Long-term investments structure ratio 0.69 0.78 

Long-term debt financing ratio 0.95 0.96 

Long-term investments security ratio (net fixed assets index) 1.37 1.23 

Interest coverage ratio 1.43 1.23 

Working capital ratio  (5.53) (5.12) 

Owner’s equity flexibility ratio  (6.6) (5.9) 

Property real value ratio 0.83 0.82 

Absolute financial stability analysis 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 2007 

Sources of own funds   18 012 17 304 

Non-current assets   439 480 553 365 

Sources of own current assets for inventories and costs 
formation  

(421 468) (536 061) 

Long-term credits and borrowings   332 563 460 848 

Sources of own funds corrected by the value of long-term 
borrowings  

(88 905) (75 213) 

Short-term credits and borrowings 140 586 167 531 

Total value of funds sources with account of long-term 
and short-term borrowings  

51 681 92 318 

Value of inventory and costs turn on the balance  413 0 
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Excess(+)/shortage(-) of own current funds sources  (421 881) (536 061) 

Excess(+)/shortage(-) of own funds sources and long-term 
borrowings  

(89 318) (75 213) 

Excess(+)/shortage(-) of all sources total value for inventory 
and costs formation  

51 268 92 318 

Business solvency of the company  
financial 

uncertainty 
financial 

uncertainty 

Business activities parameters  

Parameter (unit of measurement)  2008 2007 

Asset turnover (rotation) 0.63 0.38 

Accounts receivable turnover (rotation) 7.46 2.82 

Total debt turnover (rotation) 0.65 0.39 

Accounts receivable time of circulation (days) 49 130 

Cash cycle length (days) 49 130 

Owing equity turnover (rotation) 18 15 

Working capital turnover (rotation) 4 2 

Parameters of profitability 

Parameter (index) 2008 2007 

Return on assets (economic efficiency index)  0.00 0.01 

Return on equity  0.11 0.33 

Profits margin (commercial profitability index) 0.33 0.32 

Current expenditures profitability 0.48 0.47 

Return on invested (applied) capital  0.01 0.01 

Break-even threshold 

Parameter (unit of measurement) 2008 2007 

Added value (AV) (in thousands of Russian rubles) 339 373 262 991 

Net added value (NAV) (in thousands of Russian rubles) 278 286 215 653 
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GROSS-result the use of investments (GRUI)(in thousands of 
Russian rubles) 

220 677 178 620 

NET-result of use of investments (NRUI) (in thousands of 
Russian rubles) 

12 157 7 632 

Threshold amount NRUI (TANRUI) 18.95 56.08 

Transformation ratio (net asset turnover) (TR) 0.63 0.39 

Commercial margin (net margin turnover) (КМ) 0.04 0.03 

Gross margin (GM) (in thousands of Russian rubles) 162 429 120 603 

Gross margin. corrected by the amount of borrowed 
capital (GMabc)  (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

88 690 55 231 

Average settlement interest rate (ASIR) (%) 16.57 10.87 

Differential (D) (%) (16.18) (10) 

Differential corrected to tax rate (Dc) (%) (12.94) (7.6) 

Financial leverage effect (DLE) (357.65) (281.4) 

Degree of financial leverage  impact (DFLI) 0.00 0.02 

Degree of operational leverage impact (DOLI) 1.54 1.50 

Break-even threshold (break-even point) (BT) (in thousands 
of Russian rubles)  

86 138 72 544 

Break-even threshold (break-even point) (BTabc) (in 
thousands of Russian rubles)  

157 755 158 407 

Financial safety margin (FSM)  0.65 0.66 

Degree of linked effect of operational and financial 
leverages (DLEOFL) 

0.00 0.03 

Break-even point BP (units) 1.60 1.60 

Break-even point per 1 airplane (BP) (in thousands of 
Russian rubles) 

53 694 45 220 
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Time series analysis of the activity results 

Parameter (thousands of Russian rubles) 2008 
Change to 

2006. % 
2007 

Proceeds 324 180 28.5 252 219 

Sales cost price 
(161 
751) 

22.9 (131 616) 

Gross profits 162 429 34.7 120 603 

Selling expenses (13 650) 136.4 (5 774) 

Administrative expenses (43 159) 24.4 (34 688) 

Other operating income 7 998 (89.1) 73 158 

Other operating costs (25 683) (66.4) (76 463) 

Operating profits 87 935 14.4 76 836 

Other income 1 189 (1.4) 1 206 

Other costs (76 967) 9.3 (70 410) 

Profit before tax 12 157 59.3 7 632 

Current profit tax (10 075) 1063.4 (866) 

Deferred profit tax (92) (91.2) (1 051) 

Profit tax. Total (10 167) 430.4 (1 917) 

Net profits  1 990 (65.2) 5 715 

Estimation of financial situation based on monetary indices  

Parameter (unit of measurement) 2008 2007 

 Cash constituent operating margin (%) 301.99 301.05 

Cash constituent net profits (%) 13 344.57 4 047.49 

Cash constituent net income (%) 6 471.11 2 091.95 

Cash/Sales Ratio (%) 9.95 5.99 

Cash excess ratio 0.11 0.04 

Cash Flow to Total Debt Ratio (%) 62.16 38.49 

Total debt to annual cash flow (years) 1.61 2.60 
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Cash Debt Coverage (%) 61.92 38.31 

Years Debt (years) 1.61 2.61 

Cash Flow from Operations to Current Liabilities (%) 187.38 137.11 

Quantity of year for covering current liabilities from 
operating cash flow (years) 

0.53 0.73 

Cash Maturity Coverage Ratio (%)  278.93 186.79 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (%) 111.49 76.05 

Cash Interest Coverage Ratio (%) 490.97 363.82 

  

  



 
147 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

Separate financial statements of IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC 

Balance sheet  
As of December 31, 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

Assets 2008 2007 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 31 528 15 106 

Accounts receivable 39 034 90 936 

Provisions for doubtful accounts 0 (1 367) 

Inventories 413 0 

Short-term financial investments 30 0 

Current assets, total 71 005 104 675 

Non-current assets 

Long-term receivables 4 446 0 

Long-term financial investments 11 657 11 587 

Doubtful debt reserves 0 0 

Fixed assets and construction in progress 428 853 542 762 

Intangible assets 70 16 

Non-current assets, total 445 026 554 365 

Assets. Total 516 031 659 040 

Liabilities and Capital 2008  2007 

Liabilities 

Short-term liabilities 

   Loans and credits 140 583 167 531 

   Accounts payable 1 704 607 

   Tax liabilities 17 994 3 802 

   Other creditors 4 838 8 909 

Short-term liabilities, total 165 119 180 849 

Long-term liabilities 
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   Loans and credits 302 563 433 963 

   Deferred income tax liability 2 647 2 555 

   Other creditors 27 353 24 330 

Long-term liabilities, total 332 563 460 848 

Liabilities, total 497 682 641 697 

Capital  

   Equity capital 5 000 5 000 

   Reserve capital 250 250 

   Retained profit (loss) 13 099 12 093 

Capital, total 18 349 17 343 

Liabilities and Capital, total 516 031 659 040 

 
Profit and loss statement 
for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

Parameter 2008 2007 

Proceeds 324 193 252 219 

Cost price (161 751) (131 616) 

Gross profit 162 442 120 603 

Selling costs (13 650) (5 774) 

Administrative costs (43 109) (34 672) 

Other operating income 8 220 73 181 

Other operating expenses (25 683) (76 463) 

Operating income 88 220 76 875 

Other income 1 189 1 206 

Other expenditures (76 954) (70 410) 

Profit/loss before tax 12 455 7 671 

Current profit tax expenditures (10 075) (866) 

Deferred profit tax income/loss (92) (1 051) 
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Net profit 2 288 5 754 

Statement of change in equity 

for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 

Parameter Equity capital 
Reserve formed 

according to Russian 
Federation legislation 

Retained profits Total 

Balance as of 
December 31, 
2006 

5 000 250 7 619 12 869 

Profit for 2007 - - 5 754 5 754 

Dividends  - - (1 280) (1 280) 

Balance as of 
December 31, 
2007 

5 000 250 12 093 17 343 

Profit for 2008 - - 2 288 2 288 

Dividends   - - (1 282) (1 282) 

Balance as of 
December 31, 
2008 

5 000 250 13 099 18 349 
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Cash flow statement 

for 2008 (in thousands of Russian rubles) 
Parameter 2008 2007 

Cash flow from operating activity 

Cash assets received from buyers and customers 388 995 397 079 

Other income 18 501 881 

Cash assets allocated towards: (141 614) (166 646) 

   payment for goods, job, services and other current assets (65 988) (118 309) 

   payment for labour (27 585) (20 881) 

   payment for dividends (1 167) (1 165) 

   payment of taxes and fees (42 577) (14 138) 

   covering other expenses (4 297) (12 153) 

Net cash assets from operating activity 265 882 231 314 

Cash flow from investment activity 

Proceeds from financial and non-current assets sale 1 643 1 253 

Proceeds from securities sale and other financial 
investments  

350 24 000 

Interests earned  1 045 201 

Purchase of non-current assets, interest-bearing 
investments in tangible assets 

(16 849) (529 417) 

Purchase of securities and other financial investments (1 500) (31 816) 

Net cash flow from investment activity (15 311) (535 779) 

Cash flow from financial activity 

Credits and loans obtaining 826 464 389 

Credits and loans repayment (without interests) (163 299) (77 838) 

Interest expenses on credits and loans (71 676) (71 672) 

Net cash assets from financial activity (234 149) 314 878 

Net increment of cash and cash equivalents 16 422 10 413 

Cash assets and equivalent thereof at the beginning of the 15 106 4 693 
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period 

Cash assets and equivalent thereof at the end of the 
period 

31 528 15 106 
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Accounts prepared according to the Russian accounting standards 
Auditor’s opinion on the financial (accounting) statements 

of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company 
for the period from January 01, 2008, till December 31, 2008 

Addressee: 
The executive board of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company. 
The Stockholders of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company. 
Auditor: 
Title: Invest-Audit Limited Liability Company 
Location: 50 Lenina str., Perm, 614000, Russia. 
State registration: The Certificate of state registration No.2644, issued by the Leninskiy District Administration 
of Perm on November 24, 1994. 
Licenses: 

- for the right to carry auditing activity No. E 004545 under date of June 27, 2003, issued by the RF 
Ministry of Finance for term of five years; License validity was extended on June 27, 2008 for term of 
five years by the RF Ministry of Finance Order ‘The license procedure of auditing activity’ No.311 issued 
on 11.06.2008; 

- for the right to conduct operations connected with the usage of data constituting a state secret No. B 
361856 registration No. 912, issued by the RF Federal Security Service in Perm region; the license validity 
is from 08.09.2008 till 27.08.2011.   

The membership in professional public association accredited by RF Ministry of Finance: 
‘Invest-Audit’ Limited Liability Company is the member of nonprofit partnership the Russian Board of 
Auditors in accordance with the Council RBA decision dated November 28, 2006 certificate No. 0097-u. 
The certificate No.5 concerning professional public association under the Ministry of Finance issued on July 
17, 2002. 
Audited entity: 
Title: Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company  
Location: 47 Kuibysheva str., Perm, 614016, Russia.    

State registration: The Certificate of the legal entity registration No.7578 dated September 25, 2001, was 
issued by the Sverdlovskiy District Administration of Perm on September 25, 2001; 
The Certificate of making entry in the United State Register of Legal Entities series 59 No. 001616430 dated 
November 11, 2002; Primary State Registration Number 1025900892335 issued by the Inspection of the 
Perm’s Sverdlovskiy District division of the RF Ministry of Taxes and Levies on November 11, 2002; 
The Certificate of making entry in the United State Register of Legal Entities series 59 No. 003095463 dated 
May 22, 2007, Primary State Registration Number 2075904088984 issued by the Perm’s Sverdlovskiy District 
division of the Inspection of Federal Tax Service of Perm on May 22, 2007.  
We have conducted the audit of attached hereto financial statements (accounts) of Investment Financial 
Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company for the period from January 1, 2008 till December 31, 
2008 included. 
The financial statements (accounts) of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock 
Company consist of: 

- Balance sheet; 
- Profit and Loss statement; 
- Statement of change in equity; 
- Cash flow statement; 
- Appendices to the balance sheet; 
- Explanatory note.  

The Executive Body of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed Joint-Stock Company is 
responsible for preparation and presentation of specified financial statements (accounts).  
Our obligation consists of an opinion expression based on conducted audit about both: financial 
statements credibility in all essential terms and the accordance of accounting record-keeping to the 
legislation of the Russian Federation. 
We conducted the audit in accordance with: 
- Federal Law dated December 30, 2008 No.307-FL ‘About audit activity’; 
- Federal Rules (standards) of audit activity, ratified by the RF Government Regulation dated September 

23, 2002 No. 696; 
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- Federal Rules (standards) of audit activity, ratified by the Board of audit activity under the RF President; 
- Internal Rules (standards) of audit activity of nonprofit partnership the Russian Board of Auditors; 
- Rules (standards) of audit activity of the Invest-Audit Company.            

 
The audit was planned and conducted in such way that the confidence that the financial statements 
(accounts) do not contain essential perversity appeared.  
The audit was conducted on the sample basis and included the examination on the base of the evidence 
testing, which confirmed the significance and disclosure of the information in financial statements 
(accounts) concerning financing and operating activity, accounting principles and methods estimation, 
the rules concerning financial statements (accounts) preparation, the key accounting estimates 
determination and general presentation of the financial statements (accounts) estimation.  

We assume that the audit conducted provides us sufficient grounds for the opinion expression concerning 
both: financial statements credibility in all essential terms and the accordance of accounting record-
keeping to the legislation of the Russian Federation. 
In our opinion, financial statements (accounts) of Investment Financial Company ‘Avialeasing’ Closed 
Joint-Stock Company reflects reliable in all sufficient terms financial situation as of December 31, 2008 and 
the results of the financial statements (accounts) for the period from January 1, 2008 till December 31, 2008 
included. 
March 25, 2009 
General Director         E.A. Churin 
Invest-Audit LLC     (General Auditing Certificate No. K 014285 dated 01.04.2004)  
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Balance sheet as of December 31, 2008 
(in thousands of Russian rubles) 

Assets Line code 

At the 
beginning of 
the reporting 

year 

At the end of 
the reporting 

period 

I. Non-current assets 

Intangible assets  110 2 2 

Fixed assets 120 551 941 426 638 

Construction in progress 130 0 4 134 

Long-term financial investments 140 11 487 11 587 

Other non-current assets 150 14 62 

Total for Section I 190 563 444 442 423 

II. Current assets 

Inventories 210 8 262 7 030 

including: 

staple, materials and other parallel values 211 0 412 

deferred expenses  216 8 262 6 618 

Value Added Tax on purchased values 220 0 744 

Accounts receivable (falling due after more 
than 12 months from the reporting date) 

230 273 4 446 

Accounts receivable (falling due within 12 
months from the reporting date) 

240 82 317 39 555 

including the buyers and supplies  241 21 546 20 110 

short-term financial investments 250 100 100 

Cash  260 15 192 31 596 

Total for Section II 290 106 144 83 471 

Balance 300 669 588 525 894 

Liabilities  Line code 

At the 
beginning of 
the reporting 

year 

At the end of 
the reporting 

period 
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III. Capiyal and reserves 

Authorized capital 410 5 000 5 000 

Reserve capital 430 250 250 

included: 

reserves formed in accordance with the 
legislation 

431 250 250 

Undistributed profit (uncovered loss) 470 25 195 25 609 

Total for Section III 490 30 445 30 859 

IV. Long-term liabilities 

Loans and credits 510 565 717 413 200 

Other long-term liabilities 520 24 330 27 353 

Total for Section IV 590 590 047 440 553 

V. Short-term liabilities 

Loans and credits 610 35 777 30 110 

Accounts payable 620 13 319 24 372 

included:  
  

suppliers and contractors 621 607 1 540 

debt to the company’s personnel  622 14 0 

debt to the state non-budgetary funds  623 0 178 

debt under taxes and levies 624 3 802 17 816 

other creditors  625 8 895 4 838 

Total for Section V 690 49 096 54 482 

Balance 700 669 588 525 894 

Information about assets presence which are considered on off-balance accounts  

Fixed assets rented   910 108 108 

The written-off debts of the insolvent debtors 940 18 18 

Security of liabilities and payments, received 950 229 560 223 560 

Security of liabilities and payments, provided  960 841 013 719 322 
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Profit and loss statement for 2008 

(In thousands of Russian rubles) 

Parameter For the 
reporting 

period 

For the same 
period of the 

preceding year Item  Code  

Regular activities income and costs  

Proceeds (net) from sale of goods, production, 
work, services (less Value Added Tax, excise taxes 
and similar mandatory payments)  

010 330 991 325 243 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85016 lease 011 45 872 41 594 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85069 lease 012 45 691 26 104 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85056 lease 013 45 088 29 412 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85018 lease 014 43 924 33 827 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85681 lease 015 42 375 3 602 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85789 lease 016 41 126 43 756 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85013 lease 017 41 993 26 441 

Tu-154М airplane, side number 85685 sale 018 0 71356 

Cost price of sold goods, production, work, 
services 

020 (163 982) (186 626) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85681 

021 (35 472) (1 870) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85069 

022 (21 453) (10 364) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85018 

023 (20 964) (16 115) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85789 

024 (20 911) (20 322) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85056 

025 (20 125) (13 718) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 
number 85013 

026 (18 683) (19 075) 

Expenses related to Tu-154М airplane , side 027 (18 073) (18 361) 
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number 85016 

Purchase cost of Tu-154М airplane, side number 
85685 

028 (0) (64 395) 

Gross profit  029 167 009 138 617 

Selling expenses 030 (386) (23) 

Administrative expenses 040 (55 878) (42 266) 

Labour compensation fund 041 (31 615) (24 049) 

Withholdings from labour compensation fund  042 (3 770) (3 078) 

Profit (loss) from sale 050 110 745 96 328 

Other incomes and expenses 

Interests receivable 060 1 098 199 

Interests payable 070 (76 590) (70 332) 

Other income 090 2 500 203 

Right of debt claim  091 0 150 

Other expenses 100 (25 981) (10 902) 

Transport tax 101 (13 764) (15) 

Property tax 102 (10 786) (9 849) 

Profit (loss) before taxation 140 11 771 15 496 

Current income tax 150 (10 075) (731) 

Fine, penalty 160 (1) (67) 

Net profit (loss) of the reporting period 190 1 696 14 698 
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Statement of change in equity for 2008 

(in thousand Russian rubles) 

I. Change in equity 

Parameter 
Authorized 

capital 
Additional 

capital 
Reserve 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

(uncovered 
loss) 

Total  
Item  

Cod
e  

Balance at 
December 31, 
2006 

010 5 000 0 250 11 777 17 027 

2007  011 Х Х Х 0 0 

Balance at 
January 1, 
2007 

020 5 000 0 250 11 777 17 027 

Net profit 040 Х Х Х 14 698 14 698 

Dividends 041 Х Х Х (1 280) (1 280) 

Balance at 
December 31, 
2007 

070 5 000 0 250 25 195 30 445 

2008 071 Х Х Х 0 0 

Balance at 
January 1, 
2008 

100 5 000 0 250 25 195 30 445 

Net profit 110 Х Х Х 1 696 1 696 

Dividends  111 Х Х Х (1 282) (1 282) 

Balance at 
December 31, 
2008 

140 5 000 0 250 25 609 30 859 

II. Reserves 

Parameter 

Balance Arrived Used  Balance 
Item 

Cod
e 

Reserves formed in 
accordance with 

151 250 
0 

(0) 250 
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legislation: 

Reserve fund 

preceding year  

reporting year 152 250 0 (0) 250 

Information for reference 

Parameter Balance at the 
beginning of the 

reporting year 

Balance at the end of the 
reporting year Item 

Cod
e 

Net assets 200 30 445 30 859 
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Cash flow statement for 2008 

(in thousand Russian rubles) 

Parameter  

For reporting period 
For the same period of the 

preceding year Item  
Cod

e  

Cash balance at the 
beginning of the reporting 
year 

110 15 192 4 702 

Cash flow from current activity 

Funds received from buyers, 
customers 

120 388 995 397 079 

Other profits 130 18 501 881 

Cash allocated towards: 140 (141 632) (166 570) 

payment for goods, work, 
services, materials and other 
current assets acquired 

150 (65 988) (118 233) 

payment for labour 160 (27 585) (20 881) 

payment of dividends, 
interests  

170 (1 167) (1 165) 

payment of taxes and levies  180 (42 577) (14 138) 

other expenses  190 (4 315) (12 153) 

Net cash flow from current 
activity 

200 265 864 (231 390) 

Cash flow from investment activity 

Proceeds from the items of 
fixed assets and other non-
current assets sale  

210 1 643 1 253 

Proceeds from securities 
sale and other financial 
investments  

220 350 24 000 

Interests received 240 1 045 201 

Purchase of the fixed assets 
items, interest-bearing 

290 (16 849) (529 417) 
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investments in to tangible 
assets, intangible assets  

Purchase of the securities 
and other financial 
investments  

300 (1 500) (31 816) 

Net cash from investment 
activity 

340 (15 311) (535 779) 

Cash flow from financing activity 

Receipts from loans and 
credits, provided by other 
companies  

410 826 464 389 

Loans and credits 
repayment (without 
interests) 

420 (163 299) (77 838) 

Interests for loans and 
credits repayment  

440 (71 676) (71 672) 

Net cash assets from 
financial activity 

450 (234 149) 314 878 

Net increase (decrease) of 
cash assets and cash 
equivalents  

460 16 404 (10 490) 

Balance of cash assets at 
the end of the period 

470 31 596 15 192 

The influence value of 
foreign currency fluctuation 
to ruble exchange rate   

500 0 0 

Appendix to balance sheet for 2008 

(in thousands Russian rubles)   

Intangible assets 

Parameter Presence at 
the beginning 

of the year 
Arrived Retired 

Presence at 
the end of 
the period Item  

Co
de 

The intellectual property 
objects (exclusive 
entitlement for the 

010 4 0 (0) 4 
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intellectual property results)  

included: 

the owner’s rights to trade 
mark, service mark and 
name of goods origin 
destination  

014 4 0 (0) 4 

Parameter 
At the beginning of the 

reporting year 

At the end of the  

reporting period 

Item  
Co
de  

Intangible assets 
depreciation - total 

050 2 2 

included: 
051 2 2 

trade mark  

Fixed assets 

Parameter Presence at 
the 

beginning of 
the year 

Arrived  Retired  
Presence at 
the end of 
the period Item   

Cod
e 

Buildings 061 2 426 0 (0) 2 426 

Aircraft and equipment  062 701 821 5 183 (50 526) 656 478 

Cars  065 2 925 3 566 ( 0) 6 491 

Other fixed assets 063 1 328 286 (0) 1 614 

Total  070 708 500 9 035 (50 526) 667 009 

Parameter 
At the beginning of the 

reporting year 
At the end of the 
reporting period Item 

Cod
e 

Fixed assets depreciation - 
total  

140 156 559 240 371 

included: 
  

 

buildings 141 425 503 
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aircrafts and equipment  142 154 733 237 189 

cars 143 819 1 727 

other fixed assets  144 582 952 

Fixed assets objects leased 
out - total  

150 699 473 652 984 

included: 

aircrafts and equipment 151 699 473 652 984 

Fixed assets objects laid-up  155 0 3 494 

Fixed assets objects rented – 
total 

160 108 108 

included: 
  

 

office property 161 108 108 

For reference: cost variation 
of the fixed assets objects 
due to equipment and 
building completion, 
reconstruction, partial 
liquidation     

Cod
e 

At the beginning of the year  
At the beginning of 
the previous year 

173 0 776 

Financial  investments in to tangible assets 

Parameter  
Presence at the 
beginning of the 

reporting year Arrived  Retired  

Presence at 
the end of 
reported 
period  Item Code 

 
Property for leasing  181 3 773 0 (875) 2 898 

Total 

 
190 3 773 0 (875) 2 898 

 
Code 

At the beginning of the 
reporting year 

At the end of the 
reporting period 

Depreciation of the 
interest-bearing 
investments in tangible 
assets 

200 3 773 2 898 

Financial investments 
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Parameter  
Long-term Short-term  

At the 
beginning 

of the 
reporting 

year 

At the end 
of the 

reporting 
period 

At the 
beginning 

of the 
reporting 

year 

At the end 
of the 

reporting 
period 

Item 
Cod

e  

Contributions to the 
authorized capitals of other 
companies - total  

510 1 000 1 100 0 0 

including subsidiaries and 
business affiliates  

511 1 000 1 100 0 0 

Securities of other 
companies - total 

520 10 487 10 487 100 100 

included debt securities (bill 
of exchange)  

521 10 487 10 487 100 100 

Total  540 11 487 11 587 100 100 

Financial investments from 
the total amount which 
have current market value 

550 0 0 0 0 

Accounts receivable and payable 

Parameter  Balance at the 
beginning of the 
reference year 

Balance at the end of the 
reference year  Item 

Cod
e 

Accounts receivables: 
  

 

short-term – total 600 82 317 39 555 

included: 
  

 

payments to buyers and 
customers  

601 21 546 20 110 

advances made 602 1 964 15 223 

tax and levies payments 603 56 822 2 189 

payments to other debtors 604 1 985 2 033 

long-term - total 610 273 4 446 

included: 
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payments to other debtors 611 273 4 446 

Total  620 82 590 44 001 

Accounts payable: 
  

 

short-term – total 630 49 096 54 482 

included: 
 

payments to buyers and 
customers 

631 607 1 540 

tax and levies payments 633 3 802 17 816 

credits 634 6 021 0 

loans  635 29 756 30 110 

other 636 8 909 5 016 

long-term – total 640 590 047 440 553 

included: 
  

 

deposits under lease 
contracts   

641 24 330 27 353 

credits 642 565 717 413 200 

Total  650 639 143 495 035 

 

Regular activities expenditures (by costs elements) 

 

Parameter 

For reporting year For preceding year 
Item 

Cod
e 

Material costs 710 2 645 1 026 

Payroll costs 720 31 615 24 049 

Withholdings for social 
needs  

730 3 770 3 078 

Depreciation  740 133 424 102 927 

Other expenditures 750 48 792 97 835 
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Costs elements, total  760 220 246 228 915 

Changes in balances 
(growth [+], reduction [-]): 

765 
(1 597) 2 656 

deferred expenditures 766 

Securing  

Parameter  Balance at the 
beginning of the 

reporting year 

Balance at the end of the 
reporting period Item 

Cod
e 

Received - total 800 229 560 223 560 

included: 

legal entity guarantee 801 0 0 

individual guarantee  802 229 560 223 560 

Distributed  - total 820 841 013 719 322 

included: 
  

Property pledged  821 841 013 719 322 

included: 
8211  

 

aircrafts 745 763 692 350 

property rights under rent 
contract  

8212 51 750 26 972 

office 8223 43 500 0 
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Balance sheet structural analysis  

Asset  2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

I. Fixed assets 

Intangible assets 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Fixed capital 72% 63% 82% 82% 81% 

Construction in progress 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 

Long-term financial investments 0% 6% 1% 2% 2% 

Other fixed assets 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Total for Section I 72% 69% 83% 84% 84% 

II. Current assets  

Inventories  3% 3% 2% 1% 1% 

included: 
     

raw materials, materials and other 
equivalents 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

finished products and goods for 
resale  

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

deferred expenses  3% 3% 2% 1% 1% 

Value Added Tax 8% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Accounts receivable (falling due 
after more than 12 months after 
reporting date) 

0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 

Accounts receivable (falling due 
within 12 months from the reporting 
date)  

12% 19% 15% 12% 8% 

included: 
     

buyers and customers  8% 8% 2% 3% 4% 

other debtors 4% 5% 12% 9% 4% 

Short-term financial investments  4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Cash assets 2% 10% 1% 2% 6% 

Total for Section II 28% 31% 17% 16% 16% 
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Balance  100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Liabilities 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

III. Capital and reserves 

Authorized capital  8% 10% 1% 1% 1% 

Reserve fund 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 

included: 
     

reserves formed in accordance with 
legislation 

0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 

Retained earnings (uncovered loss) 5% 11% 3% 4% 5% 

Total for Section III 13% 22% 4% 5% 6% 

IV. Long-term liabilities 

Credits and loans 28% 20% 58% 85% 79% 

Other long-term liabilities  0% 0% 0% 4% 5% 

Total for Section IV 28% 20% 58% 89% 84% 

V. Short-term liabilities 

Credits and loans 42% 33% 3% 5% 6% 

Accounts payable 17% 25% 35% 2% 5% 

included: 
     

supplies and contractors  8% 3% 30% 0% 0% 

debt to personnel of the company   0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

debt to the sate and non-
budgetary funds  

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

debt under taxes and levies  1% 3% 0% 1% 3% 

other creditors 7% 19% 5% 1% 1% 

Other short-term liabilities  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Total for Section V 59% 58% 38% 7% 11% 

Balance 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
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Estimation of financial situation of the company 

Comparative ratio analysis of financial stability  

Parameter  2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Autonomy ratio 0.13 0.22 0.05 0.05 0.06 

Borrowed capital ratio (financial 
leverage) 

0.87 0.78 0.95 0.95 0.94 

Multiplier of own capital 12.38 9.29 68.50 34.10 92.85 

Financial dependence index 
(borrowed/own capital ratio) 

6.69 3.60 20.12 21.22 16.04 

Long-term financial independence 
ratio (financial stability) 

0.41 0.42 0.62 0.93 0.90 

Index of long-term investments 
structure  

0.39 0.29 0.70 1.00 0.93 

Index of long-term debt financing 0.68 0.48 0.92 0.95 0.93 

Index of long-term investments 
provision  (net fixed assets index) 

5.51 3.16 1.32 0.95 1.00 

Interest covered ratio 3.49 2.69 0.80 1.37 1.45 

Index of own working capital 
provision  

-2.07 -1.50 -4.41 -5.04 -4.93 

Index of own capital mobility  -2.34 -1.25 -4.21 1.08 0.05 

Index of real property cost 0.72 0.63 0.82 0.82 0.81 

Absolute ratio analysis of financial stability  

Parameter (in thousands 
Russian rubles) 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

1. Sources of own assets  8 459 10 610 17 027 30 121 30 859 

2. Non-current assets  46 570 33 505 296 317 563 444 442 423 

3. Sources of own current 
assets for margin formation 
and expenses  

-38 111 -22 895 -279 290 -533 323 -411 564 

4. Long-term credit and 
borrowed assets 

18 355 9 669 207 616 590 047 440 553 

5. Sources of own assets 
adjusted for long-term 

-19 756 -13 226 -71 674 56 724 28 989 
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borrowed assets value  

6. Short-term credit and 
borrowed assets  

27 450 16 284 9 398 35 777 30 110 

7. Total value of sources of 
assets in consideration of long-
term and short-term 
borrowings 

7 694 3 058 -62 276 92 501 59 099 

8. Value of margin and 
expenditures circulated in 
balance assets 

1 855 1 233 5 620 8 262 7 030 

9. Excess(+)/shortage(-) of own 
current assets sources   

-39 966 -24 128 -284 910 -541 585 -418 594 

10. Excess(+)/shortage(-) of 
own assets sources and long-
term borrowings 

-21 611 -14 459 -77 294 48 462 21 959 

11. Excess(+)/shortage(-) of the 
total value of all sources for 
formation of inventories and 
costs  

5 839 1 825 -67 896 84 239 52 069 

Financial stability of the 
company 

unstable 
financial 
position 

unstable 
financial 
position 

crisis 
financial 
position  

normal 
financial 
position 

normal 
financial 
position 

Comparative ratio analysis of balance liquidity 

Parameter 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Liquidity and solvency ratio 

Cover ratio (of current solvency) 0.44 0.49 0.43 1.99 1.41 

Intermediate solvency index (of fast 
liquidity) 

0.43 0.49 0.43 1.99 1.40 

Absolute liquidity index  0.10 0.16 0.03 0.31 0.58 

Profitability index 

Parameter  2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Return on assets (economic 
profitability index) 

0.04 0.07 0.02 0.02 0.00 

Return on own equity 0.31 0.32 0.45 0.48 0.05 
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Sale profitability (commercial 
profitability index) 

0.14 0.22 0.17 0.30 0.33 

Current expenditures profitability  0.17 0.28 0.20 0.42 0.50 

Invested capital (employed capital) 
profitability   

-0.27 3.61 0.03 0.02 0.00 

Break-even point 

Parameter  (unit of measurement) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Added value (thousands Russian 
rubles) 

9 299 17 745 29 371 341 521 334 692 

Net added value (thousands Russian 
rubles) 

7 439 14 551 24 084 280 047 274 447 

Gross result of investments operation  
(thousands Russian rubles) 

2 679 7 140 5 515 280 047 274 447 

Net result of investments operation  
(thousands Russian rubles) 

2 235 4 321 7 691 15 496 11 772 

Threshold value of net result of 
investments operation 

22  25 50 141 16 

Transformation ratio (net asset 
turnover) 

0.53 0.98 0.49 0.49 0.64 

Commercial margin (net margin 
turnover)  

0.06 0.09 0.04 0.05 0.04 

Gross margin (thousands Russian 
rubles) 

12 093 28 051 37 854 138 617 167 009 

Gross margin corrected on borrowed 
capital value (thousands Russian 
rubles) 

10 913 24 433 20 069 68 285 90 419 

Average settlement interest rate (%) 2 14 8 12 17 

Differential (%) 2 -7 -6 -10 -17 

Differential corrected by the rate of 
taxation (%) 

2 -5 -5 -8 -14 

Degree of financial leverage   11 -19 -97 -162 -218 

Impact of financial leverage 0.02 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.07 

Impact of operational leverage  3 3 3 1 2 
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Break-even threshold (break-even 
point)(PR)(thousand Russian rubles) 

19 014 29 161 52 519 99 224 111 508 

Break-even threshold (break-even 
point) (PRspk) (thousand Russian 
rubles) 

21 070 33 479 99 060 201 314 204 549 

Financial strength margin  0.34 0.35 0.38 0.69 0.66 

Conjoined effect of operating and 
financial leverages 

0.06 0.02 0.07 0.03 0.10 

Break-even threshold (units) 1 1 2 5 3 

Break-even threshold per airplane   
(thousand Russian rubles) 

17 164 23 649 31 977 18 968 41 137 

 

  



 
173 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

GLOSSARY 
A 

Absolute liquidity ratio 

A ratio between a company’s most liquid assets (cash assets and liquid securities) to 
current liabilities. It demonstrates what part of short-term debts the company is able to 
cover in the nearest future. The normal point of the ratio is within 0.2 – 0.5.     

Accounting liquidity 

Determined as the coverage degree of company’s liabilities by its assets, which term of 
turning into cash form corresponds to the term of covering liabilities.   

Accounts receivable  

Accounts to be received  

Debtor’s accounts 

The amount of debt which is due to the company from legal entities and individuals as 
a result of a economic and business cooperation.   

Administration and management expenses 

All expenses which do not connect with manufacturing or commercial activities of the 
company that is the expenses on supplies of personnel, office, motor transport, 
telecommunication etc.       

Analysis of financial performance  

The key parameters and indexes examination, which provides an objective picture of 
the company’s financial state, in particular of its profits and losses, changes in the 
structure of assets and liabilities, settlements with debtors and creditors, liquidity, stability 
etc.   

- cash constituent of the operational margin; 

Analysis of the financial position on the basis of cash indexes 

The analysis of the ratio of enterprise own and borrowed funds, as well as composing 
those items. The determination of liability items fluctuation dynamics for the term.   

The analysis of financial position is conducted on the bases of the following indexes: 

- cash constituent of net income; 
-  index ‘Cash-Proceeds’; 
- index of cash assets redundancy; 
- cash flow to joint debt; 
- joint debt to annual cash flow; 
- index of cash cover of the debt; 
- payoff period.    

 
Analysis of financial stability  
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- operational cash flow index; 
- quantity of years for covering current liabilities; 
- cash cover of long-term debt current portion;  
- cash maturity coverage ratio; 
- debt service coverage index; 
- cash interests coverage index. 

An analysis of the state of an enterprise’s accounts for its solvency, proceeding from 
relative and absolute parameters.   

Authorized capital 

Capital stock 

Paid in capital 

Shareshold equity 

Subscribed capital 

The capital the amount of which is fixed in the Article and which is formed from funds 
received by a company as a result of stocks sale.   

Average number of employees  

An average number of personnel working in the company during a certain period. For 
instance, a monthly average number is calculated by summarizing the number of 
employees, which actually worked during every month and by referring this sum to the 
quantity of months.       

B 

Bad debts 

The amount of overdue accounts receivable which, in the company’s opinion, is 
unlikely to be covered.  

Balance value. Book value 

Balance value of an asset is equal to its initial cost, less the depreciation accrued.  

Bond issuance,  

Bonds' offering IPO 

The bonds issue into circulation with the purpose of borrowing. 

Break-even analysis. Cost-volume-profit analysis 

An analysis of the results of an enterprise's activity, based on the ratio of output, profits 
and costs, which allows to assess levels of income and cost for different levels of 
business activity. 

Break-even point 
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Critical point 

Break-even threshold 

The scope or level of operations at which the aggregate income are equal to the 
aggregate costs, i.e. this is a point where profits and losses are equal to zero. A break-
even analysis (or an analysis of a company’s costs, production volumes and 
profitableness) is a method of studying the relation between costs and income for 
different production volumes.     

Break-even point for one product 

The sales volume for a certain product, which covers all costs of manufacture and sale 
thereof.  

Budget P&L statement 

A forecast of company’s profits and losses subdivided into planned income and costs 
for the certain period.      

C 

Cash constituent of operational margin 

It demonstrates to what degree operating profit is expressed in a form of real money.    

Cash constituent of net profit (1) 

It demonstrates to what degree net profit has a form of real money.  

Cash constituent of net profit (2) 

It demonstrates the percentage of cash receipts contained in profits.   

Cash debt coverage 

Demonstrates a company’s ability to cover the debt in accordance with the set 
parameters of dividend policy.   

Cash flow 

The difference between receipt of funds and monetary payments (wages, taxes, 
payment of inventories, fixed assets purchase etc.).  

Cash flow from investment activities 

Is determined as the net change of fixed assets.  

Cash flow from financing activities 

It is formed out of new capital sources (stock issue) plus interest obligations increase.   

Cash flow from operating activities 
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It is calculated as the sum of net profits and depreciation, less the increase of own 
assets (except for cash) for a certain period.   

Cash flow from operations  

Demonstrates to what degree the cash flow from operating activity covers the current 
liabilities.  

Cash flow to total debt ratio  

 It demonstrates to what degree the cash flow from operational activity covers the joint 
debt.  

Cash interest coverage ratio 

Demonstrates the company’s ability to pay interests (>1).  

Cash maturity 

Coverage ratio 

Demonstrates the ability to cover long-term debts as they mature.  

Cash/Sales ratio 

The estimation of cash assets sufficiency or excess.  

Categories of buyers 

Segments of the market 

Homogeneous groups of the buyers distinguished by any attribute: individual needs, 
solvency, motives, culture, religious traditions, social and geographical factors. The 
buyers division in to categories make possible to carry out marketing actions more 
purposefully and focused, proceeding from certain needs of separate categories.     

Cost of product 

Product cost 

All kinds of costs incurred in the course of manufacture of a certain kind of products, 
work or services.  

Cost structure 

The ratio of the different cost items shares in their total amount.    

 

Creditors 

The individuals, companies or organizations which provide money, goods or services on 
credit upon condition that it would be repaid on a certain fixed day or upon expiration 
of a certain fixed period.     
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Creditor days 

A period (quantity of days), during which a company pays creditors invoices in full.  

Current assets 

Short-term assets 

Working assets 

The cash assets and the assets which, according to the expectations, will be turn into 
money, sold or used not later than within one year (marketable securities, debtor’s 
accounts, inventories, deferred costs).      

Current liabilities 

Short-term obligations 

Current debts 

- debt under short-term credits and loans; 

Current indebtedness  

The balance liability line items which reflect the liabilities with maturity within one year. 
The current liabilities include: 

- accounts payable; 
- advance payments made by buyers; 
- other current liabilities.    
Current liquidity ratio 

See. Overall liquidity ratio 

Current assets structure 

The recourses allocation between separate elements of current assets.  

Customer’s credit history 

The data evidencing how accurately the borrower (buyer) follows the rules of 
borrowing and performance liabilities arising from the terms of credit transactions.    

D 

Debt restructuring 

Reorganization of debt 

Changing of the terms of repayment and (or) the conditions of crediting.   

Debt service coverage ratio 

Demonstrates the ability to pay the principle debt and interests. 

Degree of financial leverage (DOFL) 
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A possible increment of profitability of own funds, received owing to borrowed funds 
usage, despite of the pay character of the latter. 

Degree of operating leverage (DOL) 

Operating leverage effect 

Degree of production leverage 

An effect of operating leverage is the expression of the fact that any change in 
earnings from sales generates a change in profits. The effect of influence of operating 
leverage is calculated as a quotient from division of the earnings from sales (after 
compensation of variable costs) by the profits. 

Degree of financial leverage (degree of influence) 

A ratio between borrowed and own funds in the total volume of working capital. It 
reflects the degree of financial leverage influence.  

Degree of financial leverage 

The difference between the return on assets (ratio between the profits before payment 
of interests on credit and of profit tax to the amount of assets) and an average 
settlement interest rate on borrowed funds.     

Demand 

Market demand 

Public or personal needs for material benefits and services, for means of production 
and consumer goods, ensured with cash. Demand at the world markets is also 
conditioned by availability of currency resources in disposal of a country – importer, 
state and structure of mutual commodity turnover, trading and political conditions.  

Demand function 

A function which shows how the sales volume of a particular product varies depending 
on its price, given the same marketing efforts for promotion thereof at the market.  

Direct method of cash flow calculation 

The method of calculation of cash flow, based on an analysis of cash flow on credit 
and debit line-items or accounts.  

Direct expenses  

Direct costs 

The costs which may be directly attributed to the cost price of a certain kind of 
products, work, or services. The dependence of this line item of costs on the output is 
not always linear, since the growth of sales volumes may insure better prices on raw 
materials, thereby reducing material inputs per unit of products.         
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Discounting 

The determination of current cash equivalent which is expected to receive in the 
certain moment in the future.     

Discounting of future income 

The method which is used while regarding the alternative variants of investing.   It 
makes possible to estimate the target profit in accordance with the current value of 
cash assets. A discounting operation is an adjunction of an expected profit to its 
equivalent represented in current value. The amount of target profit is decreased by 
index which reflects current interest rate (for instance, deposit interest rate). The index 
which is applied in order to discount the target profit to its current value is called a 
discount factor.           

Dividend policy  

The company’s policy in the field of draft on funds. It is formed by the Board of Directors 
depending on the company’s targets and specifies which share of profits shall be paid 
to the shareholders as dividends and which share shall be retained and reinvested.     

E 

Equalization reserve fund 

The type of stable liabilities of the company, which is formed in current year for the 
purpose of proportional including of future expenses into manufacturing and turnover 
costs.  

Elastic demand 

The percentage of the demand change is higher that the percentage of price 
changing.  

Employments structure 

The ratio of quantity of employees included into different categories within the 
company (age structure, general staff, support personal etc.). The employments 
structure analysis allows concluding about influence of one or another category on 
labour gross performance and company’s work results.         

External resources  

Loans and credits 

The cash assets which are granted by the lender/bank to the company in the form of a 
loan/credit. They are provided for a certain period on a paid basis.  

A method of studying, consisting in the assumption of appropriateness of conclusions 
application made on the basis of monitoring  of one part of a phenomenon to another 

Extrapolation 
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part thereof. For example, the assumption of preservation in the future of the same 
tendencies in the economy, as in the past period. 

F 

Financial diagnostic 

The determination of most important parameters and ratios, on the basis of accounts, 
which provide an objective picture of the company’s financial state, in particular of its 
profits and losses, changes in the structure of assets and liabilities, settlements with 
debtors and creditors, liquidity, stability etc.   

Financial parameters 

Financial coefficients 

Financial indicators 

Financial ratios 

A set of parameters (ratios) used for examination the efficiency of company’s activity, 
and for measuring the risk degree of its operations. There are four groups of parameters 
ratios of profitability, turnover, liquidity and capital structure.     

Financial performance 

Financial results 

A financial expression of the economic result of company’s business activity, as a whole 
and of its units.    

Financial planning 

The administration of the formation process, distribution, redistribution and use of a 
company’s financial resources.  It is carried out through detailed financial plans.  

Financial reports/reporting 

A system of preparation and submission of financial reports according to certain 
standards.  

Financial stability (autonomy) index 

Margin of financial safety 

The share of net assets in a company’s aggregate assets. It demonstrates which part of 
a company’s assets is financed at the expense of own capital.     

Financial stability of a company 

The description of a risk level of a company’s activity from the point of view of balance 
or excess of income over costs.  

Fixed assets 



 
181 ANNUAL REPORT 2008 

Fixed funds 

Long-lived assets 

Long-term assets 

The assets with useful operation life more than one year which are used by the 
company in its production activity. The fixed assets include, for instance, buildings, 
structures, equipment and land.     

Fixed costs 

The costs which do not change in case of production volume fluctuations. For instance, 
the expenses on production facilities maintenance.   

Full cost 

An aggregate company’s accounting costs of manufacture and sales of products, 
expressed in terms of money.    

G 

Gross profit 

Earning before interests and taxes (EBIT)  

Profits before interests and taxes (PBIT) 

The value of total profits calculated as the spread between the proceeds from sales 
and the factory costs of products sold. 

I 

Indirect costs 

The costs which can not be directly attributed to the cost price of each certain product 
manufactured by the company, for instance, administrative and managerial personnel 
wages, electric power etc.    

Industries with high capital inventory 

Capital intensive industries 

Industries with a high share of fixed assets in the structure of assets. It requires an 
intensive investments at initial stages of production.  

Inelastic demand 

The demand volume do not change when the price changes.  

Inflation  

A mid-year increase in the general price level as a percentage.  

Inflation rate 
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Intangible assets 

Intangibles 

The assets which have no physical or tangible form, for instance, trademarks, licenses 
etc.   

Interests on deposit 

The yield from funds deposition in the credit institutions (banks, saving banks). As a rule, 
it is expressed in percents per annum.   

Interests on liabilities 

The interests which the company pays for using borrowed funds.  

Inventories 

The inventories include raw materials, materials, finished products and goods in stock.  

Investment project 

A certain action where cash assets are invested in with the purpose of obtaining profits 
and/or gaining capital. 

Investor 

The legal entity or an individual, who carries out direct and/or portfolio investments of 
own, borrowed or raised funds.   

J 

Joint debt to annual cash flow 

Demonstrates the time margin which is needed for debt cover, on condition that for the 
aim achievement the whole operational cash flow will be channeled.  

L 

Limitative external factors 

The factors, in the presence of which the increase of the sales volume is impossible 
without additional investments.   

Liquidity 

The easiness of realization, sale and turning material or other valuables in cash assets in 
order to cover current financial liabilities.     

An analysis of the possibility for an enterprise to cover all its financial liabilities. An 
analysis of the structure of assets, value, structure and proportions between an 
enterprise's fixed and current assets, and of the dynamics of their elements. In 

Liquidity analysis  
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particular, it shows:  

 

-  what is the value of current and fixed assets, and how their proportion changes;  

-  which line-items grow faster, and how it impacts on the balance sheet structure; 

-       which part of assets has been frozen for a certain period in the structure of 
inventories and accounts receivable. 

Liquidity level ratio 

The estimation of the borrower’s ability to cover his liabilities which is made by liquidity 
ratio calculation.   

Long-term assets 

Fixed assets 

Long-lived assets 

Fixed capital. Fixed assets. 

Long-term assets are the assets which operation life more than one year and which are 
used by the company for production activities. The fixed assets include, for instance, 
buildings, constructions, equipment and land.         

M 

Managerial decision 

Any decision made by the management and aimed at the achievement of 
company’s tactical and strategic targets.  

Market elasticity 

The dynamics of market reaction for the product supply (the product type, its price, 
complex of services etc.).    

Market position 

The company’s position at the market in comparison with its competitors.   

Market segmentation 

Customer segmentation 

Segmentation of buyers 

Segmentation of consumers 

Market segmentation 
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The process of entire market division into parts (segments of buyers), which possess 
similar characteristics or a similar level of needs, distinct from the characteristics and 
needs of other segments. For instance, the segmentation may be carried out 
depending on buyer’s income.    

Market sensitivity 

A concept, which quantitatively determines the market reaction to changes in prices 
for goods. Unlike the concept of demand elasticity, it also covers other market 
parameters, for instance, competitors’ reaction, etc. 

Market share 

The percentage share of product sale of certain company in total sales volume of 
identical products on the market.   

Marketable Securities 

High liquid securities (shares, bonds etc.), which are available for sell and purchase on 
the stock exchange.     

Marketing factors 

The state of market when the manufacture is forced to be active. 

Marketing research 

The data accumulation, the analysis of which makes possible to obtain information 
required for successful development, manufacture and delivery to buyer of goods and 
services which are of value for him.      

Marketing strategy 

One of the strategic elements of a company’s activity, aimed at elaboration, 
manufacture and delivery of goods and services to the buyer, which meets his needs to 
the highest degree. There are two principle strategies: buyer ‘attraction’ strategy and 
product ‘promotion’ strategy. In the first case, the creation of consumer demand for 
certain product or brand takes place (in the first instance by advertising); in the second 
case – the inspiration of retailer’s urge to sell stronger certain good or brand (essentially 
by special offers for the retailers).  

Maturity date for securities 

The moment of withdrawal of securities from circulation, with full payment of all 
obligations hereunder.   

Missed benefit 

Foregone benefit 

Lost profit 

Forfeit gains 
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An amount equal to the difference between income from the alternative variants of 
investments, discounted to a single period.  

N 

Net assets  

Net worth 

Owner’s equity 

The value of assets after deduction of all liabilities of a company from their amount.  

Net fixed assets 

Depreciated value 

A line-item of long-term assets in the balance sheet: difference between the initial cost 
of fixed assets and the amount of depreciation accrued.  

- long-term financial investments; 

Net Fixed + intangible + long term investments 

The assets which period of use is more than one year. They include: 

- intangible assets; 
- long-lived assets; 
- fixed assets; 
- other long-term assets.   
Net income  

Net profit 

Net earnings 

An excess of income over all costs and losses for a certain period. Net profits are used 
for payment of dividends to stockholders and for re-investing in production. 

Net loss 

An excess of all costs over all income during a reporting period.  

Net working capital 

Own current assets 

The difference between a company’s current assets and current liabilities.  

 

Non-cash form of payments 

The procedure of mutual obligations cover, which exclude the movement of cash 
assets within equal amounts of debts. The excessive liabilities of one of the partners 
could be covered either by cash, or by countertrade.  
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O 

Operating leverage 

Production leverage 

Operational leverage – quantitative assessment of the profit change depending on 
realization volume change. The ratio of the deposit for fixed costs coverage to the 
profit.    

Overall liquidity 

A company’s ability to pay in time short-term liabilities at the expense of all current 
assets available.     

Overall liquidity ratio 

The overall liquidity ratio is a ratio of current assets to short-term liabilities. This ratio 
makes possible to estimate quantitatively the company’s ability to cover short-term 
liabilities in time at the expense of current assets available. The normal value is 1.5 – 2.5 
depending on the industry.      

Own funds mobility ratio 

A ratio between a company’s own circulating funds and a company’s total amount of 
funds. 

P 

P&L statement structure 

It is the basis fro the estimation of the results of a company’s activity in a certain period 
by detailed breakdown of data on income and costs. It includes data on company’s 
total income in a period under consideration, costs connected with obtaining such 
income, and all periodic income and costs not connected with certain kinds of 
products. The difference between total income and costs is the net profit or loss for a 
period.   

Prepaid expenses 

The expenses incurred by the company in the reporting period, but should be 
pertained to the account in the products (services) cost price in the following months or 
years.      

Price in BEP 

The price fixed on an aggregate level of costs determined by a break-even point.  

Price elasticity of demand 

Direction and degree of changes in the volume of demand in the case of changes in 
prices.   
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Pricing 

Pricing fixing 

A process of choosing the final price, according to the cost price of products, 
competitors’ prices, demand/supply ratio, and other factors. There are the following 
basic approaches to pricing: 

•  based on closed tenders: by reference of tenderers’ expected price offers; 

•  based on an expected value: by reference of perception by consumer of the 
valuable importance of goods; 

•      based on the level of current prices: by reference of competitors’ current prices. 

Price policy 

An aggregate of ideas and provisions used by the company in the course of fixing 
prices for saleable products. While developing a pricing policy the production costs, 
competitor’s prices, market conjuncture, advertising costs and promotion of sales etc 
are taken into account.   

Profit and loss statement 

One of the three most important financial statements, which are prepared by the 
company for a certain period.   

Profitability 

Profitability of output  

Profitability of products 

The ratio of the profit from sales to the costs of manufacture and distribution thereof.  

Profitability 

Yield rate 

Is one of the main factors of the company’s operating efficiency which demonstrates 
the degree of return from expenses and the degree of funds usage.     

Q 

Quick ratio 

Acid test ratio 

Marginal liquidity ratio 

Interim coverage ratio 

A ratio between a company’s most liquid assets (cash assets and liquid securities) and 
accounts receivable to current liabilities. This ratio reflects a company’s payment 
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abilities for punctual and quick repayment of debts receivable. The bottom normal 
point of this factor is equal to one.  

R 

Rate of return 

Yield rate 

The profit amount (in percentages) which may be obtained owing to the investment 
project realization or other assets bringing income.    

Reinvestment 

The allocation of retained profits to finance the expansion of a company’s activity.    

Reinvested profit 

The retained profit of the company which is pointed, in accordance with the decision 
of stockholders meeting, at the expansion of the company’s activity and the reserves.       

Return on current assets (ROCA) 

It is calculated as a product of the sales margin by the turnover rate of current assets 
over a period.  

Return on net assets (RONA) 

A ratio between the profits obtained by the company over a period and the average 
level of own funds.  

Return on total assets (ROTA) 

A parameter which demonstrates the efficiency of all company’s property usage. It is 
calculated as a quotient from division of the net profits by the average annual amount 
of assets.  

Revaluation of fixed assets 

Re-assessment of fixed assets 

A change in the initial cost of fixed assets with intent to determine their replacement 
value in the current prices at the moment of revaluation.   

S 

Sales margin 

Sales profitability 

A ratio between the profits from sale of products (operating profits) and the sales 
volume in a period under consideration.  

Sales plan 
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Proceed from sales in a planned period which is expected based on needs, market 
peculiarities and company’s production abilities examination.   

 

Sales cost 

Selling expense 

Promotional expenses, expenses of representation, commission charges payable to 
commercial agents etc.   

Sales structure 

The ratio between different categories of products, work or services sold (in 
accordance with their position in the assortment forms of payment, reliability of future 
proceeds etc.) in total sales volume of products in a company.    

Security issuance 

Issue of stocks, bonds, other debt instruments into circulation, carried out by companies, 
credit institutions and other enterprises. 

Share capital  

Capital Stock  

Equity Capital 

Equity capital 

Net worth  

Funds received by a company from the owners (stockholders) thereof. Share capital 
includes: authorized capital, added capital, retained profits. 

Stockholders 

Shareholders 

Holders of shares 

An individuals or legal entities, who participate with their own funds in the capital of a 
company. They are the owners of a company (corporation). 

Strategic planning 

An administrative process of creation and maintenance of strategic conformity 
between company’s targets, its potential abilities and the market situation, as well as 
forecasting a company’s financial activity for a long period.   

Structure of liabilities 

A ratio between shares of different liabilities and own funds in the total amount of a 
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company’s liabilities.  

Supply and demand relation 

One of the characteristics of a market, which shows the ratio between the level of 
demand and the possibility of satisfaction thereof.   

T 

Target financing 

Financing of a certain objects and/or actions.  

Tax planning 

A wide range of measures and choice of the accounting method oriented to legal 
reduction of the company’s tax liabilities including: legislation monitoring, new 
procedural and institutional structure creation, fixed assets revaluation etc.  

Time series analysis 

Horizontal analysis 

The comparison of each parameter of financial statement with the parameters of 
preceding period for the purpose of destination and trend determination.  

Total cash flow 

The sum of cash flows from a company’s operating, investment and financial activities.  

Trend analysis 

The data gathering and processing for different time periods; comparison of each item 
of accounts with the previous periods parameters for the purpose of trend 
determination, i.e. the principle trend of the parameter’s dynamics without any 
accidental influences and individual peculiarities of certain periods.       

Turnover 

The parameter describes the speed of funds turnover or liabilities. The turnover for a 
certain kind of funds or liabilities may be calculated as a quotient from division of 365 
days by their turnover period.   

V 

Variable cost 

The costs which directly depend on the output – rise with its increase and drop with its 
decrease. For instance, raw materials and materials.  

Vertical balance sheet analysis 

Structural analysis 
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The determination of the structure of final financial parameters with identification of the 
each accounts item impact on the total result.    

Y 

Years debt 

Demonstrates the quantity of years during which the company is able to cover its debt 
without t discontinuation to pay dividends.  
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APPENDIX 
The aircraft fleet of IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC 
Tu-154 
Registration number: 85557 

 
Tu-154 
Registration number: 85550 

 
Tu-154 
Registration number: 85789 
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Tu-154 
Registration number: 85013 

 

Tu-154 
Registration number: 85016 

 

Tu-154 
Registration number: 85018 
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Tu-154 
Registration number: 85056 

 

Tu-154 
Registration number: 85069 

 

Tu-154 
Registration number: 85681 

 


	/MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT
	/MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL DIRECTOR
	THE AIRCRAFT MARKET OVERVIEW 2008
	Economic Environment. Key Trends
	Legal Environment. Key Trends
	Technical Overview. Key Trends
	Market Overview. Key Trends
	Needs of Domestic Airlines. Key Trends
	AVIALEASING COMPANY IN 2008
	Mission
	Positioning in the Sector
	Our Partners
	Operating activity
	2008 Projects
	Results of Company’s activity
	Financing and loans
	Company’s credit history
	Development Prospects
	Risk Management
	Company corporate structure
	Corporate activities
	Equity Capital
	Governance
	Information for Shareholders
	Staff. HR Policy. Corporate Ethics and Customs
	Subsidiaries and Rep Offices
	FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE COMPANY
	Consolidated Financial Statements of IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC Group
	Separate financial statements of IFC ‘Avialeasing’ CJSC
	Accounts prepared according to the Russian accounting standards
	GLOSSARY
	APPENDIX

